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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERHRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report of
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”, or
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “Year”) for your review.

Looking back at 2022, the global economy remained unstable
as global inflation intensified due to factors such as the conflict
between Russia and Ukraine, the undiminished impact from
COVID-19 pandemic and geopolitical tensions. However, against
the backdrop of the ongoing global economic slowdown, the
central government gradually lifted the lockdowns, leading to a
gradual recovery of economic activities in Mainland China. The
gradual and orderly reopening of the market also laid a sound
foundation for the prospects of economic recovery.

The real estate market in Mainland China continued to be under
downward pressure in recent years and the development of
the industry was impacted. In fact, as the overall real estate
development in China has not yet to pick up, the pace of
expansion of the property management industry in the country
also continued to slow down in 2022. Nevertheless, the industry
presented new features in terms of development scale, brand
building, city services and capital market last year. In the first
half of the year, against the market trend of decreasing market
sentiment of mergers and acquisitions, independent market
expansion has become the core competitiveness for long-term
development of enterprises. At the same time, this situation
has only been alleviated with the improvement of the country’s
control policy for real estate. The tightening of financing policies
in real estate market in the second half of last year accelerated
the debt crisis of related development enterprises and led to an
unprecedented high popularity in mergers and acquisitions.

B RR

rTARRKRES(EED)e(EES))
MAREXAKFARAB(ERA]
SERENBARRER])EH E2022F
2AMALEFEMUTERIAEFED ZF
BRE  WHESUKRERN -

O] fB2022F » X k& BT & & B &z -
2019 MR E R AR BREERE K&K
ARBERERARFE  BYERIKABRMNE -
R ERFETE - A EE2REE
RERENSST  PRBUTEERE -
HHAMEETHE LS EER - MBEF
METSTER TALEEHNASET
g o

MFANEMEMISFERE 1T 17
¥uRXIGE -FE L XEAEH
EERREREAOBENFE  2022F F
BEMEERTERBERRRENFTEN
BB AR TEEFERRBRE -
MEEX WHRE - BEAWMSEF@E
HEREFOEL - EXF EHFED
BREREATHSBET  BLmBHIH
WMEXRBLERBERNZLBFEN -
B BERRUEHEFITRROK
ETEAER BHEMSBMEBRRR
EFTHEFHEMKE  NRTHBFAE
TtENEBEE AhMBERHBERESE

Al =R e

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 F 3

5



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued])
ITRBS(#)

In the past year, the Group continued to flexibly adjust its
commercial leasing position in order to reduce the risk
of immediate rent termination in a challenging operating
environment, supporting tenants to tide over the period of
economic fluctuations, and maintained the Group’s brand image.
At the same time, the proposal of the “14th Five-Year” Plan has
accelerated the development of the industry and increased
the service coverage of the industry; pursuant to which, the
Group has been expanding its value-added services of various
categories and continued to uphold the Group’s philosophy
of achieving high-quality development through innovation and
breakthroughs to open up more opportunities for the property
management industry in China.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a
revenue of RMB52.3 million, a decrease of approximately 0.8%
over the same period last year, and the profit attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company amounted to RMB22.1
million, a decrease of approximately 32.4% over the same
period last year, mainly due to the drop in the valuation gains
on investment properties during the year. In order to reward
the shareholders for their support to the Company, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB1.90 cents
(equivalent to HK2.17 cents) per ordinary share for the financial
year ended 31 December 2022. The Company will continue to
strive to provide ideal dividend returns as a token of appreciation
to its shareholders for their support to the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank
balances of RMB214.9 million and a gearing ratio of 18.3%.The
Company’s healthy financial position and cash flow will strongly
support the investments required for the Company’s continued
development. Meanwhile, facing the opportunities and
challenges ahead, in addition to existing strong capital position,
the Group will adhere to the core concept of innovation and
effectiveness, focusing on the development of new momentum
in the industry and consolidate and enhance its foothold in
the property management industry by fully implementing the
concept of sustainable development, and promote China’s
property management to a brand-new horizon. In addition, the
Group will continue to flexibly adjust its commercial leasing
strategy, improve its overall risk management, and will strive
to maintain long-term and stable relationships with its existing
customer base, actively improve its service quality and strive
to expand into new businesses in order to enhance the future
development potential of the overall business.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® KK EBR AT

BE—F AKEERMIBOHEER
BT RTRENKGEHERR #8%
B EBEEER R BWHEPEXR
BB AR B B - 3 A R R G R TP
ReRE [tEAIREWELIMNRTIT
EUR RETERBEEX B K
SE-—ETEHBEARE NS ERGEE
TR A BB SRORCR R BT BB AT MR
BEHRSmEER RTEMEEIE?T
KAREZHE -

BH E2022F12A31B It FE REBE UK
ABBARBRIAE T BEXFRH
T 80.8% * AN R) #E z I% B FE G @ F =
EARBR2IEETL REFRP T
324%  FERRAFEREMENGHE
WHTHETH - AREIMBREH AR
AN EFETEAEREE2022F12
ABIHIEMPHRFERERBRETRK
LB A ARE1.900 (FHER21781) -
RAF G EE R HIRBEERIR SRR -
NEHASMABEHEARRATE -

MR2022F12A31H » AEENE© LIRTT
EHAEARE405ETL BABEL
R 518.3% ° ANA R B B 15 AR R K IR
CRESUENIIBRARELRAS
IEE o RRF - EERRAEBFMPKE -
BRTHRBESRWBIN NEBE R EE
FTEHEANROES  BEBETEN
B 2HERABFERRES  BE
WiRAAEBEMEERITENTISHAL -
WHTBEMEESEE LHFTAMR - It
o AEEBEETETAERREEEA
EXE NETERARERE UHBAH
REERERFERABRENBEER &
BRARBEER  BHERFTES - N
RABREBRRNEREEN -



CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT (Continued])
ITRBS(E)

Looking forward to 2023, although the business environment is
still full of adverse factors, real GDP growth and resilience were
stronger than expected in the third quarter of 2022 in many
economies. The inflation situation has also been improved, with
headline inflation indicators now declining in most countries.
With the improvement of global financial environment, economic
growth is expected to bottom out. Under the premise of the full
recovery of overall economic outlook, the property management
industry will also expand in scale in the future, while focusing
more on the improvement of service quality. In addition, the
Group will also focus on refined development and continue to
strengthen its standardised service capabilities to enhance its
competitiveness in the market and sublimate the Group’s brand
value.

On behalf of the Board of the Group, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff of
the Group for their whole-hearted and dedicated contribution
in the past year. Meanwhile, the Group would also like to
express its sincere gratitude to its shareholders, customers and
business partners for their full support. In the future, the Group
will continue to promote the high-standard development of the
property management industry, explore new road for modern
property services and actively contribute its own strengths to
the property management industry in China, thereby continuing
to drive the sustainable development of its business and create
more value to repay shareholders for their appreciation to the
Group.

Chairman of the Board
LIU Jia

28 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBYmR DI

FINANCIAL RESULT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
revenue and profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB52.3 million (2021:
approximately RMB52.7 million) and approximately RMB22.1
million (2021: approximately RMB32.7 million), respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
leasing, the provision of property management services and the
sale of properties held for sale.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December
2022 amounted to approximately RMB52.3 million (2021:
approximately RMB52.7 million), which represented a
decrease of approximately 0.8% as compared to last year,
mainly impacted by the reduction in revenue from property
management service. Profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB22.1 million (2021: approximately RMB32.7
million), which represented a decline of approximately 32.4% as
compared to last year. The decrease in profit is mainly due to
the decline in valuation gains on investment properties during
the year. The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately RMB0.05 (2021: RMBO0.07).
The review of the individual business segment of the Group is
set out below.

PROPERTY LEASING

The rental income from the Group’s property leasing business
was approximately RMB38.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB37.3 million). The slight rise in
the average rent per square meters (“sgq.m.”) resulted in the
increase in total rental income. The Group’s leasing properties
are located in Chengdu, Sichuan province and Kunming, Yunnan
province in the PRC. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s
property portfolio comprises three commercial buildings, namely
Everbright Financial Center, part of Everbright International
Mansion and Ming Chang Building, with a total gross floor area
(“GFA”) of approximately 89,507 (2021: 89,507) sqg.m.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESmRD I (K)

PROPERTY LEASING PORTFOLIO WEHAEHESE
Average occupancy rate Rental income for the year
As at 31 December 2022  Average occupancy rate (Commercial use)t" ended 31 December
THRAR BENAMBLEEY
R2022512A318 THRAE (BERZ)O kL ON
Commercial
GFA owned  use GFA® 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
fikEs BERR
aEg aEg
L R0 2022% 1% 2022F 2021% 2022f ks
RMB RUB
sgm)  fsam) % % % % (millon)  milon)
ARE NEH
(Frr)  (Frn) % % % % (BEx) (BET)
Commercial Properties ~ HEM%
Fverbright Financial Center? % K& @H L2 34,335 31,153 63% 78% 0% 81% 18.9 204
No. 9 Wenwu Road, BBTEEEX
Qingyang District, Chengdu~~ E 9%
Everbright International N YN -C
Mansion® 38,199 28,906 68% 64% 90% 85% 9.8 8.3
No. 2 Caoshi Strest, BTEEEE
Qingyang District, Chengdu T 425
Ming Cheng Building? EV 16,973 16973 9% 9% 96% 9% 9.6 86
No. 28 Renmin Road Centra, EBFLER
Wuhua District, Kunming ARHREB85H
89,507 77,031 38.3 373
Notes: B 5 -
M Excluding warehouses and parking spaces which cannot be used as MBRATARBAE BETHEIEEN
offices, commercial spaces or residence. BEREFETER -

@ Al the properties are located in the PRC and held under medium-term @  FFEMEHMN N FE @ RHHHEERFH -
lease.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEES R RO (E)
Average occupancy rate (Commercial use)
FHERE(FMRAE)
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. \
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—o— Everbright Financial Center —o— Ming Chang Building Everbright International Mansion
FHRERA HEKXE HREREARE
RMB (million) H
R (B ) Total Rental income
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Everbright Financial Center . Ming Chang Building . Everbright International Mansion . Dufu Garden®
HREEA HEKRE bNEL PN HETEEO
Note: B 5
M The properties were disposed during the year ended 31 December O ZMECDRE E2020F12A31B IEEEH
2020. & o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (K)

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICE

The Group provided property management services for its
properties, namely, Everbright Financial Center and Everbright
International Mansion. Revenue from the Group’s property
management services was approximately RMB14.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB15.4 million). The
decrease in revenue from property management services was
resulted from the decrease in occupancy rate during the year.
The total GFA under the Group’s management dropped 8.6%
to approximately 59,413 sg.m. as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
65,037 sg.m.).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties mainly consist of land and/
or buildings which are owned or held under leasehold interest
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. As at 31
December 2022, the fair value of the investment properties was
RMB954.1 million (2021: RMB953.7 million). The valuation gains
on investment properties for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to approximately RMBO0.1 million (2021: approximately
RMB17.5 million), representing a decrease of approximately
RMB17.4 million as compared to last year. The decrease
indicated the property market in the PRC was affected by
COVID-19 near the end of the reporting period.

W) % B 1 IR 1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESwmRD I (§)

PROSPECTS

The year 2022 was still a difficult year for the global economy,
which has been hit by multiple and complex factors. Multiple
risk factors such as the Russia-Ukraine war crisis, global
high inflation and the spread of new variants of COVID-19
have seriously exacerbated the pace of recovery of world
economy. Under the influence of macroeconomy and real estate
development, coupled with the disruption from the pandemic
and sluggish consumption, the scale of property management
has still achieved steady expansion. Recently, positive signals
have been continuously released in respect of policies, and
relevant state authorities have successively issued a number of
policy documents to continue to promote the development of
the industry.

The report of the 20th Party Congress proposed the
implementation of the national strategy to actively respond to
the aging population and the development of the elderly care
business and the elderly care industry. The Ministry of Housing
and Urban-Rural Development clearly pointed out that it will
introduce technologies such as the Internet of Things, cloud
computing, big data, block chain and artificial intelligence
to build a smart property management service platform and
promote the integrated development of online and offline
services. With the popularization of technologies such as the
Internet of Things and big data, the penetration rate of hardware
facilities such as smart gateway, smart access control and
smart parking lots has increased within the community, and
the property management industry is expected to achieve
technology empowerment, reduce labour costs and improve
long-term competitiveness. Intelligent community management
is in line with the people’s growing demand for better lifestyle
services and the progress driven by technological advances.
The wave of the Internet of Everything continues to forge ahead,
and coupled with the catalysis of policies, the demand for
smart properties is expected to be further released, which will
provide important development opportunities for the property
management industry.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® KK EBR AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (K)

In addition, the Outline of the “14th Five-Year” Plan and Long-
Range Objectives through the Year 2035 ({[+ M T | R &/ 41 &
F2035F i = BIZ4 Z)) issued by the central government has
mentioned the property management industry for several times,
and regards the service industry, including property, as an
important direction to accelerate the quality development of the
lifestyle service industry, which further promotes the integration
of property into community governance. Housekeeping service
is an important part of value-added services for property.
With the enhancement of residents’ awareness of service
consumption and the gradual release of demand for a better
community life, the property is expected to further tap into the
large blue ocean market of community service consumption.

Under the influence of uncertainties, the Group’s property
leasing business was inevitably impacted, which resulted in
a downward pressure on rental income from the properties.
However, the Group has already started its deployment in
2021 and has acquired new tenants since this year. Benefiting
from the synergy created from the China Everbright Group
and the popularity of the “Everbright” brand, the Group is able
to maintain a friendly long-term cooperation that is mutually
beneficial and creates a win-win situation which contributes to
the stable growth of its leasing business.

The decline in the completions of new property projects in
mainland China and the increase in the average building age of
projects under management that is common among property
service companies have stimulated a gradual shift from the
previous focus on aggressive expansion in scale to quality
growth. The Group believes that the future trend of the industry
will focus on enhancing service quality, building the profitability
of each of its properties under management and enhancing
brand value in order to achieve the operation objective of growth
in scale.

In fact, the property management industry in mainland China
is still in its formative years, and on one hand, the Group’s
professional property management team continued to provide
high-quality property management services for its projects
to enhance the value of properties, and continued to actively
identify properties with investment potential on the other hand,
and it also continued to develop new value-added service
business to broaden its service boundary and business scope.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESwmRD I (§)

For the plan to acquire new assets overseas, the Group
will continue to prudently and closely review the market
environment and the potential investment returns of various
types of properties in order to formulate appropriate business
development strategies, and will also determine the pace of
acquisition of new assets in overseas markets in light of factors
such as changes in market and macro environment factors,
currency exchange rates and interest rate movements. In
respect of the business expansion strategies in mainland China,
the Group will continue to identify opportunities with good
return potential in mainland China on one hand, and will seek
for synergy with its parent company, China Everbright Group, to
achieve more efficient allocation of resources on the other hand.

Looking forward to 2023, there are still many uncertainties in
global economy and business environment for enterprises.
However, as all regions of China are gradually emerging from
the shadow of the COVID-19 pandemic, the central government
is also gradually relaxing its regulation on the property industry
in an orderly manner and is actively promoting the improvement
of operating cash flows of developers, resulting in signs of
recovery in property sales in mainland China. At the same
time, the state has launched a series of encouraging policies
to support and promote the development of the property
management industry, which resulted in a significant emphasis
on the role of the industry in the country’s development. The
Group remains cautiously optimistic about the development of
the property management industry in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (K)
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES RBEESRHBEER

The total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2022
was approximately RMB965.3 million (2021: approximately
RMB940.7 million). As at 31 December 2022, the Group
maintained cash and bank balances of approximately RMB214.9
million (2021: approximately RMB203.8 million). The Group’s
net current assets was approximately RMB200.3 million as at
31 December 2022 (2021: approximately RMB173.0 million).
The Group had current assets of approximately RMB222.9
million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately RMB207.7
million). The increase in current assets was mainly due to the
rise in trade and other receivables and prepayments during
the year. The Group had current liabilities of RMB22.6 million
(2021: approximately RMB34.7 million). The decrease in current
liabilities was mainly due to the repayment of a bank loan during
the year.

The working capital and long-term funding required by the
Group are primarily derived from income generated from core
business operations. The Group fully repaid the bank loan
of RMB7.0 million during the year. As at 31 December 2021,
the bank loan of RMB7.0 million was secured by the Group’s
investment properties. The Group’s gearing ratio, being
measured by the Group’s total liabilities over its total assets,
was 18.3% (2021: 19.4%) as at 31 December 2022. The Group’s
liquidity position was well-managed in this year. To manage the
liquidity risk, an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents
that the Group considers sufficient to finance its operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flow has been
maintained.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no charged assets.

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding bank loan of RMB7.0
million was secured by Everbright International Mansion with
an aggregate GFA of approximately 38,082 sg.m. and the fair
value of the said pledged assets amounted to approximately
RMB366.5 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESwmRD I (§)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Group’s transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in RMB. The management of the
Group is of the opinion that the Group has not experienced any
material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a
result of the fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. Therefore, the Group
did not engage in any hedging activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no contingent liability
(2021: Nil).

INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF MAJOR CUSTOMERS &
SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s revenue (excluding interest
and dividend incomes) for the year ended 31 December 2022
attributable to the major customers of the Group were as
follows:

Percentage of total
revenue of the Group

17.7%
53.3%

The largest customer
Five largest customers in aggregate

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors
or any of their associates or any shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the major
customers noted above. Due to the nature of the business of
the Group, the Group does not have any major suppliers.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
There was no material change in the capital structure of the

Company during the year, and the Company’s capital included
ordinary shares and other reserves.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (K)

PLANS FOR MATERIAL CAPITAL INVESTMENTS

The Group plans to invest in capacity expansion and pursue
suitable investment projects to capitalise the potential growth
of the Group’s business in the coming years in the manner set
out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 December 2017
(“Prospectus”). Such source of funding would be primarily
from the external resources.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

There was no significant investment held, nor was there any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries during the
reporting period.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there was no

important event affecting the Group which occurred after the
reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESwmRD I (§)

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The net proceeds raised from the global offering on 16
January 2018 (the “Listing Date”), after deducting relevant
listing expenses, was approximately RMB116.1 million (“Net
Proceeds”). Up to 31 December 2022, the Group had used
approximately RMB14.8 million (2021: RMB13.0 million) of the
Net Proceeds for the purposes as set out in the section head
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

LR EREFEAR

R2018F1A16H (£ B H)) 2k B & Bk
BEMMMSRIEFEGEHNBRAR LM
TINBAREIIEE t(FBRER
) o AE2022F12A8318 - AEE D F)
BAEREFENARE14.88 87t (2021
FARBIBOBE L) AERRERIR
REtEI RS RIERZ | —SFEMAL -

Utilised Unutilised Net
Amount during the Amount Proceeds
utilisedupto  year ended utilised up to asat Expected timeline for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December utilising the remaining Net
Net Proceeds 2021 2022 2022 2022 Proceeds®
20225

EZ2021F  BZ2022F  EZ2022F  12R31BK BAKTHE
%  12B31RH 128318 12R31AM  RBAKE FEFENRS
REFE CBAEE  LFEBR CEBALHE REFE BERY
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ANEETT  ARRTT  ARETT  ARETIT  ARETZX

Acquisition of properties in 92,904 3,162 -
the major cities of the
United Kingdom (UK))

WREEFEH M
S

Upgrade in building 11,613 5,746 1,737
facilities and/
or renovating the
properties of the Group
FREERER /%
BHARENNE

Working capital and 11,613 4,140 -
general corporate

purposes
BEAER-MEERE

3,162 89,742  Expected to be fully utilised on or

before 31 December 2024

BEHBR04E12 /3185 2 Bl %
e

7,483 4,130  Expected to be fully utilised on or

before 31 December 2024

BEHBR04E12 /318 2 fi %
#EHA

4,140 7,473 N/A

ast 116,130 13,048 1,737

14,785 101,345
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (K)

Note: The expected timeline for fully utilising the unutilised Net Proceeds
is based on the best estimations of the future market conditions
made by the Group and is subject to change based on the current

and future development of the market conditions.

As at 31 December 2022, the unutilised Net Proceeds was
approximately RMB101.3 million (2021: RMB103.1 million).

As the COVID-19 pandemic gradually subsides in the second
half of 2022, the travel and quarantine restrictions were
gradually lifted near the end of 2022. The Group has resumed
site visits and will continue market research and liaising with
property agents in order to acquire property in London that
fit the Group’s selection criteria and development strategy.
Taking into account that the U.K. economy is expected to enter
into recession in 2023, the time required to identify potential
targets which fit the property selection criteria and development
strategy of the Group and the time required to complete such
acquisition, it is expected that the remaining amount of the
unutilised Net Proceeds allocated for acquisition of properties in
major cities of the U.K. will be fully utilised by the end of 2024.

Similarly following the gradual recovery from the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group expects to see a business recovery and
improvements and upgrades will gradually be made to the
properties on necessary basis to allow the Group to improve the
properties’ occupancy rates and further increase their average
rent. Considering our development strategies and the time
required to undergo upgrades and renovation, it is expected that
the remaining amount of the unutilised Net Proceeds allocated
for upgrading building facilities and/or renovating the properties
of the Group will be fully utilised by the end of 2024.

Going forward in 2023, the Directors will closely monitor the
current and future market development to evaluate its business
objectives and to apply the unutilised Net Proceeds according
to the changing market condition to create greater value for the
Shareholders.

The unutilised Net Proceeds will be applied according to the
purposes set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. The Directors considered that it
would be in the best interest of the Group to deposit such funds
temporarily in the bank accounts to earn interest income and
are not aware of any material change to the proposed use of the
proceeds as at the date of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESwmRD I (§)

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 137
employees (2021: 141 employees) and appointed 8 Directors.
Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of the Group
were approximately RMB16.0 million (2021: RMB15.8 million).
The Group reviews the remuneration policies and packages on
a regular basis and makes necessary adjustment commensurate
with the remuneration level in the industry. In addition to a
basic monthly salary, discretionary bonuses are offered to staff
with outstanding performance. The Group also provides other
benefits such as medical insurance and retirement benefits

scheme. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESRENEEBER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Jia

Aged 58, is an executive Director, chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer, the chairman of the investment
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Liu joined the Group in November 1991
and is acting as the director and chairman of two Company’s
subsidiaries, namely Growing China Limited and Metallic Field
Limited. He is also the director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company, including Square Field Limited, First Step Corporation
Limited and Everbright Grand China Assets Management
Limited. Mr. Liu is currently a director of China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited (“CE Hong Kong”).

Mr. Liu joined Capital Century Company Limited (“Capital
Century”) in 1988. He served as the director and deputy
general manager of Capital Century in 1991, mainly responsible
for the day-to-day operations and property investment and
management of investment projects. Since Capital Century is a
subsidiary of CE Hong Kong, Mr. Liu acted as its deputy general
manager in the real estate department during the period from
August 1997 to March 2000, mainly responsible for the
investment and business operations of real estate. At the end of
1998, Mr. Liu served as the director and general manager of
China Everbright Financial Assets Management (HK) Limited
(“China EB Financial Assets”), responsible for receiving and
disposing of overseas investment assets entrusted by domestic
financial management departments. China EB Financial Assets
is the initial company of Huida Asset Management Ltd. Co.* (JE
EEETLEAREMLAT). In 2000, Mr. Liu was appointed as
the assistant president in the head office of China Everbright
Bank Company Limited (“CE Bank”) and was responsible for
related work matters. He was promoted as the general manager
of Capital Century in 2004, upon which he became responsible
for the overall operational management and strategic
development. Since August 2014, Mr. Liu has been appointed
and served as an executive director and deputy general
manager of CE Hong Kong, as well as the chairman of Capital
Century (the parent company of the Company).

*for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBER(8)

Mr. Liu graduated from the Civil Engineering Department
of Nanjing Jinling Institute of Technology (formerly known
as Jinling Polytechnic University), majoring in industrial and
civil architecture in July 1986, and obtained a postgraduate
certificate of architecture, economics and management in
Southeast University (3 AZ) in August 1992. Since July
2016, he has become a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors and was hired as an off-campus master’s Supervisor
in the School of International Business of Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in September 2022 for a
period of one year.

Mr. MA Heming

Aged 54, is an executive Director, a member of the nomination
committee and investment committee of the Company. Mr. Ma
joined the Group in April 2021, currently also acts as the director
of several major subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Ma is experienced in real estate, international trade and
public relations. From August 1990 to February 1992, Mr. Ma
worked at Beijing First Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. (dt
RME-FLITREAR DA From March 1992 to September
1999, Mr. Ma worked at China Far East International Trading
Corporation* (FEEREBREE 5 8 Q7). From October 1999
to January 2006, Mr. Ma worked at China Public Relations
Association (FEIAH£EE W E) (the “Association”). Mr. Ma
was appointed as the deputy director of the Association in
February 2002. From April 2011 to August 2014, Mr. Ma was
appointed as the director of the Association. From February
2006 to March 2011, Mr. Ma worked at Liaison Office of
the Central People’s Government in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (& A R BT & & 7% £ 5l 17 B & B 48
PN E) (the “Liaison Office”). Mr. Ma was appointed as a
director of the Liaison Office in May 2009. Mr. Ma has served
as the deputy secretary general of Mainland, Hong Kong and
Macao Trade Promotion Association* (/B /b £2 7 8 & 5 2
AT #E ) since September 2014. Mr. Ma was also appointed
as a director of Capital Century, a controlling shareholder of the
Company, in April 2021.

Mr. Ma received a certificate in Economics and Management
from Beijing Youth Politics College* (At R & FBUAZF) in
July 1990 and a post-graduate certificate in Economics and
Management from National Academy of Governance* (B &R 17 I
B2 %) in July 2000.

*for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESREREEBER(8)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. WANG Yun

Aged 54, is a non-executive Director of the Company, and
joined the Group in August 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wang worked at the National
Planning Commission of the PRC* (F#E A R £ FIBEI B K51 &1 &
8 @) (currently known as the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC (FEARKNMBIERERMNNELZES))
from September 1991 to April 1992. From April 1992 to
February 1993, Ms. Wang worked as the finance manager at
Beijing Fulanka Digital System Co., Ltd* (It REBEEHF X4
B[R A 7F]). From February 1993 to May 1998, Ms. Wang worked
as the finance supervisor at China Everbright International
Economic and Technical Cooperation Corporation* (74 B ¢ X B
B4 E F T & A A]). From May 1998 to October 1999, Ms.
Wang worked as the financial manager at China Everbright
(South Africa) Company (Proprietary) Limited * (9 B 3¢ A (5 3F)
= i B R & £ 2 &) (“Everbright South Africa’) and
Everbright International Engineering (Proprietary) Limited (3¢X
BX T2 A BR 2 7)) (‘Everbright International Engineering”).
From October 1999 to September 2007, Ms. Wang worked as
the chief financial officer of Everbright South Africa and
Everbright International Engineering. From September 2007 to
October 2012, Ms. Wang worked as the senior manager of
insurance and non-financial audit division of the audit
department at China Everbright (Group) Limited * (7P Bl ¢ K (%
)42 7)) (currently known as China Everbright Group). From
October 2012 to April 2014, Ms. Wang was appointed as the
division chief of banking division of the audit department at the
China Everbright Group. From April 2014 to June 2016, Ms.
Wang worked as the division chief of insurance and
non-financial audit division and the senior deputy manager of
audit department at China Everbright Group. From April 2016 to
November 2017, Ms. Wang worked as the deputy general
manager of the audit department at China Everbright Group.
Ms. Wang has been the general manager of the financial
management department and a director at CE Hong Kong, a
controlling shareholder of the Company since November 2017.
Ms. Wang has been a director of Capital Century, a controlling
shareholder of the Company since August 2021.

*for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBER(8)

Ms. Wang has been the chairman of the Financial & Accounting
Affairs Steering Committee of the Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association (& & B> 1%€) since December
2019.

Ms. Wang received a bachelor’s degree of economics,
accounting department from Central University of Finance
and Economics (R BF 4 K&2) in June 1991 and a Master of
Business Administration from De Montfort University in March
2006. Ms. Wang is a non-practicing member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. ZHUANG Minrong

Aged 49, is a non-executive Director of the Company, and
joined the Group in August 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhuang worked as an operation
manager at Fujian Huagiao Trust Investment Company* ({8 & &
FEF(Z £ E A7) from September 1996 to March 2001. From
March 2001 to August 2007, Mr. Zhuang worked as a corporate
account manager at China Everbright Bank Fuzhou Branch (#
Bl ¢ KSR 1718 M 9 77) (the “Bank”). Mr. Zhuang worked as the
general manager’s assistant of the 1st business department
from August 2007 to February 2009 and the general manager of
the 5th business department and department of small and
medium-sized enterprises at the Bank from February 2009 to
December 2014. From December 2014 to April 2021, Mr.
Zhuang worked as the general manager of the risk management
department and credit approval department at the Bank. He has
been the assistant general manager of the risk management,
internal control and compliance department at CE Hong Kong,
a controlling shareholder of the Company, since May 2021. Mr.
Zhuang has been a director of Capital Century, a controlling
shareholder of the Company, since August 2021.

Mr. Zhuang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics* (/7 Bf 4% K &)

(now known as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (/F
g B AS B R E2) in July 1996.

*for identification purpose only
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ESREREEBER(8)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. TSOI David

Aged 75, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the audit committee as well as a member of the
investment committee of the Company.

Mr. Tsoi joined the Group in December 2017. Since 1 October
2022, he has been a Senior Consultant of Patrick Wong C.P.A.
Limited, and serves as the Director of Alliott Tsoi CPA Limited
since January 2006. He has been a certified public accountant
since September 1981 with over 30 years of experience in
accounting, auditing and financial management. He is also
qualified as and has been:

(@) a certified public accountant registered at the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘“HKICPA");

(b) a certified tax advisor registered at the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong;

() a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since September 1981;

(d) a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales since May 2015;

() a member of the Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors since April 1987 and a fellow since December
2015;

(f)  afellow of the CPA Australia since November 2009; and

(90 a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia, Canada since June 2015.
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ESREREEBER(8)

He has also been the independent non-executive director of the
following listed companies, all of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”):

(@)

Loto Interactive Limited (formerly known as Melcolot
Limited) (stock code: 8198) from October 2001 to July
2017;

Enviro Energy International Holdings Ltd (stock code: 1102)
from July 2008 to June 2017;

Universal Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1026)
since June 2013;

Guru Online (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8121) since
May 2014;

VPower Group International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1608) since October 2016;

Anxin-China Holdings Limited (stock code: 1149) from
February 2017 to May 2017;

Green International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2700)
since June 2017;

Tianli Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 0117) since
August 2017; and

InvesTech Holdings Limited (stock code: 1087) since May
2021.

Mr. Tsoi obtained a master degree of business administration in
the University of East Asia, Macau in October 1986.
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ESREREEBER(8)

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham (formerly Razack Ebrahim
Abdul and Abraham Razack)

Aged 77, is an independent non-executive Director and also
the chairman of the nomination committee and a member
of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Shek joined the
Group in December 2017, he obtained a bachelor’'s degree of
arts and a diploma in education in the University of Sydney
in May 1969 and March 1970, respectively. He became the
honorary fellow of Lingnan University, the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology, the University of Hong Kong and
the Education University of Hong Kong in November 2008,
June 2014, September 2016 and March 2018, respectively. In
addition to his achievements in the academic field, Mr. Shek has
also earned certain honorary titles in various ambits. He was
appointed as Justice of the Peace in July 1995 and awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star and Gold Bauhinia Star in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region 2007 and 2013 Honours
Lists, respectively. He has been appointed as the Honorary
Member of the Court of The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology since August 2020. Mr. Shek is currently the
member of the Court and the Council of The University of Hong
Kong and a Court member of City University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Shek currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of the following listed companies and collective
investment schemes, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange: (a) Paliburg Holdings Limited (stock code: 0617)
since July 2002; (b) Chuang’s Consortium International Limited
(stock code: 0367) since May 2004; (c) NWS Holdings Limited
(stock code: 0659) since September 2004; (d) Country Garden
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007) since March
2007; (e) Chuang’s China Investments Limited (stock code:
0298) since April 2008; (f) ITC Properties Group Limited (stock
code: 0199) since September 2010; (g) China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313) since January
2011; (h) Lai Fung Holdings Limited (stock code: 1125) since
December 2012; (i) Cosmopolitan International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0120) since December 2013; (j) Regal
Portfolio Management Limited, the manager of Regal Real
Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 1881) since November
2006; (k) Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, the manager
of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 2778)
since May 2006; () CSI Properties Limited (stock code: 0497)
since July 2018; (m) Far East Consortium International Limited
(stock code: 0035) since June 2019; (n) Shin Hwa World Limited
(stock code: 0582) since August 2020; (o) Hao Tian International
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Construction Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1341) since
October 2020; and (p) Alliance International Education Leasing
Holdings Limited (formerly known as International Alliance
Financial Leasing Co. Ltd) (stock code: 1563) since July 2021.

Besides, Mr. Shek currently serves as the chairman and
executive director of Goldin Financial Holdings Limited (stock
code: 0530) since March 2021. Announcements were published
by Goldin Financial Holdings Limited on (i) 11 October 2020
that Goldin Financial Holdings Limited received a winding up
petition dated 7 August 2020 filed by a company against Goldin
Financial Holdings Limited with the Supreme Court of Bermuda
and (i) on 31 March 2022 that the trading in the shares of
Goldin Financial Holdings Limited has been suspended with
effect from 1 April 2022.

He previously served as an independent non-executive director
of the following listed companies, all of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange: (a) PT International Development Corporation
Limited (formerly known as ITC Corporation Limited) (stock
code: 0372) from June 2006 to March 2017; (b) Dorsett
Hospitality International Limited (previous stock code: 2266)
(withdrawn from listing on the Stock Exchange in October 2015)
from September 2010 to March 2016; (c) TUS International
Limited (stock code: 0872) from June 2015 to January 2017; (d)
Magnus Concordia Group Limited (formerly known as Midas
International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1172) from August
2001 to January 2018; (e) MTR Corporation Limited (stock code:
0066) from December 2007 to May 2019; (f) Hop Hing Group
Holdings Limited (previous stock code: 0047) (withdrawn from
listing on the Stock Exchange in January 2022) from April 2008
to June 2020; (g) Goldin Financial Holdings Limited (stock code:
0530) from January 2017 to March 2021; (h) SUM Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0880) from October 2007 to May 2021
and (i) Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1212) from March 2004 to December 2022, the company was
withdrawn from listing on 20 December 2022.

Mr. Shek had been a non-executive director and a member of
the audit committee of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited, a public company incorporated in Hong Kong, from
December 2004 to April 2016.
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Mr. LEE Jor Hung

Aged 68, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee, audit committee as well as investment
committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee joined the Group in December 2017. He is currently
the chairman of DL Brokerage Limited, in which he has been
licensed as the dealing director and responsible officer by
the Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) since August
1993 and October 2003, respectively, under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) to carry on type 1 (i.e. dealing
in securities) and type 4 (i.e. advising on securities) regulated
activities. He has also served as the director and the permanent
honorary president of Hong Kong Securities Association Limited
since August 1991 and September 1999, respectively.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lee had served as a
non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (stock code: 0388), CIG Yangtze Ports PLC (previous
stock code: 8233) (listing of the shares transferred from the
GEM to the Main Board in January 2018) and Sinofortune
Financial Holdings Limited (formerly known as Stockmartnet
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8123), all of which being
listed on the Stock Exchange, from April 2000 to April 2006,
September 2005 to November 2011, and May 2000 to May
2005, respectively. He had also served as a director of Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute from December 2003
to December 2008, and become a fellow member and senior
fellow since November 2012 and September 2014, respectively.

Mr. Lee had served as a member of the advisory committee and
a member of the process review panel to the SFC, from June
1999 to May 2001 and from November 2006 to October 2012,
respectively. In addition, he had also served as a member of
Disciplinary Panel A and Investigation Panel A of the HKICPA,
from February 2005 to January 2011 and from February 2011 to
January 2015, respectively. He had also been a member of the
Barrister Disciplinary Tribunal Panel from September 2005 to
August 2015.
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Mr. Lee obtained a bachelor degree of commerce in the
University of Alberta, Canada in May 1977 and a master degree
of business administration in the University of East Asia, Macau
in October 1986. He was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 2000 Honors List.

Mr. WANG Cheung Yue

Aged 79, is an independent non-executive Director, as well
as a member of the remuneration committee and investment
committee of the Company.

Mr. Wang joined the Group in August 2022, and has been the
chairman and director of Salon Films (Hong Kong) Limited since
its incorporation in 1969. Since 2017, Mr. Wang has been an
independent non-executive director of Hailiang International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2336). Mr. Wang is a director of
The Hong Kong International Film Festival Society Limited, a
member of the Hong Kong Advisory Board of British Academy
of Film and Television Arts, an honorary consultant to the
Academy of Film of Hong Kong Baptist University, a member
of advisory committee of School of Film and Television of The
Hong Kong Academy for Performing Arts, the co-founder of
Asia Content Business Summit, a director of Asian Film Awards
Academy Limited, a director of Salon Media Lab Limited and
a director of Education Innovation Research Institute in the
Greater Bay Area Limited. Mr. Wang has also been appointed as
an advisor for the Project of Moral Community of the Kingdom
of Thailand Ministry of Culture. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor
of Arts degree in business administration from Whittier College,
California in 1972.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® KK EBR AT

197758 - R EEEINE KX 1H
BEREFHEES B I HN1986F10A
IS RFARGAEBTIREIBEE LT8R
R2000F BB K EF - HEBRBBR
AITRBIANEFAEE -

IRBELE

795% c BMIFAITEE  MAARRF
MEEakhEZEGKE -

E A R2022F8AMARERE - I B
EBDEEF AR QA H19694F 37 A LA
RETEETFERESE o T LA B2017F
RAESSBEBRZERERAR(BRMDARE:
2336) 2 BYEHITES - T REAREBE
BREFYHMEERARIZES  HEH
EYEGRBENERESEMEEEKE -
EBRERBETERLEREM B8
RBEERBEYERSRBERNEZEEKE -
DHARNREXESHRAHA BNE
FABERERAGESE  DEXLE
EMRAMERRBEEURKERHE
BT ERERARES - T RETE
ZEAFR XL EELRBEERER -
TREMFRESMMNEZTBHER T
EEIEE L -



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESREREEBER(8)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. LIU Jia

Mr. Liu is the chairman of the Board, an executive Director,
also the chief executive officer, the chairman of the investment
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Board. For details of his qualifications, see “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management”.

Mr. MA Heming

Mr. Ma is an executive Director, the general manager and a
member of the nomination committee and investment committee
of the Board. For details of his qualifications, see “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management”.

Mr. LEE Wai Kwong

Mr. Lee is an assistant general manager of the Company. Mr.
Lee joined Capital Century in December 2007 and has been
responsible for the financial management in the group of Capital
Century since then. He currently serves as the director in
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He had also served as a
Director from November 2010 to June 2017. Mr. Lee obtained
a bachelor degree in business (major in accounting) in Edith
Cowan University in Perth, Australia in 2000. Mr. Lee has been a
certified public accountant of CPA Australia since October 2013.
He is responsible for the financial management and project
investment of the Company.

Ms. TANG Yuk Ha

Ms. Tang is the company secretary of the Company, she
joined the Group in May 2018. She is an associate member
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in United Kingdom.
She has over 15 years of experience in the fields of company
secretarial and compliance. Ms. Tang obtained a Bachelor of
Arts in Accountancy in The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
the change of Directors’ information of the Company since the

date of 2022 interim report are as follows:

Mr. Ma Heming appointed as the General Manager of the
Company with effect from 6 October 2022.

Mr. Shek Lai Him  resigned as an independent non-executive
Abraham director of Lifestyle International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1212) (delisted on
20 December 2022) with effect from 20

December 2022.

In respect of the changes in emoluments of Directors, please

refer to note 9 to the financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXECRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate
governance with emphasis on transparency, independence,
accountability and responsibility. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of Shareholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and
strategy, and satisfy itself that these and the Group’s culture are
aligned. All Directors must act with integrity, lead by example,
and promote the desired culture. The Board should instil such
culture into the Company and continually reinforces across our
Company’s values of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly.

A healthy corporate culture set up by the Group, including
integrity and accountability, is vital for the Company to achieve
its vision and mission towards sustainable growth. It is the
Board’s role to foster a corporate culture with core principles
to guide the behaviours of its employees, and ensure that the
Company'’s vision, values and business strategies are aligned to
it.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of corporate governance. The Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code set out therein,
except for CG Code provision C.2.1.

Pursuant to the CG Code provision C.2.1, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive of the company should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual for
a balance of power and authority. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive of the company
should be clearly established and set out in writing.
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The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
(“CEO”) of the Company are not separate and are performed
by the same individual. Mr. Liu Jia (“Mr. Liu”) acts as both the
chairman and the CEO since the Listing Date. Since Mr. Liu
has a wealth of experience in real estate investment, operations
and investment projects, taking into account the consistent
leadership within the Group and in order to enable more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning and continuation
of the implementation of such plans, the Directors consider that
Mr. Liu is the best candidate for both positions and the present
arrangements are beneficial and in the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole.

As the Board currently comprises two executive Directors
(including Mr. Liu), two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors, therefore the Directors are
of the view that there is a fairly strong independence element
in its composition and an appropriate delegation of authorities
to the management. The Board shall nevertheless review the
arrangement from time to time to ensure that it is appropriate to
the Group’s circumstances.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry with each of the Directors, the Company
has received confirmations from all Directors that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company,
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them.
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Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors
who held office during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jia (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ma Heming

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yun
Mr. Zhuang Minrong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsoi David

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham
Mr. Lee Jor Hung

Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling®
Mr. Wang Cheung Yue®

M the resignation with effect from 26 August 2022
@ the appointment with effect from 26 August 2022

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 21 to 32 of the Annual Report for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board possesses the skills, experience and expertise
either in the same industry or relevant to the management of
the business of the Group which brings a good balance of
relevant skills and experience to the Company. The independent
non-executive Directors also provide their independent
professional judgments on the assessment of the development,
performance and risk management of the Group.

There are no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the
Board.
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Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly and, involving active participation,
either in person or through electronic means of communication,
of a majority of Directors. Under code provision C.5.1 of the CG
Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the reporting
period, 6 Board meetings and 2 general meetings were held.

The Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings and general
meetings during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Name of Directors

EEHRSE

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Liu Jia Rk AE
Mr. Ma Heming BEBRALE
Non-executive Directors EBITES
Ms. Wang Yun FEL L
Mr. Zhuang Minrong HR&%E

Independent Non-executive Directors Bk HITES

Mr. Tsoi David BERHELE
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham AEHEE
Mr. Lee Jor Hung RS A
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling™ FERZLO
Mr. Wang Cheung Yue® FR&EKE

The Company is obliged to comply with the CG Code and will
take appropriate arrangements for holding at least 4 regular
Board meetings as well as a meeting between the Chairman
and independent non-executive Directors annually (without the
presence of other directors).

M the resignation with effect from 26 August 2022
@ the appointment with effect from 26 August 2022
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not
segregate the roles of chairman and chief executive officer and
Mr. Liu Jia currently holds both positions, as explained in the
paragraph headed “Corporate Governance” in this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors possess a wide
range of business and financial expertise, experiences and,
through participation in board meetings, offer independent
judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standard of
conducts. Through taking the lead where potential conflicts of
interests arise, serving on the Board committees, examining
the Company’s performance in achieving corporate goals
and objectives and monitoring performance reporting, the
independent non-executive Directors has become an integral
part of the healthy growth of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022,
the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”), all the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-election by
the Shareholders at the first annual general meeting after
appointment.
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The non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term of
three years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the current
term.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The retiring Directors
shall be eligible for re-election.

Board Independence

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year 2022 which sets out the processes
and procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to
be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance, for
instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.
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Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

The Board possesses the skills, experience and expertise
either in the same industry or relevant to the management of
the business of the Group which brings a good balance of
relevant skills and experience to the Company. The independent
non-executive Directors also provide their independent
professional judgments on the assessment of the development,
performance and risk management of the Group.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and
related materials, and the advice and services provided by
the company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of the
Company, and has the liberty to seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense if so reasonably required. The
Directors will be continuously provided with the updates on the
major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of
good corporate governance practices.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the
first occasion on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. All Directors confirmed that they
had complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code during
the reporting period, that they had participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

The Company has distributed materials and updated information
on the latest developments in the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements during the reporting period.

In addition, relevant reading materials (including legal and

regulatory updates) have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.
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During the year, the training records of the Directors are
summarized as follows:

Name of Directors

AEE  EFHFICEBRBOT:

EEnE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LIU Jia £l
Mr. MA Heming BERLE
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. WANG Yun FEx L
Mr. ZHUANG Minrong HR&ERE
Independent Non-executive Directors BAUFHITESE
Mr. TSOI David BARMERE
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham VR Y i
Mr. LEE Jor Hung e
Ms. YU Pauline Wah Ling® FE®RLLTO
Mr. WANG Cheung Yue® AR&BEE
Notes: Bt 5
A: Attend seminars/symposia/meetings/forums on directors’ professional A:
and/or duties.
B: Attend training courses on directors’ professional and/or duties B:
arranged by the Company.
C: Read books, articles, journals and other materials in relation to C:

the economy, corporate governance, regulatory developments,
environmental businesses, directors’ duties or other related topics.

m the resignation with effect from 26 August 2022

@ the appointment with effect from 26 August 2022

Types of
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A, B
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Investment Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

1.  Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tsoi David (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham and Mr. Lee Jor
Hung. The principal duties of the Audit Committee include,
among others, the review of the Group’s financial reporting
procedures, risk management, internal controls and results.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee has held 4 meetings during the
reporting period. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
interim and annual results and the interim and annual
reports; met with external auditor to ensure appropriate
accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group; assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities
for maintaining an effective system of internal control;
reviewed the whistleblowing policy and anti-corruption
policy; reviewed the compliance of continuing connected
transaction, the internal audit report and the internal audit
function of the Group. The Audit Committee also met with
the external auditors 4 times during the year ended 31
December 2022.

The committee members’ attendance of the Audit
Committee during the reporting period is set out as
follows:

Mr. Tsoi David (Chairman) BRBRE(EE)
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham AEFHEE
Mr. Lee Jor Hung TR AE

RFERHB LB RTH
NETH - ERZESEEHTHR
FEHEEUARPBHRFERE A
67|\Hﬂ§§5zﬁfﬁaﬁ R 2N & Bl IR 4
HEMNSARALRER: HBHES
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Attendance/Number
of meetings during the
reporting period
HERE AREDBE
BTEREAREH

4/4

4/4

4/4
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2. Remuneration Committee 2. FMZEESE
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, YMEZEER=-RKEMAK  BI#H
namely Mr. Liu Jia, an executive Director, Mr. Lee Jor TEFRIEAE BIUFRTES
Hung, an independent non-executive Director, and Mr. FHEEEERBYFATESIR
Wang Cheung Yue, an independent non-executive Director. BhRE - ZThELEATFNELZES
Mr. Lee Jor Hung is the chairman of the Remuneration FE e
Committee.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration FHZESNBESEET THEN D
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those EXBOoTRIMENGR - HTES
set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the ENTEZERERERSTESERSR
Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making ERENFHESE 2BESEkA
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration TERENTFMBEREBETR
packages of individual Directors and senior management, SUYREBESREES AR Z
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors EHHBRERERNERERAE
and senior management; and establishing transparent B BRIESSNETMBE
procedures for developing such remuneration policy ALTREETART FHE -

and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/
her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has held 3 meetings during R EHE FMEEg2 817=
the reporting period. The Remuneration Committee ReF FHEZESERIERNE
has reviewed the remuneration packages of individual ELNEREEERENTHGFS -
Directors, and members of senior management. It has also ENEHNTTEENTMNEFERE
reviewed the remuneration packages and services contract REGE4) - EatEH EIE RRE
of the newly directors. The aforesaid approved matters and REMESSREREHEBEZ -

review were reported and recommended to the Board.

The committee members’ attendance of the Remuneration FTHEZEEEeRKERREHRBEOLE
Committee during the reporting period is set out as EHIWOT -
follows:

Attendance/Number of meetings
during the reporting period

HERE RBEEHH

BTERERK

Mr. Lee Jor Hung (Chairman) TEERE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Liu Jia BmkHsE 3/3
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling™ FEBLZLTO 2/2
Mr. Wang Cheung Yue® AR&ELEE 1/1
(M the resignation with effect from 26 August 2022 0 BHER20229F 8 A26 H #E & &K
@ the appointment with effect from 26 August 2022 @  H{ER2022F8A26H #E £ K
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The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors
and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of
the remuneration of the senior management by bands for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

Exceeding RMB1,000,000
Not exceeding RMB1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ma Heming, an executive Director, Mr. Shek Lai
Him Abraham, an independent non-executive Director, and
Mr. Lee Jor Hung, an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham is a chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG
Code. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the Board composition, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and
appointment of Directors, making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects as
well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in the
Company’s Board diversity policy, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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The Nomination Committee has held 2 meetings during the
reporting period. The Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition and diversity of the Board,
reviewed the board nomination policy, the board diversity
policy and it implementation, assessed the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, discussed and
made recommendation to the board of Directors on the
re-election of all retiring directors at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. It has also
selected of individuals nominated for directorships. The
aforesaid approved matters and review were reported and
recommended to the Board.

The committee members’ attendance of the Nomination
Committee during the reporting period is set out as
follows:

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham AHEE
(Chairman) (£/E)
Mr. Lee Jor Hung TR A
Mr. Ma Heming BERLE

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee consists of five members, two
executive Directors namely Mr. Liu Jia and Mr. Ma Heming
and three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr.
Lee Jor Hung, Mr. Tsoi David and Mr. Wang Cheung Yue.
Mr. Liu Jia is the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The principal duties of the Investment Committee include
reviewing and evaluating any investment projects proposed
by the Company, making recommendations to the Board
on such investment project, and also reviewing the annual
investment plan of the Company.

The Investment Committee has held 1 meeting during the
reporting period. The Investment Committee reviewed
and evaluated the Company’s investment portfolio and its
performance.
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The committee members’ attendance of the Investment
Committee during the reporting period is set out as
follows:

Mr. Liu Jia (Chairman) Bzt (FE)

Mr. Ma Heming SERTE
Mr. Lee Jor Hung TR A
Mr. Tsoi David BRKERE
Mr. Wang Cheung Yue FRBERE

Other than the 4 Board committees above, the Executives
Committee, being chaired by the CEO, is responsible for
handling day-to-day business activities and making collective
decisions on major matters relating to the Group’s daily
business operations, management and personnel matters, etc.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the code of conduct
and Model Code applicable to employees and Directors, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for monitoring the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems, as well as conducting a review on an annual basis.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable (and not absolute) assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group does not have an internal audit department and is
currently of the review that there is no immediate need to set up
an internal audit department with the Group in light of the size,
nature and complexity of the Group’s business.

The Board has engaged an independent consultant to perform
independent review of the adequate and effective of the internal
control system of the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the internal audit report prepared by an independent consultant.
The Audit Committee and the Board will continue to review at
least annually the need for an internal audit department.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes and
office functions, including project management, sales and
leasing, financial reporting, human resources and information
technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems

have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes:
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All divisions/departments conduct internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business of
the Group and various aspects including key operational and
financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm
that control policies are properly complied with by each division/
department.

The management, in coordination with division/department
heads, assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides
treatment plans, monitors the risk management progress, as
well as reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on all the
findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems during the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as
the management, reviewed the risk management (including
ESG risk) and internal control systems of the Group, including
the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year
ended 31 December 2022, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and staff qualifications, experiences
and relevant resources. The findings have been addressed.
No significant areas of improvement which are required to be
brought to the attention of the Board have been revealed.

The Company has formulated a whistle-blowing policy to provide
a safe and confidential reporting mechanism and to ensure that
employees and those who deal with the Company to report, in
confidential, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open
and available for employees of the Company to report any
suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also report
to the internal anti-corruption department, which is responsible
for investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate
measures. The Company continues to carry out anti-corruption
and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity, and
actively organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to
ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company held
two anti-corruption trainings and briefings to all employees.
There were no non-compliance cases in relation to bribery and
corruption.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 136 to
141,

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the Company
in respect of audit and non-audit services for the year ended
31 December 2022 amounted to RMB1.2 million and RMBO0.4
million respectively. The above non-audit services include review
on the interim report and other professional services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for
ensuring that Board policy and procedures are followed and
Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. The
Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company.
Although the Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of
the Board and the Chief Executive Officer, all the Directors may
call upon the Company Secretary for assistance and advice
at any time in respect to their duties so as to ensure effective
operation of the Board and the committees thereunder. The
Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters
and facilitates the induction and professional development of
Directors. As at 31 December 2022, the Company Secretary of
the Company has undertaken 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the following board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”).

The Board recognizes the benefit of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. A diverse Board
includes and makes good use of differences in the skills,
industry knowledge and experience, education, background and
other qualities of the Directors and does not discriminate on the
ground of race, age, gender, culture or religious belief.

The Nomination Committee has responsibility for reviewing and
reporting to the Board in relation to the Board diversity.

All the Board appointments will be considered by the Nomination
Committee and recommended to the Board for formal approval
based on the diversity perspectives.

Selection of candidates for Board appointment will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural/educational and professional background,
skills and experience.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit against objective
criteria and contribution that the candidate will bring to the
Board.
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For the purpose of implementation of the board diversity policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

o at least 2 members of the Board shall be female;

° at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

° at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;
and

° at least 50% of the members of the Board shall have
more than 5 years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in.

The Board is committed to improving the diversity of the Board
and wishes to achieve the above objectives by the end of 2025.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the
Group. Up to the date of this annual report, the Board consists
of 7 male directors and 1 female director (87.5% male and
12.5% female). The number of senior management is 4, consists
of 3 male (75%) and 1 female (25%).

For further details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out on pages 59 to 114 of this annual
report.

The Company will ensure that gender diversity is taken into
account when recruiting all employee (including the senior
management) and ensure that sufficient resources are available
for providing appropriate trainings and career development to
develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and
maintain gender diversity.

The Board will review and monitor from time to time the
implementation of Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
effectiveness and will at appropriate time set measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following board nomination policy
(the “Board Nomination Policy”).

The factor listed below shall be considered by the Nomination
Committee in selecting the candidates for directors (“Selection
Criteria”):

° character and integrity;

° achievements and professional experience that is beneficial
to the development of the Company;

° professional experience in real estate operations and other
related fields;

° potential time commitment;

° board diversity in all aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years old or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

° independence of the candidates (if applicable); and

° the term of service that the candidates have served for the
reappointment of the independent non-executive Directors.
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES

A.

Nomination by the Nomination Committee

° The Nomination Committee shall review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, professional
qualification, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendation on any
proposed change to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

o The Nomination Committee can be assisted by
external agencies and/or consultants in identifying
potential candidates.

o The Nomination Committee may seek advice from
the Board members in recommending candidates or
nominate other candidates who are not nominated by
the Board members in appointing additional Directors
or filling Board vacancies.

o The Nomination Committee shall refer to the
Selection Criteria to determine whether the
proposed candidates are eligible and suitable to
become Directors of the Company and provide
advice to the Board in this regard for the Board
to consider approving the appointment of the
proposed candidates as the Company’s Directors or
recommending the proposed candidates to be elected
as the Company’s Directors in the general meeting.

Nomination by the Shareholders

Shareholders may nominate candidates for election of
the Company’s Directors in accordance to the applicable
rules of the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
of the Company. The specific procedures are set out in
the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director” as prepared and adopted by the
Company from time to time.

The Nomination Committee is authorized by the Board
to review this policy from time to time to ensure its
effectiveness and to give advice to the Board on the
proposed amendments for the Board’s approval as
necessary.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the following dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”).

The Board will consider the following factors when considering
the proposed dividend payment and determining its amount:

(1) the current and future funding needs of the Company for
operations and business development;

(2) the market conditions from time to time;
(3) the Company’s liquidity and financial position;

(4) the requirement of the Company’s Articles of Association
and the relevant laws, regulations and rules applicable to
the Company;

(5) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound;

(6) the solvency requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and

(7) any other circumstances that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review, discuss and revise the Dividend Policy
in accordance with the Company’s profit, financial needs and
other factors from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Shareholders of the Company should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in the laws of the Cayman Islands
and where applicable, the Company’s Articles of Association,
for convening a general meeting.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders of the Company should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in the laws of the Cayman Islands
and where applicable, the Company’s Articles of Association,
for circulating a resolution for annual general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1302, 13th Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour
View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong

(852) 2545 5256

inquiry@ebgca.com.hk

Fax:
Email:

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The annual general meeting provides an
opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate directly with
the Directors. The Chairman of the Company and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the annual
general meeting to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor
will also attend the annual general meeting to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

The Company has in place a shareholder communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to
ensure its effectiveness. The Board had reviewed the policy and
considered that the implementation of the policy was effective.

The Company has used the following methods to communicate
with its shareholders:-

° publication of announcements, interim reports and annual
reports;

o publication of key corporate governance policies on the
Company’s website; and

° holding of annual general meeting and other general
meetings of the Company.
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The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s address.
The Company also maintains a website at www.ebgca.com.hk
where up-to-date information and updates of the Company’s
operations, performances and strategies are available to public
access.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

A special resolution has been passed at the annual general
meeting held at 16 June 2022 to amend and adopt the second
amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company in order to comply with the recent amendments
to the Listing Rules.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT

RiR  TBRELBRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited is pleased to present
this Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”) to provide an overview of the Group’s management
approaches affecting the operation and performance in respect
of environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”) aspects for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (“reporting
period”), which is in conformity with the Group’s financial year.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers Everbright Grand China Assets Limited
(the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
with our core business principally engaged in the businesses
of property leasing, the provision of property management
services and the sale of properties held for sale in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

REPORTING BASIS

This Report is prepared with reference to Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (‘ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”). The Group has complied
with the disclosure requirements of the “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

With the aim to optimise and improve the disclosure
requirements in this Report, the Group has taken initiative to
formulate policies, record relevant data, implement and monitor
measures. This Report shall be published both in Chinese and
English on the website of Stock Exchange. Should there be any
discrepancy between the Chinese and the English versions, the
English version shall prevail.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

This Report summarised the Group’s performance in corporate ZAMEHXBIEEE - = « FEHEM—20
and social responsibilities applying the reporting principles of BB &R EE T AEBECENLE

“Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency” as below: EEFHEHRBEOAT:
Reporting Principles Application by the Group
H&ERA SEHE
Materiality The Group identified and evaluated the materiality and the
FEEME importance of ESG issues through continuous communication with

our stakeholders and taking into consideration the Group’s business
operations and sustainable development.
AEBEFBEFNERBEBEBIENLTHESGEEZERNERE
E UEBTAEENERLCERAIHERE -

Quantitative The Group has taken initiative to formulate policies and record
EEM relevant measurable data for performance monitoring and
evaluation. The Group disclosed its environmental and social key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) in a quantitative manner with
explanations.

REBCFHHEBRE - L BBHE A 8 BB EE R KT HERR -
REBUSEARUMBHARELIRE R SHERESIEST (B
BEMEED-

Balance The Group has presented our performance in sustainable
I 18 14 development and ESG issues based on objective facts and avoided
improper selections, omissions or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the report
reader.

AEENEBZERER RAZMARAIFELRE RESGEBEZ
R WA EINREFEEBEAXTHHAGNTIEZEE
BRI EWMER -

Consistency The Group adopted a consistent approach annually on the

— B disclosure scope and statistical methods used for KPIs in this
Report to provide meaningful comparison for our performance
evaluation.

AEBEBFHARENRBEHERBARERERRA D AERA—
HOHER RHAEENLEUFIHEAEEZREA -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

SOURCE OF INFORMATION

Information and data contained in this Report are derived from
the Group’s formal internal documents, statistical reports and
public information, after verification by relevant departments.
This Report was reviewed and approved by the board of
directors (“Board”) of the Company who takes the responsibility
for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its contents.

ACCESS TO THE REPORT

This Report is available in electronic version in Chinese and
English languages. Should there be any discrepancy between
the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall
prevail. You may access the Company’s website at www.ebgca.
com.hk and the website of the HKEX at www.hkexnews.hk for
an electronic copy of this Report.

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes all stakeholders to provide their opinions
and suggestions. Stakeholders can provide valuable advice
in respect of the Report or the Group’s performances in
sustainable development by email to inquiry@ebgca.com.hk.

ABOUT US

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
leasing, the provision of property management services and the
sale of properties held for sale in the PRC during the year.

For the property leasing business, the Group’s property portfolio
comprises three commercial buildings, namely, Everbright
Financial Center, part of Everbright International Mansion and
Ming Chang Building, which are located in Chengdu, Sichuan
Province and Kunming, Yunnan Province, respectively, in the
PRC with a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately
89,507 square meters (“sq.m.”) Besides, the average
occupancy rate of the properties was over 80% during the year.
Furthermore, the Group provides property management and
maintenance service to tenants.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

The Group has a clear strategy for its business development.
Meanwhile, the Group acknowledges the importance of
operating its business in a responsible manner to achieve
sustainable development. Sustainable development is crucial
for gaining affordable capital and enhancing capabilities
for long-term competitiveness. The Group is committed to
responsible operation by incorporating environmental and
social factors into management considerations. The Group
has established and implemented a set of policies to manage
and monitor the risks related to environment, employment,
operating practices and community. Details of the management
approaches to sustainable development of different areas are
illustrated in this Report.

ESG GOVERNANCE
Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG
issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in
overseeing the management of the Group’s sustainability issues.
During the year, the Board and the ESG Working Group spent
significant time in evaluating the impacts of ESG-related risks
of our operation and formulating relevant policies in dealing
with the risks. The oversight of the Board is to ensure that
the management can have all the right tools and resources to
oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy and long-term
value creation.

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and
accountability, our Group has established an ESG Working
Group which has clear terms of reference that set out the
powers delegated to it by the Board. We highly value the
opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as the cornerstone
for the development of the Group. During the reporting period,
the ESG working Group consisted of an Executive Director and
the Head of Finance, the Head of Human Resources and the
Head of Operations.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process and risk management of the
Group. Different ESG issues are reviewed by the ESG Working
Group at the regular meetings, which are held at least twice a
year. During the reporting period, the ESG Working Group and
the management reviewed the governance and different ESG
issues.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MERELCRS(8)

Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for
material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations
of different stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality
assessment is conducted annually. We ensure various
platforms and channels of communication are used to reach,
listen and respond to our key stakeholders. Through general
communication with stakeholders, the Group understands the
expectations and concerns from stakeholders. The feedbacks
obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions, and
to better assess and manage the resulting impacts.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the steps: (1) material ESG area identification
by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area prioritization with
stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation and determining
material ESG issues based on the results of communication
among stakeholders and the management.

Hence, this can enhance understanding of their degree and
change of attention to each significant ESG issue, and can
enable us to more comprehensively plan our sustainable
development direction in the future. Those important and
material ESG areas identified during our material assessment
were discussed in this Report.

Board review progress against ESG-related goals and
targets

The progress of target implementation and the performance
of the goals and targets should be closely reviewed from time
to time. Rectification may be needed if the progress falls short
of expectation. Effective communication about the goals and
targets with key stakeholders such as employees is essential, as
this enables them to be engaged in the implementation process,
and to feel they are part of the change that the company aspires
to achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years enables
the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus on results
of achieving the visions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

Setting targets require the ESG Working Group to carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which should be weighed
against the company’s ambitions and goals. During the reporting
period, our Group set targets on an absolute basis.

The board’s reviewed the company’s progress made against
ESG targets, discussed the results of such review with the
management and considered the ESG targets’ achievements
were satisfactory during the year.

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

Every year, through the risk identification, stakeholders
engagement, materiality assessment and the review of policy
formulation process, the Board approves the management
approaches on ESG issues that are material to our Group and
bases on the regular review on ESG performance with the
strategic goals and targets to make constant progress and
improvement on ESG issues in our daily operation responding
to the stakeholders’ expectations and jointly promoting the
sustainable development of the Group.

In order to assess the effectiveness and the appropriateness
of the ESG strategies, goals and targets, regular review on the
progress achievement is necessary for any rectification if the
progress falls short of expectation. To promote a long-term
sustainability and develop a realistic roadmap, the Group
formulates ESG strategies with strategic goals to achieve in five
years.

Review of Progress against ESG-related Goals and
Targets

The Board is responsible for reviewing the progress of attaining

ESG-related goals and proposing direction for the Group’s ESG
development going forward based on the progress.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from our stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to
influence the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested
in or affected by or have the potential to be affected by the
impact of the Group’s activities, products, services and
relationships.

The Group engages with our stakeholders to understand and
respond to the concerns of our stakeholders, develop mutually
beneficial relationships and to seek their views on its business
proposals and initiatives so as to promote sustainability in the
marketplace, workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from our stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous
interest in the Group’s business activities. The Group has
identified our key stakeholders that are important to our
business and established various channels for communication.
Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
Their feedbacks allow the Group to assess the impact of our
decisions on ESG issues, but also to adjust our direction of
business development and growth. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship
with each of our key stakeholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

The following table provides an overview of the issue of
concerns of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various
communication channels and methods used to reach, listen and

respond:

Stakeholders
EnE

Government
and regulatory
authorities

BREREE#E

Issues of Concerns
Hi 2B

Compliance with
the rules, laws and
regulations

BT RBRA R MRS

Proper tax payment
AR

Response to the
government’s policies

B BT R

BRITA:

Engagement channels
SHEEE

Research and
discussions through
work conferences,
work reports
preparation and
submission for
approval
FRIFEZE TIER
ERENRERENH
E3EW

Annual reports and
announcements
FEEFHRELRA
H

=

Company website

NCIEENTS

Annual filing

FEBAR

TERBARNEBEIEZRHNEZMIEA
EAREBER REMEDENSBBAER

Practices
)

Operated, managed
and paid taxes
according to laws and
regulations
RIBEBIEREE -
BB KRB

Cooperated with
government’s
supervision, inspection
and evaluation review
MEBNEE  BE
SR

Disclosed and
reported information in
a timely and accurate
manner

Ko B 7 4 T b 3% BRI
BEER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BRE MBRELCHRS ()

Stakeholders
&

Shareholders
and Investors
BREKRESE

Issues of Concerns
HR 8

— Information disclosure
and transparency
— EREERAFAEHR

— Risk and returns
— R B & B #H

— Protection of interests
and fair treatment of
shareholders

— REBREER QT
HERR

Engagement channels

S2REE

Annual and interim
reports and
announcements
FH- -FHwEASE

Company website
NGRS D

General meetings

BRRE

Practices
)

Made relevant
disclosures about
Group’s business
development in a
timely manner
MEFEL B RAANEE
EBERBEANKE

Carried out different
forms of investor
activities with an aim
to improve investors’
recognition
AEZEEANKE
EEY  RekEE
HRAE

Convened general
meetings

BRERERERRE

Disclosed company
contact details

on website and in
reports and ensured
all communication
channels available and
effective

PRI RERNE T
NEIEA T BT
BREBEEBREEY

BAEX
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Stakeholders Issues of Concerns Engagement channels Practices
BHE BHE SHEHEE ER
Employees — Remuneration — Training, seminars, — Provided a healthy
B packages workshops, briefing and safe working
— HNsE sessions environment
— Fil e IS | - BHEEREZZ2HNT
— Occupational health KN g EIRIE
and safety
- BERRELR — Cultural and sport — Organized
activities occupational and
— Working environment — XML REBEED professional staff
— I{ERE trainings
— Intranet, emails and — BB REREEET
— Career development notice 53l
opportunities — NBHE EBREBEES
— BxunE#e — Developed a fair
— Employee surveys promotion mechanism
— EEHE on career path
— RYATHBEEH
1
— Organized care and
welfare activities for
employees
— REEBHBBEERRE
& B
Customers — Safe and high-quality — Company website, — Provided a clean and
zE products and services brochures, notice secure environment
— T2 kBEEERLIR boards, annual reports and community
% and announcements — REBFRLE2HNIERE
— QAL PRF Kt @
— Responsive to HhER FEBRER
customers’ needs N — Improved customer
— MEREEFEFFK complaint handling
— Satisfaction surveys process
— Mutual trustworthy — MEERAZE — TERFPRFEER
relationship il
— BEER — Customer service
hotline
— BPIRBER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BRE MBRELCHRS ()

Stakeholders
&

Suppliers and

Issues of Concerns
HR 8

— Long-term partnership

Engagement channels
SHEE

Business meetings,

Practices
)

Established a fair

Business — REIEEBIE supplier conferences, tendering mechanisms
partners phone calls and B VNS R L
MERMREKESHE | — Performance and interviews
%% obligation under —XBez HfEESg Enhanced daily
contracts & EBEkET communication, and
— ARBEHREE established long-
— On-site audit or checks term cooperation with
— Tendering process — RigEZIBRE quality suppliers and
— BEEF contractors
MEARER  BHEY
HEFRABEEY
REIE ERR
Provided regular
feedbacks for
improvement
IR EHI R R LAE R
=
Industry — Experience sharing — Industry conference/ Maintained fair play,
associations — BBH=E seminar cooperated with peers
TEHS — TEeR e to realize win-win

— Cooperation

— A

— Fair competition
~ REEF

Site visit
T iR 5

situation and shared
experiences
HRATFHESE HE
XaEERER LD

Attended industry
seminars to promote
industry sustainable
development

2MITEMTE - A

HHTERAREER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

The Group has evaluated the materiality and attached the
importance in ESG aspects through the steps: (1) material
ESG area identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key
ESG area prioritization with stakeholders engagement; and
(3) validation and determining material ESG issues based
on results of communication among stakeholders and the
management. Hence, this can enhance understanding of their
degree and change of attention to each significant ESG issue,
and can enable us to be more comprehensive when planning
our sustainable development work strategy in the future.
Those important and material ESG areas identified during our
materiality assessment were discussed in this Report.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the Report
by understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the
business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and KPIs are
reported in this Report according to disclosure requirements set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through benchmarking
analysis, with consideration into industry trends, regulatory
and market requirements and corporate development
strategies. In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide,
ESG issues were categories into four areas: Environmental
Protection, Employment Management, Operating Practices
and Community Involvement.

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder Engagement

° The Group obtained the opinions and expectations from
key internal and external stakeholders including those
identified in the section “Stakeholders Engagement” during
daily operation on key ESG issues identified above to
ensure all the key aspects to be covered for prioritization
and assessment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

° The Group’s management discussed based on the
result of benchmarking identification and stakeholders
engagement, and determined the materiality of each ESG
issue in relations to our business characteristics and daily
operation.

o The Group’s management ensured all material ESG issues,
which were important to our business development, were
reported in this Report and in compliance with the ESG
Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2022, those important
ESG areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.

The calculation methodologies and assumption adopted for
determining key performance indicators (KPIs) reported in this
section are according to the guidelines of Global Reporting
Initiative (“GRI”).

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

The Group is in strict compliance with the relevant environmental
laws and regulations in PRC, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (F# A R L M B IR
BIRFE L), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes (FZEA K

FEF0 B [ 88 BE W05 IR MR %), Protection and Control of
Atmospherlc Pollution of the PRC {/ #E A & £ MBI K &5 265
Y&74), the Energy Conservation Law of the PRC (/A & £/
B &0 #4088 R &), the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the PRC (R ZEARKEFMBEI/K)FEFGEE). Our Group would
be subject to payment of fines and penalties, and our reputation
may be damaged if there is any failure to comply with these laws
and regulations. The Group has established an environmental
management system with an aim to promote the improvement
and development of the environmental management system
and mitigate the impacts of our operations on the environment.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance issue in relation to environmental laws of the
PRC.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

A1: EMISSIONS
Air Pollutants Emission

Air emission control is essential to mitigate environmental
impacts and to protect the health of employees. As the Group
is mainly involved in general office activities, the amount of air
pollutant emissions is insignificant.

Our air pollutants are mainly generated from the natural gas
consumption of the PRC office for warming in winter, while the
rest of the air pollutant emission is generated by vehicles. We
take initiative to formulate plans in transportation management
for the reduction of air pollutant emission in our daily business
operation. For example, encouraging employees and clients to
conduct video conference meetings instead of transportation, as
well as reduce to use winter heating equipment and when there
are idle.

The decrease in the emission of air pollutants in 2022 was
mainly attributable to the reduced vehicle fuel use for business
travelling, decrease in natural gas use for winter warming, and
the effective implementation of the energy saving strategies
during the reporting period. Furthermore, the Group targets to
reduce the air pollutants emission by 5% by 2025.

During the reporting period, the air pollutants emission of our
Group was as follows:
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2025F =R ISEMHEINE R 5% ©
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0

Type of air pollutants Unit

EREFRYER B 2022 2021
Nitrogen oxides (NO ) kg

AEEWNO) N 627.57 660.44"
Sulphur oxides (SO) kg

R &1E#(SO) DT 7.63 8.531"
Particulate matter (PM) kg

BOF LT (PM) /NI 0.23 0.4611

1 The year 2021 data has been restated for enhancing comparative 1 HTRELCLSENEERTEERMERN

purpose and more advanced and updated scientific calculation
models and methodologies have been adopted.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions?

The Group recognises that the community is gradually
concerned with climate change as it affects our daily life and
poses a risk to its business. Hence the Group is committed
to mitigating the effects of climate change and protecting the
health of our employees and community.

The Group is aware that the magnitude of climate change is
increasing, such as global warming, sea level rise and extreme
weather, which may have a significant impact on our business
and operations. In view of this, we strictly monitor and review
greenhouse gas emissions data generated by the business,
advocate green office, and progressively formulate and launch
measures to improve energy efficiency. We continue to explore
and move forward on the way to achieve low-carbon emission
and emission reduction, helping to fight against the threats
brought by climate change.

As a property management service provider, our source of GHG
emissions come from (i) the scope 1 direct emission from fossil
fuel use for vehicles and winter warming; and (i) the scope 2
indirect emission through electricity consumption for our office
operation. The Group attaches great importance to reduce the
carbon footprint by gradually establishing emission targets,
incorporating the energy-saving initiatives and measures into our
daily operations and continuously exploring new opportunities
to achieve emission reduction through our environmental
management system. Green belt maintenance in our building
outside area under management will become our service
focus which contributing an off-set effect in the overall carbon
footprint. Details of the Group’s energy efficiency measures and
practices were summarised in the section “Use of Resources”
and green office policies mentioned in the section “The
Environment and Natural Resources”.

The decrease in GHG emission in 2022 was mainly due to
the reduced vehicle fuel use for business travelling, decrease
in natural gas use for winter warming, and the effective
implementation of the energy saving strategies during the
reporting period. The Group will strive to reduce the emission of
GHG by 5% by 2025.

2 The calculation of the greenhouse gas emission is based on the
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from Greenhouse
Gas Protocol.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

During the reporting period, the GHG emission was as follows:

R & BRI R T

GHG emission Unit

BEREHEMN B 2022 2021

Direct GHG Emissions (Scope 1)3 tonnes of CO2-¢e

BEEAERBEHR(EE)s WE— S LIRE 2 142.07 160.795

Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2)* tonnes of CO2-¢e

MEREREHR(HE2): WE— S LIRE 2 810.49 1,685.525

Total GHG emission tonnes of CO2-e

BEREBAEME W AfbiRE E 952.56 1,846.315

GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO2-e/m2

BEREEENREE W—EeiEE S FHK 0.06 0.115
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste EEREBEEEY

The Group’s operational activities are not involved production
of finished products and do not generate of hazardous waste.
The non-hazardous waste generated were mainly commercial
waste such as office paper, bottles, etc. As part of our waste
management, the Group have formulated detailed guidance
for all front-line and back office staff to follow in our operating
places and offices to mitigate our impacts to the environment.

The Group’s Green Office Guidelines outline concepts of
“reduce, reuse and recycle”. Therefore, we persist in keeping
systematic records on material usage to reduce unnecessary
consumption and purchase in order to continuously improve the
procurement procedures and promote resources utilisation. The
Group has posted tips and placed collection bags and boxes to
collect recyclables such as paper and plastic. General waste is
collected by the building management and handled by dedicated
waste collectors and recyclers to prevent illegal dumping of
waste. We will continue to improve the resource recovery
system and encourage employees to actively participate in the
cycling plan to ensure the efficiency of resource recycling.

s Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or controlled
by the Group.

4 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from purchased electricity consumed by
the Group.

5 The year 2021 data has been restated for enhancing comparative

purpose and more advanced and updated scientific calculation
models and methodologies have been adopted.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

Paper is the major resource consumption of the Group’s
daily operation and therefore paper conservation is our key
resource conservation goal. We have implemented paper-saving
measures in our offices, such as encouraging to replace
printed documents with electronic copies, reuse paper and
double-sided printing, etc. Moreover, we selected Forest
Stewardship Council (FSC) certified paper to print the Group’s
annual report and publications to avoid harvesting virgin forests.
During the reporting period, a total of 0.98 tonnes (2021: 0.16
tonnes) of papers were recycled.

The Group plans to establish steps to gradually increase the
garbage sorting spots in our communities under management
to facilitate recycling and to engage contractor to undertake
and handle the recycled waste in a timely and orderly manner.
We will promote the concept of green community through
conducting various community activities so as to strengthen the
public awareness on environmental protection and establishing
the habit of garbage sorting and recycling. In our daily office
operation, we continue to adhere to the green office policies
listed in the section “The Environment and Natural Resources”.

During the reporting period, non-hazardous waste for epidemic
prevention supplies such as one-off surgical masks and
alcohol-based sanitisers, etc., became inevitably consumed
in our operational area to safeguard hygienic environment in
our workplace under the circumstances of regular epidemic
control and prevention. During the reporting period, the effective
implementation of non-hazardous waste management strategies
led to a decrease in the amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in 2022.The Group has set comprehensive reduction
target by 5% reduction in non-hazardous waste generation by
2025. The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group during
the reporting period was as follows:
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Non-hazardous waste generated | Unit

BEEEEY B 2022 2021
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes

BEBRREVELES Fr 116.01 173.21
Non-hazardous waste generated

intensity tonnes/m?2

BEREWEERE TR/ FHK 0.003 0.004
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

A2: USE OF RESOURCES

In our daily operation, energy and water are the major sources
of resource consumption. The Group consistently aims to
implement energy and water efficiency initiatives to reduce the
energy and water consumption. The Group also motivates all
its employees to participate in resources conservation activities
and encourages them to save energy and water.

Energy Consumption

The use of electricity, natural gas and petrol accounts for
the Group’s major energy consumption. The Group actively
implements energy-saving measures according to our Green
Office Guidelines, including the installation of energy metering
systems to closely monitoring energy consumption and improve
energy efficiency. In the office, we maximise the use of natural
light and turn off unnecessary lighting. As we believe that
environmental protection achievements need to be gathered
from bits and pieces, we encourage employees to start with
the small things around them and cultivate good energy-saving
habits, such as switching computers to energy saving mode,
turning off computers and other electrical appliances at the end
of the day, and unplugging electrical appliances before long
holidays.

Furthermore, we encourage conducting video conference
meetings instead of transportation, reduce to use winter heating
equipment and when there are idle. In order to further mitigate
our impacts on the environment from energy consumption,
we target to establish in steps by applying in our communities
under management for lighting systems with sensor functions;
investigating in the feasibility on the implementation of solar
panels and incorporating the assessment with energy-saving
characteristics when making new quotation for equipment.

The decrease in energy consumption in 2022 was mainly
attributable to the reduced vehicle fuel use for business
travelling, decrease in natural gas use for winter warming, and
the effective implementation of the energy saving strategies
during the year. The Group has set inclusive total energy
consumption reduction target by 5% by 2025.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

During the reporting period, the details of energy consumption
of the Group was as follows:

WEHA AEBRRERFANT

Energy consumption Unit

BE R H B 2022 2021
Purchased electricity MWh

WEES JK EL 903.06 1,871.00
Petrol MWh

b K E 2413 82.94
Natural gas MWh

RKAR JK BB 647.59 680.50
Total energy consumption MWh

BmeeEREREE JK BB 1,574.78 2,634.44
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m2

Be R SR E KRB, OK 0.093 0.155

Water Consumption

We cherish water resources and are committed to reducing the
consumption of freshwater resources in our operations. The
Group’s Water Management Guidelines advocate sustainable
water usage principles such as the use of separate drainage
and sewerage systems and strict monitoring of emissions
to ensure that the discharged wastewater comply with local
emissions standards. The guidelines also include a series
of water conservation measures which are implemented
gradually, aiming at reducing water consumption and enhancing
employees’ awareness of saving water resources at the same
time. To ensure that reliable and high-quality drinking water are
provided to our users as well as preventing the wastage of water
resources, we conduct regular cleaning and water quality tests
of the water supply system under our properties in accordance
with the Repair and Maintenance Guidelines, as well as regular
maintenance of drainage system and timely repair when leakage
is found.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

In addition, Chengdu Municipal Waterworks Co., Ltd. Issues
specific water consumption targets to our projects in Chengdu
every year. During the reporting period, each operating unit has
balanced the planned water usage, implemented stringent water
conservation practices and successfully achieved all of the
water consumption targets. The Group will constantly review the
water usage and consumption in daily operation for continuous
optimization of water usage patterns and solutions. During the
reporting period, all wastewater was discharged to designated
sewers in accordance with local regulations and no violations
occurred.

During the reporting period, the slight increase in water
consumption was mainly attributable to the increase in water
use for office cleaning and adoption of sterilization measures
for coping with continuous outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic
in 2022. The Group has set a reduction target of 5% in water
consumption by 2025.

During the reporting period, the water consumption of the
Group was as follows:

AN RETERKEREERATEF
WMEHURMUAKENEE T EAEN
AKER RBERAR SFELEMLE
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RmEHE NEEFRKENT

Water consumption Unit

FEXKE By 2022 2021
Water consumption® m?3

FEKES AV P 54,848 52,124
Water consumption intensity ms3/m?

FEKoR & SRR K 1.17 1.11

A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Regarding the operation of our Group, we are not aware of
any significant impacts of our activities has been exerted on
the environment and natural resources. During the reporting
period, the Group has made our efforts in incorporating
the environmental policies to minimize the impacts on the
environment and natural resources. The Group will continue to
adhere to the international requirement from the ISO Standard
System and implement environment-friendly practices in
the Group’s operation in order to enhance environmental
sustainability.

6 Water usage in the Hong Kong headquarters is managed by the building
where the office is located. As the managerial department cannot provide
data or metered record on water use for individual tenants, data of water
consumption in our Hong Kong headquarters is not included in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

A4. CLIMATE CHANGE
Governance

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on the nature
of the risk to our operations. The physical impacts of climate
change, including extreme weather events, or damage to
facilities have immediate operational impacts and are treated
as operational risks. Long-term challenges, such as emerging
ESG issues and climate-related risks and opportunities, may be
discussed by the Group’s ESG Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks regularly during board meetings
and ensures that they are incorporated into our strategy.

To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest trend of
climate-related issues, climate competence training will be
provided to ensure it has the necessary expertise and skills to
oversee the management of climate-related issues. Our Board
also seeks professional advice from external experts when
necessary to better support the decision-making process.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective governance for
integrating and addressing ESG issues, including climate
change, within our business. The ESG Working Group is
responsible for approving operational emissions targets for the
Group and commissioning an ESG benchmarking, as well as
gap analysis exercise to identify gaps in both disclosure and
policy relative to the best practice standards. Moreover, the
ESG Working Group works closely with the Group’s different
operation departments, with an aim to develop consistent and
enhanced approaches on addressing ESG risk issues and
report to the management.

Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile through
its role in increasing the frequency and intensity of certain
diseases, and the health and mortality impacts resulting from
natural disasters. We assess the overall level of risk by taking
into consideration a range of diverse risk factors across the
many categories in our services range. This diversity of risk is
combined with our business strategy and broad geographic
footprint helps us mitigate risk and provide protection against
the impacts of short-term climate change effects.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

Our services continue to provide protection for people in our
communities against weather and heat-related disease. Besides,
we continue to explore opportunities to engage our business
partners and encourage them to develop climate resilience
and reduce their operational carbon footprint by taking into
consideration of different climate-related scenarios, including a
“2° C or lower scenario” through the following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate Change
Effects

As climate change measures proceeds, there is a possibility
that the industry will be exposed to substantial changes, such
as stricter policies including the introduction of and increases in
carbon pricing, as well as advances in technology and changes
in customer awareness.

In light of these climate change effects, based on the
International Energy Agency (“IEA”) scenarios and others, we
developed multiple future images as the external environment
that will surround our Group. With regard to the IEA scenarios,
we put focus on the 2° C scenario (2DS) and pictured future
images in case where climate change measures do not progress
and where such measures progress further “Beyond 2°C
scenario”.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the future
images developed in Step 1. We believe that in such a society, it
will be possible to expand carbon dioxide reduction effects.

With regard to effects on raw material procurement, introduction
of and increases in carbon pricing is anticipated in accordance
with the global advance of climate change measures, leading to
the possibility of higher raw material procurement and operating
costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change measures
are not adequate throughout society, operation interruptions
and supply chain disruptions are likely to increase as a result of
higher frequency and intensification of natural disasters such as
flooding.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
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Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of non-renewable
energy in our daily operation. This strategy will allow for flexible
and strategic responses to each demand for the regions where
the emission factors of purchased electricity consumptions are
high. By promoting real carbon emissions reductions throughout
the world through comprehensive energy-saving policies and
introduction of renewable energy, we are working to achieve
zero carbon emission in our business.

We minimize carbon emissions through comprehensive
energy-saving and introduction of renewable energy. With
respect to renewable energy in particular, we have set a new
target, achieve a reduction rate for purchased electricity in
coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability and
progress of the Group’s strategies, we believe that we will have
opportunities for stable funding and sustainable increases in
corporate value through appropriate information disclosure,
dialogue with institutional investors and other stakeholders.

Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or to test
the existing risk management strategies under climate change
with the aid of risk assessment. Hence, the areas where new
strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based approach
using national data, local information and expert knowledge,
which can identify how climate change may compound existing
risks or create new ones. The risk assessment is conducted
through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

o Objective/goal

o Scale

o Time frame

° Climate change scenario for most climate variables and
sea level

B3L BEREK

AEBEKHEEESLEEPHI AL
AHERER - %R %Hﬁﬁﬁ%“*
HREBEME F &0 & 0 & @ FH KL
BEAMERENER - BEZEAAIRE
BEMAIBAERRHSIA E2KEE
AEBEENRKBESE  RMAEESHE
BEPRBFEOZHREEN -

BPBBEHREEEMS AT BERR
RAREH R DIKBEN - Fh R ER B
R E  BRASET-BEFNESR
BIERREFERINEENHIBE -

AR EREREERBENSELENER
- BPEE BREENEERE
BB A B M E M A & *H?ﬁ%ﬁ’]ﬂuﬁ
BB EARSESRENESMIHEIRE
mkxEE-
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Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

° Identify the record of occurrence of climatic hazard in the
past in the area

° Risk management strategies in place to tackle future
occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

° Explore climate change projections for the selected time
frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

° Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2 may get
worse under future projected changes

° Identify new risks that can emerge under future projected
changes

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

° Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.,
geographical areas, business operation, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that has the potential to be at risk in
future

As outlined within the Governance section above, the Group
has robust risk management and business planning processes
that are overseen by the board of directors in order to identify,
assess and manage climate-related risks. The Group engages
with government and other appropriate organizations in order to
keep abreast of expected and potential regulatory and/or fiscal
changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change in regard to
monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in our daily operation.
However, there remains gaps in understanding how such climate
risks and opportunities may impact our operations, assets
and profits. Our Group assesses how the business addresses
climate change risks and opportunities and takes the initiative to
monitor and reduce their environmental footprint.
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Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant climate-related
physical risks and transition risks, which have impacted and/or
may impact our Group’s business and strategy in (i) operations,
products and services, (i) supply chain and value chain, (iii)
adaptation and mitigation activities, (iv) investment in research
and development, and (v) financial planning, as well as the steps
taken to manage these risks, are as follows:

Climate-related risks
description
K15 48 B8 R kR

Physical Risk 1 2 & k&

EXRRIREBREE

SIINE

Financial Impact
BT E

Acute physical risks & 5 8 I & k&

BEHRN BEXTEN LAELER
SEEHES
BEEE () ENEBMEBHNERR
(iE)e
A
kBE

2= o AN AR A - (i) 8 SR A

LA B A A R bR i RN 4R AR
(VAT ERE - MV PRS- A
BEERBRMERMNLSRE 0T

Steps taken to manage the
risks
R EE R ki ER B HE i

Increased severity and

frequency of extreme weather

events such as cyclones
and floods. These have

the potential to cause both
idiosyncratic and systemic
risks, resulting in potential
damage to machinery and
equipment.

B8 | 0 3t oK B AR o K SR A
BVER EEANSERIE N - 5 LE
HA RS RMASIE
K - fEmE SR B E
RBHEEE -

Operating cost and
repairing expense increase
BENAMGEEE RGN

° Planned to establish a
natural disasters emergency

plan.
e HEABRVUBAKXFESE
% o

° Planned to devise an
action plan to articulate the
goals and targets of the
reductions in GHG emission
and energy consumption.
Outlined the plan to
achieving those targets and
defined responsibilities.

e  GETETHEE - BEAR
DO E R BE AN 8 R OH
HOERMER - R TE
RELBENGTENTRAET
BfE o
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Climate-related risks Steps taken to manage the

Financial Impact risks

description

R 1x 46 B = B BT R B E & b B E I i

Chronic physical risks & H & K & i

84

Changes in precipitation
patterns and extreme

variability in weather patterns.

Frequent extreme weather

events and rising in sea levels

are likely to pose disruptions
to communities across the

region over the long term,

affecting economic output

and business productivity.

fEk R & AR RERX
B R &L - HRERFE -

BE S B) R  K SR A
H AR ZMM RN
EREE REKBEDMN
hEEET -

Governments that have been
pushing for new regulation
to reduce GHG emission will
pose a threat to financial
performance of a business
and increase regulatory risk.
—EEBEFER AR AR

RS HE R A BT A O 3
B B 75 5% 4B 1 B RN B I 4 AN
BE S [ o

Revenue reduces

WA

Operating cost increases

38 & B AN B 0

Planned improvements,
retrofits, relocations, or
other changes to facilities
that may reduce their
vulnerability to climate
impacts, and increases
climate resilience in long
term.
HREET B BOE - X
o WREBECH M - LA
BEEHREZEMMRSIE -
I e & & B A |1 38 FE e
5 e

Record the energy
consumption to identify
peaks in usage, thus
significant savings could be
determined.
ﬁﬁm/ﬁﬁM%%ﬁ%

e B E R ED
%o

Engaged with local or
national governments and
local stakeholders on local
resilience.

EE 3 77 5i B K KA AN 3 5
F 75 48 B8 &ttt 05 K RE
TR -
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Climate-related risks
description

Steps taken to manage the
risks
R E E E ki BREE EE

Financial Impact

R & 48 B & B BT

Transitional Risk & & & &
Policy risk ¥ % & k&

As a result of energy
efficiency requirements, the
carbon-pricing mechanisms
by the PRC Government,
which increase the price of
fossil fuels.

MR BE R EK - BT
iREBHEI RS T/b ARE
BB o

Operating cost increases
B KRR N

Planned to conduct a
carbon footprint survey,

in order to work out the
company’s footprint, to
prioritize energy and waste
reductions.
FTEETTIRRENGAE - LAGE
BEHARMER  BERD
BEIRAIREY o

Monitor the updates of

the relevant environmental
laws and regulations
against existing products
and services, to avoid the
unnecessary increase in
cost and expenditure due to
non-compliance.
MTIRAEmMRBIEEIR
BERERNENFN - &
RETERMEBEM B ED
B AR AR 2 o
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Climate-related risks Steps taken to manage the
risks

R E = bR A e

description
KR A2 B R B

Financial Impact
BBEE

86

Legal risk 3£ & & &

Exposure to litigation risk. We
have to adapt the tightened
law and regulations imposed
by the government due to
climate change, as well as
bear the risk of potential
litigation once we fail to
obligate the new regulations.
T B 5 A LB o AP 6 R A
J& B T A SR 2 {0 i B e &Y
FEREVERIER - WAE
—BRBEETHERNER
AR o

Enhanced air pollutant
emissions-reporting
obligations for local
government, and we may
have to spend more time on
fulfilling the ESG reporting
standards to comply with the
Hong Kong Listing Rules.
SR T B B Z= OS5 R
R EER - RIS
ZILE Z R BITESGH
EREUFEEFBLTRA -

Operating cost increases
B KRR N

Monitored the updates

of environmental laws

and regulations and
implemented GHG
emissions calculations in
advance.
BIIRIBABEHRNER -
RAETREERESRE

o
B & o

Continued monitoring of the
ESG reporting standards

of the Hong Kong Listing
Rules.
RHEEEEELTRAUD
ESG 1% % -
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Climate-related risks

description
KR A2 B R B

Technology risk # 1if & &

Steps taken to manage the
Financial Impact risks
M E 7B B b B E K 18 b

Low-carbon, energy-saving
technologies are launched.
Lagging behind of technology
advancement may weaken
our competitive edges.
HEH R TR - BRRE RN < &R
A H 9T E 25 AT B & HI 59 3 AP
R FED o

° Capital investment ° Planned to invest in the
increases innovations of energy saving
o  ERKZEEMN products.
e HEARERBIFHENREE
° Research and Development an °
(R&D) expense increases
o THEEMEM e Examined the feasibility

and benefits of applying
the latest low-carbon and
energy-saving technologies
into our operation

o IRETE R &K M ERRE
BMERRNEENAITMT R

é o

Market risk 1 35 & k&

° More customers are o Revenue decreases ° Fulfilled the climate-
concerned about o AR D related regulations by the
climate-related risks and government.
opportunities, which may e Operating cost increases s RBEITHRNRIEMEEMEE -

lead to changes in customer
preference.

R 2 H) T PR T ER R
HER RS - EraE
EHESIRFEER(L -

Inability to attract co-
financiers and/or investors
due to uncertain risks related
to the climate.

R A B SRR 4B B BY T 1 OE R
% - XS HEHE AR
HIEEE o

o BEMAIEM
° Prioritize the climate change

° Production cost increases as a high concern in the
o AEKAIGM market decisions to show to

the clients that the company
is concerned about the
problem of climate change.
e  BRIERZ/I ATHB AKX
=EBIYE  MEPKRAR
AYRIERE L HENET -
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Climate-related risks Steps taken to manage the
Financial Impact risks

MBXE R E = bR A e

description
KR A2 B R B

Reputational risk & 2 & &

° Risk of stigmatization of our ° Revenue decreases ° Fulfilled the social
business sector, as there will | o U A sk 4> responsibility by organizing
be more stakeholder concern more public relation
or negative stakeholder ° Operating costs increases activities to show how our
feedback on our Group. o BEKAIEM Group places importance

o BFXRBHMNSAIER on climate change.
& 7 A & 7@?%%;1%%%! e RBITHEEME HBEZARQ
MBI EERESES BEE EREEHREE

LM ERR -

° Negative press coverage

related to support of our

Group’s business projects

or activities with negative

impacts on the climate (e.g.,
GHG emissions and energy

conservation), which may

Reviewed the business
projects to ensure the
production and the projects
are environmental-friendly.
BEEXBKIER  BREEM
BERIRR o

affect our reputation and
image.
o HEXHKEME l“ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%
M & 2 (P 2008 = |8 HE A
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ)m%fxlﬁﬁiiﬁiﬂﬁfﬂ
WBEmHE®RE Sk
TERFNBENTER -

88  Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ¢ ¢ AKEBR AT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BRE MBRELCHRS ()

During the reporting period, the primary climate-related &8N T EH FIEH B K BRI E
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts were as HIB B FEW T ¢
follows:

Detailed description of climate-related

opportunities Financial Impact
KRIREBEHEE N AR HMKEE

Resource efficiency & R % &

° Use of more efficient modes of transport ° Operating cost reduces through efficiency
s [FHEmMmR@AARN gains and cost reductions

o BB S B E T E K A A R B R E R R

o Use of more efficient production and
distribution processes

e FAERMMNEEMSSHMIE

° Use of recycling
e [EYAIA

o Reduce water consumption
o WA RKE

Energy source g & R

° Use of lower-emission sources of energy ° Operating cost reduces through use of lowest
e ERAEBEMBEIR cost abatement

o  BBMERARKEK RIS R EELKAR
° Use of supportive policy incentives

o HRMIEE e Returns on investment in low-emission
technology increases
*  Use of new technologies o IEHEHR T A 1% A 3R 0

o HTETEYE M

o Shift toward decentralized energy generation
s HBRASHMABRREE
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Detailed description of climate-related

opportunities

RIFEBEHENFARL

Products and services & & #l R #&

Financial Impact
BBEE

° Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions
o IR E E AR R bR B OR TR

° Ability to diversify business activities
o  ZILEEIREHRE

° Development of new products or services
through R&D and innovation
o BB I TIAHT A R E KR

Revenue increases through new solutions

to adaptation needs, such as insurance risk
transfer of products and services

B EREF RO R T RIG M A - fln
72 on M AR 75 B 4R B [ B 8 5

Markets 5

° Access to new markets
o EAFTS

Revenue increases through access to new and
emerging markets
i 8 AT BT 85 38 pn e A

Resilience & f

o  2HT BA LR8I EREUED B 1 B

° Resource substitution or diversification

« EBERBRILEZKE(

° Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency measures

Market valuation increases through resilience
planning, such as planning of the research in
the use of electric vehicles
RAEMREENTISEE . OINREEY
AERE R R

Reliability of supply chain and ability to operate
under various condition increases

HEENr EEMESBRG TEENR
E-pill

Revenue increases through new products and
services related to ensuring resiliency

3 38 ER e R OB 1R 4B A Y BT 2 an R0 AR S 45 00 Uk
A
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Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy consumption
and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions indicators are the key
metrics used to assess and manage relevant climate-related
risks where we consider such information is material and crucial
for evaluating the impact of our operation on global climate
change during the year. Our Group regularly tracks our energy
consumption and GHG emissions indicators to assess the
effectiveness of emission reduction initiatives, as well as set
targets to contribute our effort to have minimal impact on global
warming.

The details of time frames over which the target applies and
base year from which progress is measured are described in
the section A1l: “Emissions” and section A2: “Use of Resources”
of this Report. Our Group adopts absolute target to manage
climate-related risks, opportunities and performance.

B. SOCIAL ASPECT
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
B1: EMPLOYMENT

The Group believes our employees are essential assets, which
are also the foundation for success and development of the
Group. As such, we aim to attract and retain talents, ensure a
safe and equal working environment for our employees, provide
development opportunities and promote employee health and
well-being. The commitment is incorporated into our staff
handbook. The staff handbook covers the Group’s standard
in respect of compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods and other benefits and
welfare.

Throughout the reporting period, the Group fully complied
with all of the relevant laws and regulations in the region we
operated, including the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and
the Labour Law of the PRC.

EENMER

BMEBERBERERRFEME R R
R M 4E BE RO LB M8 o BE TR OH AE MR
EREBGHOFRERERARAEME
EHERIRAERREROBBERIEE KM
ABLBEEHRNIERMNELHE
FERRBRECNTEZFER - M
SEEHMRURMOERBERMEER
BEMIEER - URF AR PSR E AR
THREBBEAFRMZRANE N 2K
BEROFERIREKE -

KB EMAIE  “HERMA2ET: “E R
R R T BiZE AR R & E M E
EEENEEFNFMAGE - AEEH
BERYBEZEREEEFEMEBNRAR -
BB -

B.4+&2EM@
BERETIESR
B1. Ef®

AEERB/BINAARMROEE )
AREERIDEBEROER - Fitk - ;M
EERSIMBEEAS  EERMEIESR
REMPENTHERRE EHERKS
WiREETHREMBAU - ZFAEE
MABIFM BEIFMERERAEERHE
T HEEEN TERH
TRB By ) DA B Lt # o B2 48 A 5 E AV AR

# o
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As at 31 December 2022, the employee compositions by & £2022%F 128318 & &t Bl - F & 48
gender, age group and geographical region, employment BIAb[E - EFER MR EEXE 5B

category and employment mode were as follows: BT AR

Employee compositions ETHHMA 2022 2021
By gender ZEHRE 2

e Male o 5 60% 60%
e Female o Iz 40% 40%
By age group BERARNE D

e Age 30 or below e 30BELMAT 2% 2%
e Age 31-40 e 31-40%% 32% 28%
e Age 41-50 o 41-50% 31% 37%
e Age 51 or above o S51pREIA E 35% 33%
By geographical region Rt EE 5

e The PRC e 94% 94%
¢ Hong Kong o« A 6% 6%
By employment category EREENI D

e Senior management e EREREAER 3% 3%
e Middle management e FEETEAE 17% 16%
e General staff e —RET 80% 81%
e Short term/Contract staff s AN/ EHET - -
By employment mode RR¥EXEs

 Full-time staff e THET 100% 100%
 Part-time staff o FEBAR - -

Q2 Everbright Grand China Assets Limited » ¥k k& HRAH
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The employee turnover rate during the reporting period by RIREH R LM R - FE#E 487 & i &
gender, age group and geographical region are as follows: MBI MAEMT
Employee turnover rate =3 2022 2021
By gender ZEHRE 2
e Male o 5 9% 0%
e Female ¢ X 15% 7%
By age group EERARNS 2
e Age 30 or below e 30BELMAT 40% 86%
e Age 31-40 e 31-40%% 2% 2%
e Age 41-50 o 41-50% 25% 0%
e Age 51 or above o SipRok A E 4% 0%
By geographical region ZinEE 5
e The PRC e 12% 2%
e Hong Kong o BB 13% 11%
Overall R 12% 3%
Remuneration is an important tool for us to attract, retain #FHBEZ W3 LB L MBI A AT AETER K

and motivate talents in achieving key goals of the Group. We
provide competitive remuneration package for our employees
according to their performance, experience and relevant skill
set in recognition of their invaluable contribution to the Group.
In addition, we fully complied with relevant laws and regulations
to provide social insurance and housing provident fund for our
employees.

The Group offers a competitive welfare and incentive system
for our employees. Employees can enjoy birthday welfare,
festivals welfare, health welfare and other allowances. We
encourage our employees to maintain a work-life balance.
Hence, we have regularly organized a range of leisure activities
for our employees, for example, Walk for Millions and outdoor
excursion, to promote a healthy working style and strengthen
their sense of belongings to the Group.

SERBREENEEZETA - RMRER

BmERR KRNI EBXEREEBREHR
EBFNNFHEFE URERFJYN
SENESER - I AT BT

MEERNMER REERHE SRR
MEEFEAES

AEBREBERE AR NI E MK
BHE -BEANEZALEAEMN HHEE
o RERA R EMFR - HfIEERE
BERFIEELEFENFE - Bt HAM
EHREEEBEZNKREES - flm
BETMPINABLEE - INHEERENITE
FALNREEH N EERERERZ -
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RE MBRELSRS (8)

We are an equal opportunities employer who endeavours to
create a diverse, antidiscrimination and inclusive workplace
where all our employees are treated with dignity and respect.
The principle of equal opportunities is applied in all employment
practices and policies, in particular to aspects of remuneration,
recruitment, training, career development and promotion of
employees.

The Group promotes fair competition and prohibits
discrimination or harassment against any employee on their
gender, age, marital status, religion, race, nationality, disability
or any status protected by law.

The Group offers fair promotion opportunities which serve as
a motivation for employees to continue learning and improving
work performance. We conduct performance appraisal regularly
on employees’ working ability, behaviour and development
potential to rank and adjust job positions. We are devoted to
helping our employees to demonstrate their capabilities in line
with their own career ambitions and the business objectives of
the Group.

The staff handbook regulates the working hours of employees.
For employees who are required to work overtime or on
public holidays, overtime pay and additional compensation
are provided as defined in the staff handbook. Furthermore,
employees are entitled to statutory holidays, paid annual leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave and paternity leave, etc. during
their term of employment.

The Group is dedicated to create a caring and harmonious
working environment to achieve balance between work and
cultural lives of our employees. During the reporting period,
we held various recreational and teambuilding staff activities
to strengthen employee cohesion, enhance their sense of
belongings to the Group and establish a motivated corporate
culture.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® KK EBR AT
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RE MBREBRS (8)

The Group upholds the people-oriented philosophy and is
committed to protecting the rights and interests of employees,
promoting their physical and mental health, and creating an
inclusive, fair and mutually trusting working environment. We
have formulated a series of management policies such as the
Personnel Management Regulation, the Chengdu Everbright
Property Handbook and the Chengdu Everbright Property
Owner Management Handbook to ensure our practice complies
with the laws and regulations. Moreover, we have formulated
the Policy on Preventing Discriminations, Harassments and
Upholding Equal Opportunities to provide equal and diverse
career opportunities. Such policy safeguards employees from
discrimination, harassment and vilification due to gender,
disability, family status, marital status, race, etc. Employees
can express their concerns related to any unwanted behavior
through a dedicated anonymous reporting email account and
hotline

B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group has always placed the highest priority on securing
health and safety for our employees. We strive to provide a safe
and healthy working environment for all employees to protect
them from occupational injuries or accidents. Our safety plans
include the following aspects:

° Provide safety guidance to our employees and conduct
education and training of occupational health and safety.
Promote the culture of “Safety First” so that the employees
can foster and enhance their occupational safety
awareness and acquire necessary knowledge in preventing
safety risks;

° Carry out regular fire drills and trainings with communities;
and

° Care for employees’ physical and mental health, conduct
regular interviews to understand employees’ concerns, and
launch surveys to learn more about employees’ needs.

AEBERAAABK IO ZOEEES

BMAORREEI#R  REEFOEE -
BliE—EEeR 2¥ EENTIHERE-

HAIHE TCAFEEHIEZ) - (AR K
MEFHOIRCRBAARXREEEFMF
EIEHIEAERERKEST - bHd - A
RTREFERZTOREREMEI(H
LFEREEBEMTFEREHR)  BRE
THrEeRMH - BK - REMMZ - B8
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

As a property management company and corporate citizen,
it is our responsibility to protect the safety of tenants and
the public. The Chengdu Everbright Property Handbook and
Chengdu Everbright Property Owner Management Handbook
cover detailed safety and health-related operating procedures in
property management, as well as emergency plans in response
to manufacturing accidents and to ensure operational safety.
The Group has also set up the Signage Management Guideline
that aims to enhance management of various signage, such as
control on fire safety, safety and guidance in public areas of the
buildings (e.g. corridors and exterior walls, etc.). The guideline
provides detailed stipulations on the use of signage in various
high-risk operations or workplaces. For instance, to prevent
and reduce the risk of industrial accidents, corresponding
safety signs should be placed during regular maintenance of
elevators, aloft work or other construction and maintenance
works while the dangerous area should be enclosed. In addition
to safe operations and emergency plans, we are also pledged
to prevent the daily life of tenants and the public from being
disturbed. Therefore, before arranging any maintenance work,
we will budget sufficient time for tenants and the public to make
alternative arrangements.

In addition, we have formulated the “Responsibility Pledge
on Property Security and Fire Safety Mechanism” to protect
the fire safety of our properties. The pledge requires the
relevant property users to strictly abide by the national laws
and regulations on fire safety management, and to establish
corresponding rules and regulations based on the tenant
characteristics. We also strive to provide a healthy environment
for employees, visitors and the public by promoting the
Smoke-free Workspace Policy at our offices and actively
encouraging tenants to implement such policy. In 2022, in order
to enhance the fire safety awareness of the employees and
building personnel, Chengdu Branch held practical drills on
evacuation and fire fighting in June and November respectively,
which greatly improved the fire safety knowledge in various
departments of the property service center and the emergency
response capability for similar emergencies

The Group adheres to the Labour Law of the PRC, the Law
of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases and other applicable laws and regulations in the
PRC. During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
providing a safe working environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

During the reporting period, there was no work injury cases
(2021: nil, 2020: nil) and no lost days due to work injury
(2022: nil, 2021: nil) in our business operation. There was no
work-related fatality case (2022: nil, 2021: nil) during the year.

Safety Trainings and Prevention Demonstration

Annually, we held a series of practical trainings and seminars
to enhance the occupational safety awareness of our staff and
provided best practice guidances on management services
to enrich their occupational knowledge and strengthen their
adaptability. The Group believes that training our staff with
their soft-skills in crisis management as well as upgrading the
safety hardware in the community are both important pillars to
safeguard the health and safety of staff and also the property
owners. Fire safety management, flood prevention management,
elevator maintenance and epidemic control and prevention are
our core aspects to safeguard workplace safety. Regular fire
drills were conducted to rehearse the set emergency plans to
enhance our employees resilience during accidents. Safety
equipment are subject to regular inspection under closed-loop
management to ensure in proper order and allow strict
rectification of any problems timely noted with the applicable
requirements. With these safety prevention measures, we aim
to further improve the safety awareness of our staff and also
our customers and establish a safe, stable and harmonious
workplace and community.

Epidemic Controls and Prevention

Safeguard the health and safety of our customers and
employees in our communities under management and
workplaces are always our mission. During the outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic and under the circumstances of regular
epidemic control and prevention, the Group actively responded
and implemented precautionary and control measures to fight
against the pandemic with the society:

° Regular sanitation management in public areas, buildings
and facilities and perform frequent disinfection in key
areas;

° Strict prevention, access control, identification track and
temperature checks at community entrances and exits;
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

° Frequent temperature checks daily on staff to monitor any
irregularities;

° Promote remote lift control by user through mobile
application to reduce direct physical contacts;

° Arrange designated garbage bins to collect the used
epidemic prevention materials and centralise the disposal
process properly to reduce transition;

° Facilitate and coordinate the daily grocery shopping for
property owners at safe and convenient conditions during
necessary quarantine period;

° Require mask-wearing by staff and customers in indoor
area.

B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group aims at building a learning organization and ensuring
all employees are provided with growing opportunities. We
continue to promote a learning and sharing culture by providing
outstanding and all-round trainings in various channels,
including new staff training, department sharing, E-learning,
technician training, internal and external on-the-job training,
to ensure employees at all levels are well-equipped to excel in
work and in life.

The Group’s Personnel Management Regulation, Chengdu
Everbright Property Handbook and Chengdu Everbright
Property Owner Management Handbook states our policies in
training, assessment and promotion, as well as the vocational
training requirements for employees at all levels. Each
department is also required to submit the Employee Training
Plan Form regularly to ensure employees have continuous
access to training opportunities. In 2022, all employees have
participated in training programmes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

The Group encourages employees in continuing learning by
investing resources and providing a wide range of vocational
training covering business management, information technology,
occupational safety, anti-corruption, first aid, etc., with an aim
to cultivate the habit of lifelong learning for employees and help
them develop deeper and wider fields of knowledge and skills.
In addition to unified training, various departments regularly
organise exchange meetings to learn from each other, improve
cross-departmental communication and understanding and
work more effectively. We also attach great importance to the
training plan for new employees. Through the three stages of
training — company, department and on-site, we help new
colleagues to familiarise and adapt to our company culture,
policies and code of conduct in the shortest possible time, and
establish their own life plan and development direction in the
company. Moreover, we encourage and sponsor our employees
to take part in external training and continuing education to
enrich their knowledge and skills. For employees who completed
any self-learning module or attained any qualification related to
the businesses of the Group, we will incorporate their copy of
proof as reference in year-end assessment, internal transfer and
promotion arrangements.

During the reporting period, newly appointed directors of the
Group participated in the training about Director’s Responsibility
Memorandum hosted by an external party to understand the
latest corporate laws and regulatory requirements, and discuss
issues related to corporate governance, green operation and
social responsibility. Staff attend professional training courses
and seminars, including business development and strategy,
finance, legal, corporate governance, taxation, etc. The
latest applicable laws, rules and regulations are circulated to
employees and directors from time to time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

The proportion of our trained employees to the total workforce
and the composition breakdown of trained employees by gender

and employment position were as follows:

Proportion of trained

employees (%) EIZINESL 2022 2021

By gender ZEHRE 2

e Male o 5 100% 100%

e Female o Iz 100% 100%

By employment position REEERE D

e Senior management e SREEAER 100% 100%

e Middle management e REETIEAER 100% 100%

e General e —RET 100% 100%

Overall Eage 100% 100%
Composition breakdown of trained employees were follows: XEBHEKIT

Composition of Employees

Received Training EEZINHEMN 2022 2021

By gender MR E 2

e Male o 5 61% 60%

e Female * X 39% 40%

By employment category RBEERED

e Senior management e SREEAER 3% 3%

e Middle management e HEBTIEAER 17% 16%

e General staff e —RET 80% 81%
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

Besides, the average training hours completed per employee by I 4h - IR IERIMBE L 2| DT AL E T 5%
gender and employment position were as follows: R FEEIF&OT
Average training hours
completed (hours/ 19 2 | B B
employee) (N EE) 2022 2021
By gender by
e Male o 5 19.10 18.06
e Female o 1T 19.51 19.27
By employment position RREERNES
e Senior management e SAREEAER 19.75 18.25
e Middle management e HEEBASR 22 21.78
e General e —RBET 18.5 17.9
Overall B 19.26 18.54

We always acknowledge the importance of talent development
in the Group’s sustainable development. Every year, the Group’s
administrative department is responsible for formulating annual
staff training plan in accordance with the Group’s development
objectives and regular needs. During the reporting period,
we have launched a series of training programmes to our
employees to refresh their knowledge and enhance the quality
of their services. To uphold our services quality, understand the
frontline staff different situation scenario and timely respond to
their views, the Group always seeks for improvements on the
trainings by conducting assessment and collecting feedback
from the participants. This can help the Group continuously
improve the training programs covering all-round aspects
offered to all levels of employees so as to enhance their job
performance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group is committed to upholding the elimination of all forms
of forced and compulsory labour and supporting the effective
abolition of child labour. The Group strictly complies with the
Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC
and other applicable laws and regulation. We have formulated
strict regulations on managing the prohibition of child labour.
To prevent unlawful recruitment of employees under the age of
16 as child labour, employees are required to provide identity
proofs to human resources department to verify the age as
part of the recruitment process. All work should be voluntarily
performed and shall not involve forced labour. If any violation
against laws and regulations in relation to labor standards
is found, we would investigate the incident, and impose
appropriate penalty to accountable staff subject to the severity
and review any defects in the human resources system in place.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance in relation to the employment of child labour,
forced or compulsory labour in any of our operation.

OPERATING PRACTICES
B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group works with various product and service providers.
We integrate sustainability into our supply chain by purchasing
products/services from reputable enterprises that uphold high
corporate standards.

During the reporting period, the Group had 10 suppliers in
the PRC and 2 suppliers in Hong Kong. With the principles
of fairness and impartiality and incorporation of sustainable
development factor, the Group makes comprehensive appraisals
on suppliers based on factors such as suppliers’ quality of the
goods and services, efficiency, qualifications and experience to
determine our Qualified Supplier List. We review the background
information of suppliers at least once a year and classify
them into different grades according to their performance,
qualification and credit. To ensure the service quality of the
Group, disqualified suppliers will be removed from our Qualified
Supplier List. Procurement tender/quotation invitation will only
be sent to suppliers on our Qualified Supplier List.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

The Group also emphasizes on the selection of products that
cause minimal impacts on the environment, for example, we
purchase green cleaning products and/or reusable goods
instead of single-use disposable ones. To raise environmental
protection awareness and engage our suppliers to contribute
to sustainable development, we welcome suppliers who
demonstrate their commitment to environmental sustainability.
Suppliers with ISO certification will also be considered at a
higher priority during procurement assessment.

In order to establish sustainable partnerships and reduce
procurement risks and costs, we have developed a systemic
supplier selection and management system. Our bidding and
tendering management regulations in the Chengdu Everbright
Property Handbook and the Chengdu Everbright Property
Owner Management Handbook detailed the process of bidding
and tendering, contract signing, as well as inspection and
supervision. The Group’s procurement team specialises in
setting up supplier profiles and to keep record of the supplies.
We aim to integrate green practices into our supply chain
by factoring in the supplier’s track records of social and
environmental compliance during the procurement process as
well as prioritizing the purchase of environmentally friendly and
energy saving materials.

To ensure the quality of our suppliers, our cost audit team,
finance department, engineering department and inventory team
also carry out regular reviews, inspections and assessments
for suppliers in accordance with the Group’s Management
Guidelines on Supplier Selection and Evaluation. We conduct an
overall evaluation to our suppliers annually by assessing areas
including product quality, environmental and social compliance
with reference to the Evaluation Form of Supplier Management.
Suppliers are classified into five grades, namely, A, B, C, D, and
E, based on their assessment result. Rewards or penalties are
given to suppliers of corresponding grades to ensure that we
always cooperate with the best suppliers.

AEERAEBESREFERNER -
PImEPMBERRBERERNMNAIEEE
REY MEATHER®R- - SmE#
JE T ) R R B B N B B AP R R RR A B
RIFGER  RMRAILRNERELEIRE
AREERESHHER - BREISOR
ENHEROLERNRBIGTEELE
o

RTEIARENAERHERELRE
RERRMAAR  RMAZETREMED
HEFEZME RS E - RAOCERE
R EF M) RCRE KX X EEF M)
THHEEREEERAEHHARERE
BRG] EEERFRATIEFAZL -
AEBNRB)E EFMEEREIHE
BER;HEEINHEEBRETLLE -
ERBERES  RMEZEHEFNML
ENMREARCE TEBEEERE
RIR - EIBEM B - 5 SRS IR AR ¥ 58 X 1
ERMEEES -

REREMOEESE R  F%/)HE
BiEE TREIRDENEANTERER
SEM(EEEEE FEEENE)
THHEHEEHETITE ZEEEZT
B - BERMASRBUEERERTE
X)) HiEEENERESE  RERMLE
ARETEETHEATE  LHAA B
C D - ERAEEA HEAHERER
B A B A o

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 F 3

103



104

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

B6: PRODUCT AND SERVICES RESPONSIBILITY

As a property management service provider, we commit
our responsibility of quality management over our product
and service. The Group follows the Regulation on Property
Management of PRC and has formulated and implemented the
Property Management Quality Management Measures and other
applicable laws and regulations. To improve our service, the
Group’s complaint handling policy is strictly in accordance with
regulatory standards to ensure that customers’ opinions are
heard and responded in a timely manner.

During the reporting period, no service-related complaint
(2021: nil) was received, and no products sold or shipped
were subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons. Our
customer satisfaction survey results strongly demonstrated a
solid trustworthy foundation between customers and us. We will
continue to ensure all our communication channels, including
Ai Ban mobile application, Company WeChat, customer hotline,
and notice board, etc available to allow us readily to respond
to customer needs or queries and further uplift customer
satisfaction for the Group’s sustainable development.

Protection of Customer Data Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of our customer’s
information and their privacy, policies were in place in relation
to the administration and handling process of the relevant
customer records. These measures include: customer data
is only accessible by delegated employees; statement and
declaration for information collection for business use to inform
customer with their consent through Ai Ban mobile application;
proper documentary records, etc. Meanwhile, the Group
adheres to the information security policy to ensure safety and
stability of our information system in protection of data.

During the reporting period, there was no complaints on leakage

of customers’ data and information or violation of customer’s
privacy.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBREBRS (8)

Protection of Intellectual Properties

We consider intellectual properties as our crucial business
assets, key to our customer loyalty and essential to our future
growth. The success of our business depends substantially
upon our continued ability to use our brands, trade names and
trademarks to increase brand recognition and foster brand
building. The Group has six registered software copyrights in
the PRC which are material to our business, including Ai Ban
mobile application software, intelligent access control system,
smart park application system, intelligent monitoring system,
smart operation and maintenance system and smart property
management system.

B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group maintains a high standard of business integrity
throughout its operations. We have no tolerance in any form
of corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering and
embezzlement. We request our employees to conform to our
requirements on anti-corruption outlined in staff handbook.
Once misconduct case is discovered and confirmed, the
employee will be subject to disciplinary action and the case will
be reported to law enforcement authority when necessary.

The Group has established whistle-blowing policy to provide
employees with a confidential platform to raise concerns
about any suspected cases of misconduct and malpractice
through email and hotline. All reported cases are promptly
and thoroughly investigated by audit committee or executive
committee. The Group will absolutely ensure the identity of the
whistleblower and the contents of the report strictly confidential.

The Group adheres to the Criminal Law of the PRC, the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC and other applicable
laws and regulations. During the reporting period, no legal case
concerned with corrupt practices has been brought against the
Group or its employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

Every year, the Group provides regular anti-corruption training
sessions to Board and employees at all levels from Directors,
senior management to general staff to promote corporate
governance integrity and also raise staff awareness towards
anti-corruption issues. The composition breakdown of trained
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employees by employment position was as follows:

Anti-corruption Training R&E B 2022 2021
Number of employees REFEIAY

received anti-corruption

training

e Board « FF 8 8
Employees: 81:

e Senior management e SAREEAER 4 4
e Middle management e MEERAER 23 23
e General staff e —fRET 110 114
Total employees BEAH 137 141
Average anti-corruption REFEZINFHEE

training hours

e Board s TF 2 2
Employees: 8T

e Senior management e SREEAR 3 2
e Middle management e HETEAE 3 2
e General staff e —RET 2 2
Total average anti- BEIZIIFEORE

corruption training hours 2.2 2
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RE MBREBRS (8)

COMMUNITY
B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group recognizes that our community constitutes the
foundation for the Group’s sustainable development. Adhering
to our mission of “providing warm services”, we promote our
warm services for customers and also extend to our community.
As a social responsible property services company, the Group
is committed to understanding the needs of the communities
in which we operate, and dedicates to provide support and
contribution to our communities, with aims to promote our
corporate culture and deliver the concept of caring needy in our
community neighborhood and spreading to our society.

Annually, the Group plans various community activities
such as volunteers visits, convenience services and social
recreational and cultural activities, etc. to engage with the
community. We are committed to devote our time and assign
corporate resources through these community campaigns
each with different themes when conducting the annual plans.
In future, the Group will continue to exert our community care
through community involvement with a vision in strengthening
community network and bringing an inclusive society for all
individuals enjoy equality and respects.

We are committed to serving the community and giving back
to the people by working together with the community and
promoting community prosperity. We have formulated the
Community and Philanthropy Policy to take part in issues that
are of concerns through charitable donations and encouraging
our employees to devote to community services and
volunteering work. In the future, we will continue to reach out
to the communities, promote their material culture development
according to their needs, and contribute to the development of
livelihoods and social harmony.

The COVID-19 epidemic has had a tremendous impact on the
lives of the country and its people, and 2022 will be a year of
livelihood recovery as well as disease prevention and control.
The Group is committed to helping communities and people
emerge from the shadow of the epidemic, protecting public
health, and working together with local people to build a new
normal.

In 2021, the Group made a donation to the HKSKH Archbishop
World Relief Fund, and in 2022, the Group donated HK$150,000
to the Hong Kong Community Anti-Coronavirus Link, dedicated
to emergency relief, assisting citizens affected by the impacts
and solve their immediate problems.

HE
B8. HER &

AEERRTEEBEREMFEERD
BEEEAO - RMFAMERE SR
MRE  —HEREPHETARRYE  FE
TERERMOHLER - (FREBEHEER
EHMERBEQE > AEEELTERM
LEMELRANFTE YHHELRIE
HXRHMER  REANKEOEEXL
RAEit AR R HE BRSSO A o

BEASEFSIRAEREESHIMET
R BRI AR ERE XA
FEREHR - RMEGFEFESSE
HHEBERELETRATENLRIED
AitREARRE - AREARER - RE
AR AEERKEBEEB2 R REE
HE- WRMEMBREEIEHEE  BIR
BUABHEREANZAFENREE -

HEyBEARLR RELRERERE
BARGHE LERINIHEEE -
BASNETHEL2aBR) BBES
BREZBEIRALERE 28FE
BRIGEEPA2ELERINGEE - K
KEMBEBERALR  RELROE
KR EEYMEX R SREEM S
MMEERBER—DIE -

COVID-19Z EHBERE ARMEFEEK
TEANEE  M2022F82RRAEHEH
HEEHRETEN—F - AEEH IR
EphnE RREHEBREY  RARQ
FHETRR HEHNRBREFEAES

e o
BE

R2021F  AEBEMEBELAT K E
HEFREPEL]EDL B & R2022
FoAEEMEBELERNEERIEL
150,000 B B hfi =% & B
SYENTR  BEMMEAREZE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING INDEX
B #HEREABRERS

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

TEHE-E@-

—REBERBARARER

A. Environmental A. Bi5

A1: Emissions A1 : $E ¥

Sections

=2z 4o

EBP

steps taken to achieve them
HOLEBEENEZREEDNGE R
BESENERIAEHIR

General Disclosure “Emissions” 72
—RiEE [HER )
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective “Emissions — Air Pollutant 72
B8 & W IBHE | emissions data Emissions”
Al.1 e g KA BE R E B [HER — = R5 &8
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 74
BB WMIBE | (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in | Emission”
Al.2 tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity. | [/ — B = F &4 %
EER(EEBEDNEREAZ(EEBE)RESR
BERAMABRM LUEEEBRATH
RE o
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, No hazardous waste was produced | N/A
B8 8 & MIBE | where appropriate, intensity during the year
A1.3 FMELEEEENMREREE TNERAREAEEBNED
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced “Emissions — Hazardous and Non- | 75
B8 & & WIBHE | and, where appropriate, intensity hazardous Wastes”
Al1.4 FFEABREREMBEEREE [HER ) — Z=R5 2% BE
(e — BERBEEED]
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target set and “Emissions — Air Pollutant 72,73
B8R EWMIBRE | steps taken to achieve them Emissions”,
A1.5 Hi R EERENE LSRR “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
Emission”
[HER ) — Z= R 2 Y BEm
[HEm ) — A= REHEH
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- “Emissions — Hazardous and Non- | 74-75
BB WMIBE | hazardous wastes are handled, and a hazardous Wastes”
A1.6 description of reduction target set and (HE ) — BERESTEEY]
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BRE MBRELCHRS ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEHE EH —REERBRENER

A2: Use of Resources A2 : &if{E A

Sections
—:1]

General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 76
N [ R A
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy “Use of Resources — Energy 77
BB MILE | consumption by type in total and Consumption”
A2.1 intensity [&RHMNA — 8eREE]
RERFREDINOEEM K EEE
TR #E
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity | “Use of Resources — Water 78
REEBENEE | EFEKEREE Consumption”
A2.2 (AR — AOHRE
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency “Use of Resources — Energy 76
BB WMIBE | target set and steps taken to achieve Consumption”
A2.3 them [BRMA — seREME]
Mg RERA R S ERAERR
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue | “Use of Resources — Water 77
B8 & W IBHE | in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, Consumption”
A2.4 water efficiency target set and steps [ERAMA — KER]
taken to achieve them
SR BGE B KR SRl BE I RE - A
MR RKE @B RAAEAR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for No significant amount of packaging | N/A
B8 8 & W IBHZE | finished products and, if applicable, with | materials was consumed during the
A2.5 reference to per unit produced year

HEREAAEEMHNEE R (WER)
BEEEUWNE

TERARANEBEES -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEHE EH —REERBRENER

Sections
=: 0]

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources A3: BiE R EARE R

may impact, the issuer.
BARBAMERORTENMA R BE
1T A BB K SR 1 48 8 1 8 &Y KSR

General Disclosure “The Environment and Natural 78
—REE Resources”
[REREAER]
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of No significant impacts of activities N/A
BB WMIBHE | activities on the environment and natural | on the environment and natural
A3.1 resources and the actions taken to resources during the year
manage them AEBETEEREBETHEHRER
HREBEHEURERBARERNEKXN | BABERELEEATE -
VEREEDRNEREBAYENTD
A4: Climate Change A4 : |17 # 1t
General Disclosure “Climate Change” 79-82
—RIEE [R5 & 1k ]
KPI A4.1 Policies on identification and mitigation “Climate Change” 83-91
B R & MIBE | of significant climate-related issues B34
A4 .1 which have impacted, and those which

B. Social B.#t &

Employment and Labour Practices EER &L T ER

B1: Employment B1: {E &

K=&

General Disclosure “Employment” 91
—REE [ 1% ]

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment “Employment” 92
BEBEWMIBE | type, age group and geographical region | [1& &

B1.1 B BEER  Fhe AR it El

SHEBHEH

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age “Employment” 93
B & MIBEE | group and geographical region [ 1]

B1.2 ZMR - FRANRMEE SHEESR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BRE MBRELCHRS ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections
TEHE EH —REERBRENER =4

B2: Health and safety B2 : @ EE & 2

General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 95
—RIEE [ERREZZ]
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities | “Health and Safety” 97
BB WIBE | occurred in each of the past three years | [#2 % & |
B2.1 including the reporting year.

ETEBEMETHAS K E
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety” 97
BRENEE | AIEBAIEAH [EREZ 2]
B2.2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and “Health and Safety” 95-97
BB WMIEE | safety measures adopted, how they are | [f2 FEEE % & |
B2.3 implemented and monitored

MR ERERRT2EE - A

RBEBARTRERG A

B3: Development and Training B3 : 2 & & 3§l

General Disclosure “Development and Training” 98
—REE [3 & K F ]
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by | “Development and Training” 100
B8R E MIBRE | gender and employee category [ R kg
B3.1 RilEEBD L KiEEHE
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed “Development and Training” 101
B # & MIEEE | per employee by gender and employee [ R kg
B3.2 category

BRI REEERE HDHEHREE T K

S IEORESNiES
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEHE EH —REERBRENER

B4: Labour Standards B4 : % T % 8

Sections
—:1]

implemented and monitored
AR ER HERNRENT SRR
REEKG AW X E %

General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 102
—RIEE 4 T 4RI
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review “Labour Standards” 102
B EWILE | employment practices to avoid child and | [45 T# 8|
B4.1 forced labour

st MBS AR EET X

ol il 85 T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate “Labour Standards” 102
B EMIBE | such practices when discovered [45 T 28|
B4.2 MM AEERERBEAFEREEIB LM

RIS B
Operating Practices % & 1€ f5l
B5: Supply Chain Management B5 : i f& 8 & 12
General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management” 102
—REE [ pE 92 & 3%
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical “Supply Chain Management” 102
A& MIEE | region [ e 52 5 12 |
B5.1 =i [ & 5 B 4 e R 2L E
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating “Supply Chain Management” 102
B8 & MIBEE | to engaging suppliers, number of [ e 52 5 12 |
B5.2 suppliers where the practices are being

implemented, how they are implemented

and monitored

M ERERMSEENEDN - RERT

ERABHINHEREE  UREEED

BT R BER A
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify “Supply Chain Management” 103
BB WMIBE | environmental and social risks along [ e 52 5 12 |
B5.3 the supply chain, and how they are
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BRE MBRELCHRS ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections
TEHE EEH —REBRBRENEE =4
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | “Supply Chain Management” 103
B & MILE | environmentally preferable products [ e 92 5 12 )
B5.4 and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and
monitored
i B (R E IR AR B m A U AN E R
FEE R B RFS - DA KR AR )13 B & i A0 BS
B
B6: Product Responsibility B6 : E & = 1
General Disclosure “Product Responsibility” 104
—RIEE [EmEE]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or “Product Responsibility — 104
B R E WMIBRE | shipped subject to recalls for safety and | Customer Relations”
B6.1 health reasons [EmET - EF@EF]
EEXRCEXEMBRBTEL 2 EHER
REAMARKEH A DL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related “Product Responsibility — 104
AR EMIEE | complaints received and how they are Customer Relations”
B6.2 dealt with [ERET - BEFBERF]
BEEBARERRREORFEHBNALE
HHE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to “Product Responsibility — 105
B R & MIEEE | observing and protecting intellectual Copyrights Management”
B6.3 property rights (EmET — IRESE]
Bt RREEEMEREBANE
1l
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process | “Product Responsibility — Food 104
B8 & WA | and recall procedures Health and Safety at Cinemas”
B6.4 R mEREBREREMBKER [EmERE — BERELZ]
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection | “Product Responsibility — Personal | 104
B8 & & WIBHE | and privacy policies, how they are Data Protection and Privacy Policy”
B6.5 implemented and monitored [ERET — EASBREMEL

ot H & & BERHRER LB B K
MEARATEERTA

A K

1285
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEHE EH —REERBRENER

B7: Anti-corruption B7 : K 55

Sections
—:1]

General Disclosure “Anti-corruption” 105
— R E R&ES)
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases No concluded legal case regarding | 105
B & MIEE | regarding corrupt practices brought corrupt practices brought against
B7.1 against the issuer or its employees the issuer or its employees during

during the reporting period and the the reporting period

outcomes of the case WEREMEEENFARME

R ERAEETAIEEEREYE

BEMNETHLARENEERFALER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti-corruption” 105
B8 & & WIBRE | whistle-blowing procedures, how they (RE5]
B7.2 are implemented and monitored

Py S b MR W2 - A RAERE B

TRERAE
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training “Anti-corruption” 106
BB MIBE | provided to directors and staff. (RE5]
B7.3 futmESME TIREN R BEFE -
Community # &
B8: Community Investment B8 : #+ Bk &
General Disclosure “Community Investment” 107
—RIEE [Tt @i & ]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. “Community Investment” 107
B8 & ML | education, environmental concerns, [t @& & ]
B8.1 labour needs, health, culture, sport)

HIEREEWHE REHEIEE:

BIFJEK R Xt 85)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or “Community Investment” 107
B & W IBHE | time) to the focus area [#tEig & ]
B8.2 EEISHEBMEBAERN S EIEFH)
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
SEETRE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability on 2 August 2000 and transferred by way of
continuation into the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 15 September 2016 under the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands. The principal activities of the
Group are property leasing, provision of property management
services and sales of properties held for sale.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year
by principal activities are set out on pages 8 to 20 in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of RMB1.90
cents (equivalent to HK2.17 cents) per share (2021: RMB0.99
cents) for the year ended 31 December 2022, payable to the
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on Friday, 30
June 2023. The full year dividend amounts to RMB1.90 cents
per share (2021: RMB3.35 cents per share).

Subject to approval by the Shareholders of the payment of final
dividend at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM?”)
of the Company to be held on Thursday, 15 June 2023, the
proposed final dividend will be paid to the Shareholders on or
about Friday, 14 July 2023.

The proposed final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars.
The exchange rate for the dividend to be paid in Hong Kong
dollars is the central parity rate of Hong Kong dollars to RMB
as announced by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) on
Monday, 27 March 2023.
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2022F12ABIA L FE 2K BZEAY
K o
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KR R2000F8 A2 £ K B 4 B B
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GEFAFMAEEREER AR - A&
ENTZXERAMERE - RHMEE
BRELHEEFIELEDE -

ARBMB AR 2 ZBKRFIBIRRER
EMBHREME - AEBFRATEEE
Wet REXMBOMERAFRFEIE20
BB E @A — 8 M6 MH
RIS

KERE

BEECEFZ A E2022F12A31H 1L F
ERMARBEEERARK1900S (HE
R21778 1) (20214F : A R #0.999) F 1
2023F6A30B(EHA)BI ARF KR
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R#1.90% (20214 : ik AR¥3.35%9)) »
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRS(E)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility
to attend and vote at the AGM and entitlement to the final
dividend, the Register of Members will be closed in accordance
with the following timetable:

()  For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and
vote at the AGM:

(@) Latest time to lodge
transfer documents
for registration

4:30 pm on Friday,
9 June 2023

(b) Closure of Register of
Members

Monday, 12 June 2023 to
Thursday, 15 June 2023
(both dates inclusive)

(i) For determining entitlement to the final dividend:

(@) Latest time to lodge
transfer documents
for registration

4:30 pm on Friday,
23 June 2023

(b) Closure of Register of
Members

Monday, 26 June 2023 to
Friday, 30 June 2023
(both dates inclusive)

(c) Record date Friday, 30 June 2023

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
and to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than the relevant
latest time set out above.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® KK EBR AT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRSE(E)

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 and the discussion on the Group’s future
business development are set out on pages 5 to 7 and pages
8 to 20 in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, respectively, in this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the knowledge of the Board and the management,
the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations which
constitutes material impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporate environment that pays close attention to conserving
natural resources. The Group strives to minimise its impact on
the environment by reducing its electricity consumption and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. For
further details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out on pages 59 to 114 of this annual
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE
GROUP

The Group’s financial position, results and business operations
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties, some
of which are inherent to the Group’s business and some are
from external sources.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRS(E)

Industry Risk

The property management industry in the PRC is highly
competitive and fragmented. Competition becomes more
intense as the existing competitors may expand their products
and services or new competitors may enter the market. If the
Group fails to compete against the competitors, it may not be
able to renew the existing contracts or obtain new projects.

Business Risk

The Group faces challenges from the rapidly changing business
environment. Any failure to response promptly to the market
trend may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
financial position, performance, and business operations.

Financial Risk

In the course of its business activities, the Group is exposed
to various financial risks, including market, liquidity and credit
risks.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 235 to 245 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that an effective management of
relationships with stakeholders is crucial to resolving issues
faced by the Group. Stakeholders hold the key to the
environment in which the Group operates and its subsequent
financial and operating performance. Thus the effective
management of stakeholder relations should be an essential
focus of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 248 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the

consolidated financial statements on page 213 of this annual
report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRSE(E)

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations totalling
RMB129,000 (2021: RMB9,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 226 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out on page 146 and in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements on page 247 of
this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s distributable reserves
were RMB44.8 million.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of movements in the bank and other borrowings of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements on page 223 of
this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association, the laws of Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is situated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the
Company'’s securities.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, pursuant to the Articles
of Association, every Director and other officers shall be entitled
to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain in
or about the execution of the duty, or supposed duty in their
respective office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential
legal actions against its Directors and officers.

A permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
Directors during the financial year ended 31 December 2022
and at the time when this Directors’ report is approved.

DIRECTORS

The Board consists of the following Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report:

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Jia (Chairman & CEQO)
Mr. MA Heming

Non-executive Directors

Ms. WANG Yun
Mr. ZHUANG Minrong
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSOI David

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham
Mr. LEE Jor Hung

Ms. YU Pauline Wah Ling®
Mr. WANG Cheung Yue®

M the resignation with effect from 26 August 2022
@ the appointment with effect from 26 August 2022

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Liu Jia, Mr.
Ma Heming, Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham and Mr. Wang Cheung
Yue shall retire at the AGM. All of the above retiring Directors,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on
pages 21 to 32 in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” to this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries, which is not terminable by
employing company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REMUNERATION

Information regarding directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 201 to 204 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which is taken or deemed to have under such provision of
the SFO), or which was required to be entered in the register
referred to therein pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which
was otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND FTERFRRKRSD  HABAROREERES
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES MEZRAR
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, to the knowledge of the Directors, the 7202212 A31H » IBEFFTH0 - TF A
interest or short positions of the following persons (which are T+ (W IFEFHX AR ETETHAE)R
not Directors or chief executives of the Company) in the shares AR TI RN BN R EABIEE S
or underlying shares of the Company, which were required to K& # & 1§ fIl £ XV EB F 2835 &6 & 6 A A
disclose to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part A EMEZ A XIEBEESLEE
XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be kept 1553361 BRARAIFE 2 & iEft sk
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as 78 2 1T &1 & AN A &) [ B 22 B 69 48 35 5004
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, & :

were as follows:

i

Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary the Company’s

shares issued share
Name Notes Capacity interested capital Mot 7)
SRR N
BEREREZ ERITRA
=E MaE 54 EZEBERHBE BHEIHL@Ey
Lucky Link Investments Limited 2 Beneficial owner 297,900,000 67.49%
(“Lucky Link”)
FERBERAR(EE] En#EAA
Top Charm Investments Limited 2 Beneficial owner 33,100,000 7.50%
(“Top Charm”)
EEREBRAT(EED EmEBEA
Capital Century 2 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
corporation
B B ok F PR B
CE Hong Kong 3 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
corporation
B K (FH) R R E M
China Everbright Group 4 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
corporation
PR A& E R EE R
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. 5 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
(“Huijin”) corporation
hRESKRERERETAR(TES] R LB
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Notes:

1) Based on 441,400,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) in issue as

at 31 December 2022.

(2)  Lucky Link and Top Charm directly hold approximately 67.49% and
7.50% of the total issued shares, respectively. Capital Century holds
100% shares in Lucky Link and Top Charm and is therefore deemed
to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky

Link and Top Charm, respectively.

(3) CE Hong Kong is an indirect controlling shareholder of Lucky Link
and Top Charm. CE Hong Kong directly holds 99.997% shares in
Capital Century, 0.3% of which is held on trust for the National
Administrative Bureau of State Owned Property, and indirectly holds
0.0083% shares in Capital Century through China Everbright Holdings
(Nominee) Limited. Therefore, CE Hong Kong is deemed to be
interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky Link

and Top Charm, respectively.

(4)  China Everbright Group holds 100% shares in CE Hong Kong and is
therefore deemed to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000

shares held by Lucky Link and Top Charm, respectively.

(5)  Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC and
holds 63.16% equity interest in China Everbright Group. It is deemed
to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky

Link and Top Charm, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the
Company had not been notified by any persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares or
debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 336

of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Share Option
Scheme” below, at no time during the year was the Company,
its subsidiaries or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 15 December
2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentive or rewarding eligible persons (“Eligible
Persons”). Eligible Persons include director, employee, agent,
consultant, business partner, joint venture partner, supplier of
goods or services or any director or employee of such supplier,
customer or any director or employee of such customer,
and person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy or
professional services or any director or employee of such entity,
who has contributed or will contribute to the Group on the
basis of their contribution to the development and growth of
the Group. No share option has been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption by the Company.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on the date of
the Company’s Listing Date and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme (i.e. 14 December 2027).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 44,140,000 shares, representing 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue as at the Listing Date
and as at the date of this annual report. The maximum number
of shares issuable under share options granted to each Eligible
Persons in the Share Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) within any 12-month period is limited
to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant or
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. A grant of share
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options under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any
of their associates, is subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is the grantee of the Share Option
Scheme). In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, which would result in
the shares issued and to be issued, upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding), to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of the grant in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted on
or before the relevant acceptance date upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determined by
the directors, save that such a period shall not be more than
10 years from the date of offer of the share options and subject
to the provisions for early termination as set out in the Share
Option Scheme. There is no requirement of a minimum period
for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options shall be not less than
the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options,
which must be a date on which the Stock Exchange is open for
business of dealing in securities; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately before the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s share as at the date of offer.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31

December 2022 and no share options were outstanding under
the Scheme as at 31 December 2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following continuing connected
transactions during the year. The directors confirmed that
those transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, on normal commercial
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole. As one or more applicable percentage
ratios (other than the profits ratio) as defined in Rule 14.07 of
the Listing Rules in respect of the proposed annual caps for
those transactions are expected to be more than 5%, those
transactions are subject to reporting, announcement, annual
review and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The table below sets out the annual caps and the actual
transaction amounts of those continuing connected transactions
in 2022:

FREBEXS

FA RAEBETINTHEEERS -
EERAZERG IR AEEBER —
MEBBREFPELATFAEZ LT XK
RETL Y RHARRZERMSE - RIE
ERRAFLOTERNEE  ZERXHZ
EEREFELRN-—ExXZEBEREDLL
(BN ERGBINFERSNE% - B L
MR F AR ZEXHBEETER
ne -~ FEEHLBLBRRIAENRE

TREINZEFBREEZIFIN2022F 2
FELRIAEBERZHRE:

Actual
Transaction
No. Connected Transaction Connected Persons Annual Cap Amount
me BAEXS BEAL FELR EBRXZLHE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFT AREFT
1 Lease Framework Agreement  China Everbright Group 14,000 10,311
and its subsidiaries and
associates (other than the
Group) (“CEG Excluded
Group”)
HEERT = PRI RSB R ENE AR
KB & R R (REE RN
((FEXKREB(XEERK
E )
2 Deposit Service Framework CEG Excluded Group 46,000 35,910
Agreement (note) (K1a%) (note) (B7 #%)
T 5% R 7% 12 2R 17 3% PR RSB (RER RN
3 LLoan Service Framework CEG Excluded Group 350,000 Nil
Agreement
B AR TS AE 28 PR RSB (REBERIN i

Note: Represents the maximum daily closing balance of deposits (including
interests accrued thereon)

i EEERsFEREH(BEEFFE)
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Leasing transactions

The Group entered into a lease framework agreement (the
“Lease Framework Agreement”) with China Everbright
Group on 2 November 2020 for a term of 10 years commencing
retrospectively from 1 January 2020 and ending on 31
December 2029. Under the Lease Framework Agreement, the
Company shall lease and procure members of the Group to
lease certain premises of the Group (the “Premises”) to CEG
Excluded Group, and China Everbright Group shall lease and
procure CEG Excluded Group to lease the Premises during
the term of the Lease Framework Agreement. The relevant
parties shall enter into separate lease agreements to set out the
specific provisions of the leasing of Premises, and the terms and
conditions of the lease agreements shall be determined by the
parties in accordance with the terms of the Lease Framework
Agreement. The term of each of the lease agreements shall not
exceed the term of the Lease Framework Agreement.

The rents and other fees payable by CEG Excluded Group to the
Group under the lease agreements shall (i) be determined based
on arm’s length negotiations between CEG Excluded Group and
the Group with reference to the prevailing market rents in the
places where the Premises are located; (i) not be lower than
the rents and other fees to be paid by other independent third
parties; and (iii) be in compliance with the rules and regulations
prescribed by the relevant rules and regulations within or
outside the PRC.

Pursuant to various lease agreements, the Group is currently
leasing certain premises in Everbright Financial Center and Ming
Chang Building to CE Bank, Everbright Securities Company
Limited (“CE Securities”) and Everbright Xinglong Trust Co.,
Ltd. respectively (“CE Trust”).
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Deposits services transactions

The Group entered into a deposit service framework agreement
(“Deposit Service Framework Agreement”) with China
Everbright Group on 2 November 2020 for a term of three years
commencing retrospectively from 1 January 2020 and ending
on 31 December 2022. Under the Deposit Service Framework
Agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to
provide the deposit services to members of the Group. The
relevant parties shall enter into separate deposit agreements
to set out the specific provisions of the deposit services, and
the terms and conditions of the deposit agreements shall be
determined by the relevant parties in accordance with the terms
of the Deposit Service Framework Agreement. The term of each
of the deposit agreements shall not exceed the term of the
Deposit Service Framework Agreement.

The interest rates payable by CE Bank to the Group in respect
of the deposit services shall (i) be determined based on arm’s
length negotiations between CE Bank and the Group with
reference to the prevailing interest rate for similar deposit
services which can be obtained by the Group from independent
third parties and on normal commercial terms; (i) not be lower
than the interest rates to be paid by other independent third
parties; and (iii) be in compliance with the rules and regulations
prescribed by the PBOC and/or other relevant rules and
regulations within or outside the PRC.

Having considered the future needs of the Group and to
better regulate the existing and future continuing connected
transactions between the Group and CE Bank on the provision
of the Deposit Services, the Company and China Everbright
Group entered into a new deposit service framework agreement
on 18 November 2022 for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2023 and ending on 31 December 2025.
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Loan Services Agreement

The Group entered into a loan service framework agreement
(“Loan Service Framework Agreement”) with China
Everbright Group on 2 November 2020 for a term of five years
commencing retrospectively from 1 January 2020 and ending
on 31 December 2024. Under the Loan Service Framework
Agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank
to provide the loan services to members of the Group. The
relevant parties shall enter into separate loan agreements to set
out the specific provisions of the loan services, and the terms
and conditions of the loan agreements shall be determined by
the parties in accordance with the terms of the Loan Service
Framework Agreement. The term of each of the loan agreements
shall not exceed the term of the Loan Service Framework
Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions of the loan
agreements, security over the Group’s assets and rental income
received from its leasing business may be required for the loan
services. The Directors believe that it is important for the Group
to have more readily available funding for capturing suitable
investment opportunities which arise at any time, including
acquiring suitable commercial properties.

The interest rate payable by the Group to CE Bank in respect of
the Loan Services shall (i) be determined based on arm’s length
negotiations between CE Bank and the Group with reference to
the prevailing interest rate for similar loan services which can
be obtained by the Group from independent third parties and
on normal commercial terms; (i) not be higher than the interest
rates to be charged by other independent third parties; and (iii)
be in compliance with the rules and regulations prescribed by
the PBOC and/or other relevant rules and regulations within or
outside the PRC.

China Everbright Group is a controlling shareholder of the
Company and therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. CE Bank, CE Securities and CE Trust
are subsidiaries of China Everbright Group and therefore
connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRSE(E)

The independent non-executive Directors have, for the purpose
of Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, reviewed the continuing
connected transactions up to the financial year ended 31
December 2022 set out above and have confirmed that these
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group (i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business; (ii) on
normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with
the terms of the agreements governing such transactions that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditors, Ernst & Young, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the HKICPA. Ernst
& Young has issued an unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of continuing connected transactions
set out above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 231 to 232 of this annual report.
The Company has complied with the applicable requirements
under the Listing Rules for those related party transactions
which constituted non-exempt connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions. Other related party
transactions either did not constitute connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions or constituted connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Bt TR A E14A G5 T E - B L IE B
TESEER L XFHE E2022F127
SIBLEYBEFEMNREBRERS I E
BRZEFEFAEIFIALAEEOARAE
N—BOEBBIERE L ((REFEE
HFEEGRRET RINBBEEZSER
GZHENIETMET CRBRAFE
BEAMABREMEERNZE -

RIS T8 B F14A.5616 - ANA T 4% B Em
TXEHMEEMERETESHEAQ
CRMNDE B ZEZEAER|F 30005 (&
BN ERXBEHEL T EE RN
ZEZREI W2 EEEHBEMOFEIER
EBLMRAMAFEBREIINEZH
MG AEENBSERERSHRRIR
& o RXEFMEBKADRIE LR AY
F1AASIE B L EREBE R KHF - &
HEER LA BEBEISMIEL
WM - ARAE M B FTIE (i &
Bl ER 1 B AR o

BRBLXS

AEBRFRETHNHEBRIRIZINFE
HNAFEREFBIE2NA KA NB
WRMFE27 - ARFREBETLETHAUAB
AERIERERERS FERERS
BT EMBMRTE o H Al
RHEGTEBRBERS /FHEBHEZXHK
EBKBEERS HEHERS  ELE
EHRETLETRNBATHARELS
SR AR E

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 F 3

131



132

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRS(E)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” disclosed above and note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 231 to 232
of this annual report, no other transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company, its controlling
shareholders, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or entity(ies) connected with
a Director have or had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

China Everbright Group, the controlling shareholder of the
Group, had provided a non-competition undertaking dated 28
June 2017 (the “Non-Competition Undertaking”) in favour
of the Company pursuant to which China Everbright Group has
undertaken that it will:

() not carry on any business which directly competes with
the Group’s principal businesses;

(i)  through its internal control procedures, procure that its
existing or future wholly-owned subsidiaries, controlled
subsidiaries and other companies which China Everbright
Group has effective control do not directly or indirectly
carry on property investment, property leasing and
property management business in southwest region of the
PRC and in the U.K. which will substantially compete with
the Group’s principal businesses;

(iii)  give priority to the Group in any new business opportunities
in relation to property investment, property leasing and
property management business in southwest region of the
PRC that are presented to the CEG Excluded Group or by
any third parties, or in the event that CEG Excluded Group
proposes to transfer, sell or otherwise dispose of any
rights or interest in property holding, property investment,
property leasing and/or property management businesses
in various cities including but not limited to Beijing, Dalian,
Hong Kong, Shanghai and Shenzhen, shall be based on
equal terms; and
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRSE(E)

(iv) take appropriate measures to eliminate any substantive
competition or prevent any such potential substantive
competition.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from China
Everbright Group that it had fully complied with the terms of the
Non-Competition Undertaking in the financial year ended 31
December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from
the Group’s business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into
any contract of significance with the controlling shareholders
(defined under the Listing Rules) or any of their subsidiaries,
nor had any contract of significance been entered into for the
services provided by the controlling shareholders or any of their
subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEES/EMOLUMENT POLICY
Details of employees/emolument policy are set out in the section

headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 20 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRS(E)

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The employees
of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement scheme operated
by the PRC government. No forfeited contribution under this
scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date
of this annual report, the Company has maintained the public
float as required under the Listing Rules.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S
GLOBAL OFFERING

Details of use of net proceeds from the Company’s global
offering during the year are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 18 to 19 of
this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of
conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company
by the Directors and the Group’s senior management who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Company’s securities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
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Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In
addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of
the Model Code by the senior management of the Group during
the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate
governance with emphasis on transparency, independence,
accountability and responsibility. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of shareholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 33 to 58 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

KPMG retired as auditors of the Company and Ernst & Young
was appointed as the auditors of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 18 June 2020 following
the retirement of KPMG. Save as disclosed above, there was no
other change in auditors of the Company during the past three
years.

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst &
Young as the auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

LIU Jia
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BRI EIRS

EY:

Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Everbright Grand China Assets Limited
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
transferred by way of continuation into the Cayman Islands)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 142 to 247, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BUKHARS (&)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS BREXREE
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional AREZEZEARSENZTEHEMS
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the ¥EEEZERXAHEGAMERREAE

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
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consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

HMEERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BESETERRNNEEZEE

Estimation of fair values of investment properties

REWEAAEBEMET

Investment properties are stated at fair value. The
carrying amount of investment properties as at
31 December 2022 was approximately RMB954
million. Significant judgements and assumptions
are required to determine the fair values of the
investment properties. To support management’s
determination of the fair values, the Group engaged
external valuers to perform valuations on the
investment properties at the end of the reporting
period.

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures included, among others,
involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used
in the valuations. We also evaluated the objectivity,
independence and competency of the valuers, and the
reliability of other inputs adopted in the valuations. We
then assessed the Group’s disclosures of investment
properties.
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BUZHEIRS (&)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued])

BUBHENRS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEIRS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued])

BUBHENRS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Ka Wing.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
RO B

Year ended 31 December 2022 &, 2022412 A31H I F[E

Notes 2022 2021
Bt 5F 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
REVENUE Uy &= 5) 52,297 52,678
Cost of services PR 75 BX < (13,788) (13,066)
Gross profit EF 38,509 39,612
Valuation gains on investment KREMENEERZS
properties 14 123 17,549
Other income, net - NS 6 8,335 5,858
Distribution costs SaN =) N (925) (1,788)
Administrative expenses THRAX (16,274) (16,595)
Other operating expenses Hanse & (733) (325)
Profit from operations &R E 29,035 44,311
Finance costs B & K AN 7 (231) (669)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX Bt A1 R E 8 28,804 43,642
Income tax Fr 5 %4 11 (6,751) (10,969)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 22,053 32,673
Attributable to: AT EIEELS:
Equity shareholders of the RAR SRR
Company 22,053 32,673
EARNINGS PER SHARE ERAER
Basic and diluted EARK#E 13 RMBO0.05 RMBO0.07

AE¥0.057T AR#0.077T

142  Everbright Grand China Assets Limited o ¢ AKEBR AT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Mo EENEER

Year ended 31 December 2022 &, 2022412 A31H It F[E

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRAFHE 22,053 32,673
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: Hth2mus:
Other comprehensive income/(expense) that £ 1% HA & 7] 85 4 | 37
may be reclassified to profit or loss in DEEBEEONEAM
subsequent periods: 2EWKE(AX) :
Exchange differences on translation of BmEREARHKEM
financial statements of companies ([ E ] FEINAT]
outside the People’s Republic of China W RERAE R
(the “PRC”) =% (10,475) 2,819
Other comprehensive income/(expense) that £ 1% HA [ 18 1~ & 4% &= 5
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in THEEBEENEMSE
subsequent periods: Emz(FAX) :
Exchange differences on translation of BMEARRNB T B @K
financial statements of the Company B BE X 2= KA 17,349 (10,512)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FREMEERS
INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR, (X)) HIBRFIE
NET OF TAX 6,874 (7,693)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME £ 9 2 T R 34 48 48
FOR THE YEAR 28,927 24,980
Attributable to: LA & 18 FEAL
Equity shareholders of the Company ViN/NEIE E g g 28,927 24,980

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

S R ITR

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

Notes 2022 2021
B 3 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment properties KEME 14 954,100 953,700
Property, plant and equipment W BmEREE 15 1,336 1,389
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 2,593 3,468
Deferred tax assets RIEFHIBE E 22 311 1,530
Total non-current assets IEMBEERTE 958,340 960,087
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables and B 5N H AW RIE R
prepayments AR IE 17 8,013 3,887
Cash and bank balances BE& MRITE S 18 214,908 203,770
Total current assets ME)E E R 222 921 207,657
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B5 Rk HMENFKIE 19 19,175 23,797
Contract liabilities aHaE 20 888 1,461
Bank loan RITEK 21 — 7,000
Lease liabilities HERE 16 1,181 1,100
Tax payable FET 1R 1,402 1,265
Total current liabilities MEBEMERE 22,646 34,623
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETEHE 200,275 173,034
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHERARBER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,158,615 1,133,121

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PGSITION (Continued])
REMBRRE (E)

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

Notes 2022 2021
B % 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 16 1,408 2,370
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEE 22 191,919 190,020
Total non-current liabilities EmBEBELRE 193,327 192,390
Net assets EEFH 965,288 940,731
EQUITY =
Share capital LN 23 345,042 345,042
Reserves &5 24 620,246 595,689
Total equity ERmEE 965,288 940,731
Liu Jia Ma Heming
2= BEH
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

fro ke mB R

Year ended 31 December 2022 &, 2022412 A31H I F[E

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RATERRREN
PRC
Share Share  Capital statutory Exchange Fairvalue Retained Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  equity
hEEE MAEE
ks ROEE EX&EE i HERE e REAR  HEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR AR%TR AR%TR ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R202151A18 345,042 45,063 81,796 6,628 (47,148) 6,054 496,708 934,643
Profit for the year ERiE - - - - - - 678 32673
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FMEMZENRE /(B%):
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation ~ #EHRE I A A
of financial statements of BENERES
companies outside the PRC - - - - 2,819 - - 2,819
Exchange differences on translation B EARFBEHEM
of financial statements of the EXES
Company - - - - (10,612) - - (10,612)
Total comprehensive income FREENGLE

for the year = = = = (7,693) - 32673 24980
Special dividend paid B EAKRE - = - - - - (6621)  (6621)
Final 2020 dividend A0EXHRE - - - - - - @4 BT
Iterim 2021 dividend ARNER RS - - - - - - Be) (7%
Transfer to reserve EREER - - - 503 - - (1,509 -
At 31 December 2021 and R2021E128318 &

1 January 2022 2022%1B1H 345,042 45,063 81,796 8,131  (54,841)*  6,554* 508,986 940,731
Profit for the year ERFHE - - - - - - 2058 22,053
Other comprehensive income/lexpense) EME M 2 AN /(Bx):

for the year:

Exchange differences on translation & EHE A A

of financial statements of BROERZE
companies outside the PRC - - - - (10,475 - - (10,475
Exchange differences on translation B EARFBEHEM
of financial statements of the EXES
Company - - - - 17,349 - - 17,349
Total comprehensive income EREENEER

for the year - - - - 6,874 - 22,053 28,927
Final 2021 dividend 20215 R B8 - - - s S - 430 (430)
Transfer to reserve SRERHE - - - 1,551 - - (1,551) -
At 31 December 2022 2022512331 M50 45063 6796 0682  (4T06T) 6554 52518 965288
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERERBIE2022F12A31BN G A B

RMB620,246,000 (2021:

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

RMB595,689,000) in the consolidated
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Mo RETMER

Year ended 31 December 2022 &, 2022412 A31H It F[E

Notes 2022 2021
B 5 20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETBHRESARE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 7t 5 ) & 28,804 43,642
Adjustments for: AT SIBEELAEE:
Fair value gains on investment KEMENRAEBE
properties W & 14 (123) (17,549)
Depreciation of property, plant Y HBEK
and equipment BB E 8 158 148
Depreciation of right-of-use CRAEEENE
assets 8 1,151 1,286
Finance costs Bl & B AR 7 231 669
Interest income B U A 6 (2,379) (1,549)
Net foreign exchange gains PE 5 W 25 5 R (3,723) (4,025)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE BE K
plant and equipment, net RN FE 8 - (28)
Reversal of listing expenses AT ED - (551)
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 W IE R E 8 714 327
24,833 22,370
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 Kk H b fE W RIE K&
and other receivables and B RE R
prepayments (3% 0) (4,841) 3,847
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5% H b AT 18
other payables @, Crl ) (4,600) 1,117
Increase/(decrease) in contract AHEaEEN,/CRrd)
liabilities (573) 395
Cash generated from operations & & TSR & 14,819 27,729
Taxes paid EENE
PRC Corporate Income Tax BB EMER
(“CIT”) paid (EEmEHR] (3,495) (8,983)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM RETHRSREFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 11,324 18,746

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 F3% 14/



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

RERTENER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2022 &, 2022412 A31H I F[E

Notes 2022 2021
B 5 20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETHEESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for the purchase of BEWE  BERZE
property, plant and equipment XA ) 5K IE (62) (68)
Payment for additions in investment K& & & %) 2% X MBI
properties | (277) (2,851)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME BERREKB
property, plant and equipment B P15 5K 18 = 191
Interest received 2 WF B 2,379 1,549
Increase in time deposits with R EER ¥R 2 AR
original maturity of more than i =& A &) E B F
three months when acquired 2N (61,636) —
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN BRETBHHEESREFTHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (59,596) (1,179)
CASH FLOWS FROM BETBHEESRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital element of lease rentals ENHERSEARILY
paid (1,156) (1,340)
Interest element of lease rentals ENEERSF B
paid (62) (43)
Repayment of a bank loan BRIFETERK 25(b) (7,000) (7,000)
Interest paid =ENEAIRSS 25(b) (191) (635)
Dividend paid B4 AR B (4,370) (18,892)
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN BEEHFMARERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES e (12,779) (27,910)
NET DECREASE INCASHAND BR&RBEE£ZEEYR D
CASH EQUIVALENTS HEE (61,051) (10,343)
Cash and cash equivalents at FOREeRASEEY
beginning of year 203,770 217,766
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEEXEEHH
changes, net EEFH 10,553 (3,653)
CASH AND CASH FERBEESRESEEY
EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR 153,272 203,770
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES RERASEEY
OF CASH AND CASH EER DA
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances as stated #R& MR KT RE
in the consolidated statement of I8 & K iR 17 45 &4
financial position 18 214,908 203,770
Less : Time deposits with original & : 7 Ut i& i R 2 HA B
maturity of more than three Z =& A m
months when acquired aR-ERERN 18 (61,636) =
Cash and cash equivalents as FERERERITH
stated in the consolidated RekBEaFED
statement of cash flows 153,272 203,770

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CUE e

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”) and transferred by way of continuation
into the Cayman Islands. The registered address of
the Company is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman lIslands and the principal
place of business in Hong Kong is located at Room 1302,
13th Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre, 56
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
property leasing, the provision of property management
services and the sale of properties held for sale.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company are Lucky Link Investments Limited and China
Investment Corporation, which are incorporated in the BVI
and established in the PRC, respectively.

RAREEEHR

RRXEBERARTARRAD R —
FRRBERREES(RBEBAR
HENDEMALEAFES X EH
SHETMHBRAR - RAFH
% fit #b 4iF & P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands R R E BN EE L
FHMEM N T B ETE LITES6%
R RITAE R LI3BIB02FE °

FA AR REK B AR (FREA
SEDNIZEHAYMEHRE &
KX EERBRHEERIELEY
X

EEZRR ARANEERZERAR
MERERARAYEREARAD
ARTFEEREEREERA - D5l
REBEBRBESEIMAL LR F
B pK 37 °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

1.

Issued ordinary/

RAREEER (F)

MELRNE SR

Percentage of equity

ARRARMBARIMFRBLT

registration and paid-up share attributable to the Principal
Name business capital Company activities
HmAL/ BROEE/ EAF R
8 BN E L 31 HRBRE BZEoH TEXH
Direct  Indirect
¥ &
Growing China Limited BVI US$25,000 100 — Investment holding
Growing China Limited EEEARES 25,000% 7T 100 - REBRRK
Metallic Field Limited BVI USS1 100 — Investment holding
(2021: =) (2021: 100)
FENEARAT EEABRER (EP 100@((2021) —(2021?) REER
C— 100
Square Field Limited BVI US$50,000 100 — Investment holding
(2021: =) (2021: 100)
AEERRA ABRBRES 50,000X7T 100 (2021 — (20215 : REERK
£:-) 100)
Brighter Win Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100 Property leasing
XXBRATF 3 10,0007 7 - 100 MEHE
Chengdu Everbright Finance Centre PRC/Mainland China HK$39,250,000 - 100 Property leasing
Development Co., Ltd.*
RBXRERPOEEREBERAT  PE/ A 39,250,000/ 7 - 100 MERE
Chengdu Everbright International Mansion  PRC/Mainland China RMB75,310,900 - 100 Property leasing
Co., Ltd.* and property
management
RBRABERKEERAA* e/ At AR %75,310,9007C - 100 MERERMEER
Chengdu Everbright Property Management PRC/Mainland China RMB1,023,972 — 100 Property
Co., Ltd* management
RBXADEERERAA e/ At AR %1023 9727 - 100 MEER
Chengdu Sing Kong City Real Estate Co.,  PRG/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 — 100 Property
Ltd.f development and
property leasing
RBHAREEBRAA hE /Rt A R #30,000,0007C - 100 MERERNERE
Everbright Grand China Assets Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
Management Limited
KAKEEEERERAT Bk 10,000/ 7T - 100 REER
Excel Harmony Investments Limited BVI US$10,000 = 100 Investment holding
Excel Harmony Investments Limited RELRREE 10,000% ¢ - 100 BEER
First Step Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100 Investment holding
BERERRA B8 10,000/ 7T - 100 REER
# These companies were registered as wholly foreign-owned # ZEATREBREEEZMAING

enterprises under the law of the PRC.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly
or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

241

mAEEE

ZEMBBRRVREEGAMAE
(B EEGFRAG)RBRMD
(BEVBHRELERN(E L BB &K
SEAD(BREEMEEMHREE
8l - FB gt E(EF B ELD
La#E) BENAREARAILE
BRARGIMBRERERE - % F
PR RTIRIBEE L R AME B AR -
HREMERANBETE - ZF
MBEREAARETAREDZ%
BRrBHRAN rERESZORE
AATARHBEEREONTAL
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REMERRBEARNEEE £2022
FI2ABLEFEMTBIRE - W
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ERBEELEBLEER - E45E
AXREXL2EREHREBRB
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

241

fm L E % ()
REEE(E)

b) HEMENRHEMELNER:

X

© AEENBREERLRBERE
1 o

Y /B8 = B B9 B 75 i 3k B2 K R EY R
HYREMER AERER—BNE
ARRGHE - MBARNEEAR
SEESEGZARNERS AR
T—EHEHAAREEZEEMERER
IFEHBLE -

BakEME2ERENSAKED
BERAEERARERA MR
Ptz BIMEEEEHMIFERER
EEBESRB - MESERARAME
MEENRBE #xm WA FAX
AEBEREEKRERRIZARSE
FAHNREEREIRGEEARKEH
HH -

=B RERRBR XAt =8
HREAZXEF-HAXZRAE A
AEESEHRTINAEHRES
R-MBEAREAEEENES (W
S K PRI RE) N BR B B AF R s

R5 e



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

21

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the

Conceptual Framework
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021
Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

241
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 S BRREBEENE S (H)

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are BERRAEE 2 KIEFICHE BB B
applicable to the Group are described below: HFEAD HE R EHARNT

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to (BAUBMEER)EIRAE

&

the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to
its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21
if they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying
HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to business combinations
that occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there
were no business combinations during the year, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

5] /N LA20184F6 A 78 /5 #y 3| A
HBEREGAEZE ((BEIESE )
B B| A 5t B & 87 7% # % 45 &
RZZNHES - MBAKNEER
BHBTE - ZIEF AT E
B EER)EIRE B
IR AERUNEEFTEBREE
FEBBEZCRNBZERRAER
—IE B SME R o 2B INME R AR
T EHRAEBRCE R g
ZER)EI7TIHR K E A (BRI
WEREZES) -2 EF2IR
HENHBERSIABENTS -
WZEaEBERELEMIER
EAHFREAE: BIERBGE
RIS IR A ERI)EIFR M E B
AR E(EEBGHENE
7B B (BRI | &2
BZEe) - REBF2A% M
FEBESAEL o AN - RIEFTA
BEBIARBEERWHEBEBTF
AERER - AEEE B2022
FIAIHI ZEBENDES
HRIERBZEF A - ARE
NI | ES G B ZIEE
PN i3 N SE W= Y B 7 S
EEEREATE-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic by 12
months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies
to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items as determined by
HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use
on or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale
of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to
the counterparty under the contract. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to contracts
for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at 1 January 2022 and no onerous contracts were
identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are applicable to the
Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the
fees that an entity includes when assessing
whether the terms of a new or modified financial
liability are substantially different from the terms
of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid
or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022.
As there was no modification or exchange of
the Group’s financial liabilities during the year,
the amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

° HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating leasehold
improvements in lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes
potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

23 EHEMEEMRERNERBMBRE

2 8

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

AEERANZETHHRRERN
TERME R ERH R M EE

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)
(B BRMEERDE105 KX

(BB GHER)ZE285 (2011F)(EFT &)

Amendments to HKFRS 16
(BEEVBRELED)E165 (BFT )
HKFRS 17
(BT B RELER)FEIT5H
Amendments to HKFRS 17
(B A BRELEADEI75H (BT A)
Amendment to HKFRS 17

(BAEMBREERDETH (BT A)

Amendments to HKAS 1

(BB EERE1R (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1

(BB GFERDEIH (BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
(BAEFEADE1RRCEAVBRE
ERIEBHREVE25% (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 8
(BB ER)FESH (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 12

(BB EHERDE125] (BFTA)
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Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

REZHABENRE SRR N EELEXLE?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

HEREFEHBMWHERIRE?

Insurance Contracts’

N =M

Insurance Contracts'’ °

REEEA) °

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information?®

BRI E B EER ) E 175 R(E B B #HE2EA)
FIH — HEEF

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)? 4

#E B 52577 B 3k FF 7 B ([2020F (£ 57 2K ))2 4

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the "2022 Amendments’)?

W % 22 3 1 FF i B B (& ([20224F (& 5T 7K))2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
B AR B B

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

B 515 5T B E 2

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction’
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective
date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In addition,
as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to
the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply
it on initial application of HKFRS 17
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of
a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it
has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the
guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently
revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

24 EXEFEHEHE(HE)

FTREEREE)

REREMR FHEEEEER
BLRAAEANREBERTIBEFE
SHATREE RS c A E M FHER
FefttlkEEsE EREE
(BERIINERNBEEE  ER
RABEZEEAWE S B[
B TARLD BERRSBENE
EREREBEFELENEERER
BB B 1B T e O ) R E B (2 kR
ERIFE ) -  BOXREEE
RELZHBEFARmR  KIFEE
RE[MEAR ELBERT  BE
BEEBEREZEMEENHES
AAERERARK -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3

16/



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EASHHERBE(HE)

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties 2Ry
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETHNERT BERAALTHEKRERA
& E # B
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that @ BEATATMALTHTMA
person’s family and that person TREFRS BZAL
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; iy BAREEHFEHEIER
T I 4
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or iy HEAXEEEEATEN:
59
(i) is a member of the key management personnel (i) AAEBHESRANE

of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

ZERAR -

or 5%
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) @ aﬁxﬁ/m\TﬁlJEﬁ*Eﬂ%# :
conditions applies: B4R % 8 Bt
() the entity and the Group are members of the () ZERBHEAAXSEEBR—%
same group; B ERQA
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy —HEBAS —EB(EK

other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)~ the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (iii)
same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and (iv)

the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for (v)
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replace at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life as follows:

24 EXEFEHEBE(HE)

ME BERRERFTEE)

FENERZEFE HEBEYE
T 55 Ko % 5 O fif & AT (R PR 4 A SR
HERAZERNBKEBENT

Over the shorter of the lease terms and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than
50 years after the date of completion

HMEMBAEGBGFERFHZREE

Buildings situated on leasehold land

HETH 2z FHEF B 38 5T B B B B 5H504F
Equipment and others 2 to 20 years with residual value of 3% to 10%
RN H A 2E20%F © FIREE3%E10%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use
asset which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Building 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land held as properties held for sale, they
are subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
policy for “properties held for sale”. When a right-
of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties. The
corresponding right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost, and subsequently measured at fair value, in
accordance with the Group’s policy for “investment
properties”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
I # AR & (#8)

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement

date of the lease at the present value

payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised (N
as an expense in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and

reduced for the lease payments made. In

the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

24 EXEFEHEHE(HE)

HE(HE)
FEBEREEAE)
(b) HEERE

REEMBAN A&EZHE
HAELNEENRRERR
HEaE HENRBEEE
MR (B %R E Y E E 30 5 &
AEKREEERE  BURNIER
AR ETEERNRIA KA
HERNSKEEERTXNOE
B -HENRTEBEAKRES
BEETENBREEERL
THEERRIZENRBRASE
TERLEEERERIEES
AT ETFR o W IFBUR R 48 &

of lease

BRURS:EIE-FiN - s
XY R IR A

RBAXM -

EFEHENKNRER - &

REEPRRE SRR SR
EoBASEERAEHERS
FHIMZEERENE - £RK
Bk HEREZEBA/R
BR R 5 A B 18 03 A AT AE B
B & S SRR A e e Sk - gn
Bigoh HEE2EH HENK
SHPIMEBERLXEEHE
BHARBEENRES)XEE
HEEENEERTGHIAE
B HEABNREE/EN

EE

addition,

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3

173



174

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
cost incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value

and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

24 EXEFEHEHE(HE)

TREEE)

®rETE
CREENREFETORNUATS
1

BB AT e & # R (& (B 5K

&)

BEARRE SARERRERER
NEBRMERIZEHK AT E - W
MBETEIKUIEAASNER - s
AERRABRILIERABNIELD R
R MERBERNRHHREFR®

-
e

AEBEEXARD I REMKET
ZHNEERERMNEAESNER
KA o BERAMERBBFTABEE

RiIEEIAEMEE

TERBENEEEHE  BUHZK
Him - BI@R IR -

m—EREFERMEERKBER—E
R MERAE TR S —HE B
BEMDA  HREEEHERAKX
BER - AIZIRERIBUREIER
IHBARBFEEMERFTAE M
MEMRHMEZEANBRERER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3



182

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model in accordance with
HKAS 40 /nvestment Property, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model of the Group whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance
with the above general principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e.,
based on the expected manner as to how the properties
will be recovered).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods and services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a)  Property management services

Revenue from the provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfer
control of the related goods or services to the customer).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

24 EXEFEHEBE(HE)

(92N

AiE BEIEEFTR2RERSE
BHAHEEERERERHEENSE
EREEMELXEEERKE &
FMeRZEEENHOKRA  BEE
REBECDAREAIHEEREHN
BREERLE  -EREEREIES
EREENHAERBERER
MEHEER A BRERER
PR IORR o P E AR AR AR
ELfHREXHE ERARAEEER
SLBEAE 2 MmELEMF B K E MK
A o

[ @=)

AR EERRNERAS L4t &
HERASEE ZRFRHKRENM
BmAMERE -

HRARBIEBEERRNMALERA
A TESERTHRENER
HAAHR ENEZENEIRFRET -
At PHEERZZREIRRAD
RER RAE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s presentation currency. The functional
currency of the Company is the Hong Kong dollar which
is the currency of the primary environment in which the
Company operates. Since the Company does not conduct
any substantive operations of its own and conducts its
primary business operations through its subsidiaries
in Mainland China, the Company adopts RMB as the
presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
subsidiaries operating outside Mainland China are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of an operation outside Mainland
China, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the statement of profit of loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries
operating outside Mainland China are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company and its
subsidiaries operating outside Mainland China which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term
not constituting a major part of the economic life of
the commercial property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially
all the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of these properties which are leased out and
accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
days past due. The provision matrix is initially based on
the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables
(continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Estimation of fair values of investment properties

As described in note 14 to the financial statements, the
Group’s investment properties were revalued at the end
of the reporting period based on the appraised market
value provided by independent firms of valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from
the actual results. In making the estimation, the Group
considers information from (i) independent valuations;
(i) current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location by reference to
available market information; (iii) recent prices of similar
properties in less active markets, with adjustments to
reflect any changes in economic conditions since the
dates of transactions that occurred at those prices; and
(iv) discounted cash flow projections, based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, derived from the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts, and from
external evidence such as current market rates for similar
properties in the same location and condition, and using
discount rates that reflect current market assessments of
the uncertainty in the amount and timing of cash flows.
The carrying amount and the details of the fair value
measurement of investment properties at 31 December
2022 were disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

T EE 5 M E R A E (&)

HEtrREREZR (&)

EZRURENRAFESREE
(%)

HBEBRIMEONR  BAKHE
RARBHREEBHR ZENERME
AER—HERMG  RHMEES
BNERIXREECLBRLHE
RAFEE - AEENBEEEE
18 7 I 48 7 IR 5L FROBI 7 1 B DK
RERREFPHNERED - AHRA
HEEBBRYASEEEZENKFE
B & R R O B RS ER R MY RET o

RENEDAEEMS

W0 BF 7S R R M FE14FT A - AR B R
EMERBRERREZBRBILHER
AIREMNFETEEM - ZEHED
ERETER FEIMTREERR
AR ERERAAEE - £1E
B AEESZED T ER
(VB E: (2B RB2TEHEE
BEBTRMEEG - Bk @EYy
PERBRMS 2RITER: (INFAEY
ERBNERMBZHITERE
RMEEZEBRENTRSIEAL
ER R ZERELERARE)  K(v)
BEAMNBAEROREMAEDH 2K
HTARIINEZBHR(WERME RIS
MTREYMEZRITHISHEBE)ZA]
S ZARBEEREATRRE
HmEFdHREeEnEcBLAERT
PBPREZR o TBREEFECRRA S
METER - 1% & ¥ % 1R2022%F12 A
SIHZEEENRAABEE 2
BB R M sE 1438 55 -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates the tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment
of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take
into account of all changes in tax legislation. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused
tax credits can be utilised, management’s judgement is
required to assess the probability of future taxable profits.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Additional deferred tax assets are
recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.
The carrying values of deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities at 31 December 2022 were RMB311,000
(2021: RMB1,530,000) and RMB191,919,000 (2021:
RMB190,020,000), respectively. Further details are included
in note 22 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have been identified as the
Group’s most senior executive management. Operating
segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that
the Group’s most senior executive management reviews
regularly in allocating resources to segments and in
assessing their performance.

The Group’s most senior executive management
makes resource allocation decisions based on internal
management functions and assesses the Group’s
business performance as one integrated business instead
of by separate business lines or geographical regions.
Accordingly, the Group has only one operating segment
and therefore, no segment information is presented.

The Group primarily operates in the PRC and accordingly,
no geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenues of
approximately RMB9,261,000 and RMB6,913,000, which
represented 17.7% and 13.2% of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively, were derived from two different single
customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenues of
approximately RMB9,261,000 and RMB7,141,000, which
represented 17.6% and 13.6% of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively, were derived from two different single
customers.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

KEDHESR

ARBEFEHRERSLAEER

17 5(*@%“<M"*BE$ETF$‘§
BExeTREEEEHERNIRT
DEER K EERIRA NI R E
Eﬁm\°

AEENRSTREREEREAR
EEBEFEHERDBORE A
AEENEHERAER—HEEE
%5 (MIEE B B IR AR St IE [ 55)
EITRIG - Bt NEBERS —
B 48 %% 9 &0 - B FE I AR A
DEPE R -

AEMEEAERBL Bt E
12 (AT M IR E R o

FEEFEFEHR

H E2022F12A31B Lt FE - W=
B4 AR #9,261,0007T B A R
6,913,0007T * % Al fh 7~ & B 48 Y =
17.7% %13.2% * Ty REBME TR A
B o

H E2021F12A31B IFF E - W =%
B4 A R #9,261,0007T & A R
7,141,000 + & Bl (G AN &£ B 2 W =
17.6% K13.6% * JY R B /M & T [ &
B—RPF o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

REVENUE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2021
20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Revenue from contracts with EE A AW 7
customers
Provision of property management REMEEERS
services 14,002 15,419
Revenue from other sources B H i R 89K 7
Gross rentals from investment REREWEDN
properties ik aF = 38,295 37,259
52,297 52,678
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHHN W E
(i) Disaggregation revenue information (i) WEERSE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B EZ2022F12831AILFEE

Provision

of property
management
services

REME
EER%
RMB’000
ARB T

Timing of revenue recognition W
Services transferred over time BE B P 85 7% AR 75 14,002

Total revenue from contracts with customers BEAHBIW 14,002
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. Uz (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers EFAHMM WS (E)
(continued)

(i) Disaggregation revenue information (i) W=EERSE(E)
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ2021F12 A31B L FE
Provision
of property
management
services
REME
BIE RS
RMB’000
ARBTT
Timing of revenue recognition W 2 SR B R
Services transferred over time BE 5 A 88 8 AR 75 15,419
Total revenue from contracts with customers BEPaRBak R 15,419
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRETRBERIDTAGLH
recognised in the current reporting period that were BEITHBRARNREH ALK
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of e R

the reporting period:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T

Provision of property management 12 fit ¥ % & 12 R %

services 1,461 1,066

(ii) Performance obligations (i) BHER

Information about the Group’s performance obligation EBEASERHEEMNE RS

is summarised below: T

Provision of property management services IERYE E R

The performance obligation is satisfied over time B %) B B & 18 1 AR 7% X 4

as services are rendered and short-term advances BT RERBGAT— R AERM

are normally required before rendering the services. REaR EBEEREEAOR

Management service contracts are for periods of one H—ZF+F A KEEFHEGT

to 10 years, and are billed based on the time incurred. & o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

5. W= (&)

EFAEHON RS (E)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

(i) BHEFGE)

Provision of property management services
(continued)

The Group elected to apply the practical expedient
under HKFRS 15 and does not disclose the amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
obligations for the provision of property management
services for which the Group bills a fixed amount
for each month of service provided and recognises
revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right
to invoice.

OTHER INCOME, NET

WERYRE IR (B)

AEBEEERAREBGEEY
W& £ R FE15% 2 B R
BHim TRESEZRHY
EEE RS (K& B E R H# R
BHEBALABRESHEKRE -
T HASEAEREAREZ S
BHEARWD)NBRTITEOR
EZRHER -

Hfth W A F 8

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREET T

Interest income from bank deposits SRITIF A I B U A 2,379 1,549

Net foreign exchange gain HNEE U 75 F RR 3,270 4,008

Government grants* X 6 B 193 =
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BEK

and equipment 2% W = - 28

Others E A 2,493 273

8,335 5,858

During the year ended 31 December 2022, government grants
of HK$168,000 (approximately RMB144,000) and RMB34,000,
which represented subsidies for stabilising employment, were
received from the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region under the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and
government authorities in the PRC, respectively. The remaining
balance of HK$17,000 (approximately RMB15,000) was the
amount received under “Reimbursement of Maternity Leave
Pay Scheme” of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. There were no unfulfiled conditions and
contingencies related to these grants.

* H £2022F12A318 Lt FE - BT
4 B)168,0007% 7T (49 A K #144,000
70) K A R #34,0007T 5 Bl A U ER
BERFRITRERMSHEREES ]
MPEBFBPINEBERERME -
£R #817,000/% 7T (49 A K #15,0007T)
TIREBEEBHINTREBRFIZEE
R B 5T 21 J W ER H) FXTE © 2 S 1 B
WEEMARERGEHEREIBEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

7. FINANCE COSTS =N
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERK AT :
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR FIT
Interest on a bank loan RITERF B 169 626
Interest on lease liabilities HERENE 62 43
231 669

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

Bt A R

AEBEBAAMNBERNERGEA) KR
NIEE:

Notes 2022 2021
B & 20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%E T NG R
Cost of services rendered* B 1 4 AR 75 &9 K AR~ 13,788 13,066
Depreciation of property, plant and %% - BiE N REITE
equipment 15 158 148
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  fFFAEEE & 16 1,151 1,286
Impairment of trade receivables** B 5 W SR E B E 17 714 327
Gain on disposal of items of property, L EW % - BE &
plant and equipment, net BREEE R EFRE - (28)
Auditor’s remuneration % $1 R B & 1,166 1,043
Employee benefit expense (including & 8 1& ¥/ X (B &
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): EEM e (BF3E9) :
Salaries and other benefits ITE K& E A2 F] 15,039 14,747
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFTEIMH K 986 1,005
16,025 15,752

*

The employee benefit expense included in cost of services
rendered was RMB5,067,000 (2021: RMB5,328,000).

*k

The impairment of trade receivables for the years are included
in “Other operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 9.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s remuneration for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

ESRTRART M

FARBHBMIAMESRLEMHRTE
AR B FE R A K 55383(1)
@ ®) ) ROEARAR(EEE
EMmERROF2BHEBENES
RITERBHFMT

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREF T

Fees ke 780 752

Other emoluments: Ei e

Salaries, allowances and benefits e REREWMA S

in kind 1,947 1,817

Discretionary bonuses ) 15 TE 4L 1,583 1,502

Pension scheme contributions RIKE 5T B 5K 15 15

3,545 3,334

Total @t 4,325 4,086
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 9. EERITHARTFM(A)
REMUNERATION (continued)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
Fe RER S |
we ENAE RERA fit 5 @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®Tn ARETn AR¥Tn AR%Txn
(note ii)
(Bt i)
2022 2022%
Executive Directors: HiTEE.
Liu Jia (note iii GG - 1,186 859 15 2,060
Ma Heming (note v) SEA (W) - 687 724 - 1411
= 1,873 1,583 15 3,411
Non-executive Directors: FHTEE.
Wang Yun (note vi) T (B zhvii) - - - - -
Zhuang Minrong (note Vi JE R 5 (Ff &vil) - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BUFHTEE.
Directors:
Tsoi David (note vii) 2K 48 (W i) 195 17 - — 212
Shek Lai Him, Abraham (note vii) R85 (Mt shvii) 195 18 = = 213
Lee Jor Hung (note vii) 2 4 18 (B sviil) 195 23 = = 218
Yu Pauling Wah Ling (note vii) FE5% (i i) 127 8 - - 135
Wang Cheng Yue (note ix) TRB(MEx) 68 8 - — 76
780 74 — — 854
780 1,947 1,583 15 4,325
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 9.

REMUNERATION (continued)

ESRTRARTH (H)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
\ Ge 2R Rk eatE \
ik ENila MELL % o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT AREBTT ARETT  ARETR
(note ii)
i)
2021 20215
Executive Directors: HiTEE.
Liu Jia (note ii) 25 (W3 - 1,104 814 15 1,933
Lin Zimin (note iv) i & (it Fiv) - 208 172 = 380
Ma Heming (note v) SEB (W) — 449 516 — 965
- 1,761 1,502 15 3,278
Non-executive Directors: FHAEE.
Tse Hang Mui (note vi) A1 (M i) - = - - -
Li Yinzhong (note vi) FHRB (M ev) - - - - -
Wang Yun (note vi) TE (B i) = - - - -
Zhuang Minrong (note vil R R (W ki - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BUFHTEE.
Directors:
Tsoi David (note vii) 2K 48 (M shvii) 188 14 - — 202
Shek Lai Him, Abraham (note vii) R (i shvii) 188 16 - = 204
Lee Jor Hung (note viii 24 1 (W i) 188 15 = = 203
Yu Pauling Wah Ling (note vii) T#5 (F vii) 188 11 - - 199
752 56 - — 808
752 1,817 1,502 15 4,086
Notes: B 5%
(i) During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to (i) RAFAR AEBEBERESKT

(i)

(i)

the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals set out
in note 10 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. No remuneration
was paid to the two (2021: four) non-executive Directors during
the year.

Discretionary bonuses are determined by reference to the
performance of individuals and the Group.

Mr. Liu Jia was appointed as a Director on 1 September 2000
and re-designated as an executive Director and the chairman
of the Company on 16 January 2018 for a specific term of
three years. His service contract was renewed as an executive
Director and the chairman of the Company on 16 January
2021 for a specific term of three years. He was also the chief
executive officer of the Company during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

(if)

(i)

TP SE10P7 8 AE ] % & = % A
IXNMEER/MAIMAREE
BRRBIELBEREE - FAM
FIEHTT E R S F B (2021
F:A) -

BBELATD2EBAREAEBRR
BE -

2 3 & £ R2000F9A1H E R T A
BEE YR2018F1A16HEFER
TERRARMITEESRER BT
THE=F HEAEARBNTE
ERFTHFEHNRBEALHE R2021F1A8
16EEH BEEHPA=F - B#R
H E2022%F K2021F12A318 1+ F
EMABARRRITH A -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)  Mr. Lin Zimin was appointed as an executive Director on 25
November 2010 and re-designated as an executive Director
of the Company on 16 January 2018 for a specific term of
three years. His service contract as an executive Director of
the Company was renewed on 16 January 2021 for a specific
term of three years. Mr Lin Zimin had resigned as an executive
Director with effect from 15 April 2021.

(v)  Mr. Ma Heming was appointed as an executive Director on 15
April 2021 for a specific term of three years.

(v Ms. Tse Hang Mui and Mr. Li Yinzhong were appointed as
Directors on 7 June 2017 and re-designated as non-executive
Directors on 16 January 2018. The non-executive Directors
of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years. Their service contracts as non-executive Directors were
renewed on 16 January 2021 for a specific term of three years.
Ms. Tse Hang Mui and Mr. Li Yinzhong had resigned as non-
executive Directors with effect from 26 August 2021.

(vii)  Ms. Wang Yun and Mr. Zhuang Minrong were appointed on 26
August 2021 as non-executive Directors. The non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term of
three years.

(viii)  Mr. Tsoi David, Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, Mr. Lee Jor Hung
and Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling were appointed as independent
non-executive Directors with effect from 16 January 2018.
The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
are appointed for a specific term of three years. Their letters
of appointment as independent non-executive Directors were
renewed on 16 January 2021 for a specific term of three years.
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling had resigned as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 26 August 2022.

(ix)  Mr. Wang Cheung Yue was appointed on 26 August 2022 as
an independent non-executive Director. The independent non-
executive Director of the Company is appointed for a specific
term of three years.

There was no arrangement under which a director or

the chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

9.

ESRTRARTFH (H)

M aE: (A&

(iv) HRE Sk £ R2010F11A25H & £
EHEBITES  WHK2018F1F16H
EEFZITAARAINTES ¥
EEBHA=ZF  c HWIEERNRAHT
EEZMRB AL E R2021F1816H
EH - EETHA=ZF MASKL
HEEBERITES - N20215F4H15
BEERR -

v) BEBREENR2021F4A158EZF
BRTEE EEEHA=F -

(viy A E L R IR P EAE R2017F
CATARZE AE S KR N2018F1A
1B6ARAERFERTEF - ARAIZE
NITEBRZANETERR=F -
BRERETHFEBTESHRBEHE
R2021F1A16BEH EEEXTH A
=F o BMABLIRFTRPELE
BFEFFMITES - N202168H26H
R o

(i) EELZETRHFERELEENR202148AH
2B6HEEZERIFNITESE - XAF
AT EESEZANEBEEEHRAE=
E o

(viil) BERMERE AEHILLE K
EERTER LT EZETABLIE
HITEE - B2018F1H16RME ALK o
ARRBIPTEETREZAENIE
THRA=ZF BIERTB LN
TEEMZE M KE R2021F1A16H
B EEABA=-F TERL
TEBEEIIFRITES 12022
FEQH26E AR ©

(ix) EEBEAEN2022F8A26B E L
BBUIERTEE - ADAB I
HITEBRZANETCERR=F -

REAMEEZTRITRAHMEX
[F] 7 7R 3 AT f) 3 B 9 22 R (20214 -
) e



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10.

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two directors (2021: two directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2021:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive officer of the Company are as follows:

TEEEHFMESR

FRN IEEEFHEEREME
EEQ021F -MBESR) HEFMF
BENEXHFE - FRAEK=F

(2021%F : = %) & & ¥ B 18 B (b 3
AN B AT IR B f B 1
m

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in =~ ¥ & ~ ERI R EWF 5
kind 1,630 1,516
Discretionary bonuses 15 4L 406 414
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIH R 46 45
2,082 1,975

The number of non-director and non-chief executive officer
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = £1,000,0007% 7T

B T 5 6B M R 3T
BAaRSSHEMESHABRMT

Number of employees

BEAH
2022 2021
20224 20214
3 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

11.

INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year (2021: Nil). Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

11.

&

HRAKRBFALERBEBELT
Al FERR B FB - F b I |AE R F B
M 15 BB (20214F « ) o H
[ & BRI B Y B TR R R B AN R
REXBHAERZEEBNRTHE
A& o

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T

Current tax — the PRC BNEAFR I8 — o
CIT PEFREH 3,633 4,560
Deferred tax iR & 7 18 3,118 6,118
Withholding tax TEH = 291
6,751 10,969

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as
follows:

& AARE R EKE D KB QA A
FERDERE IR B OR E B R G E BB AT
MEBRERREARXEBERERHRE
AAEMBRBERAXOERET

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Profit before tax 7 5 A1) E 28,804 43,642
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEAEBEFTENTIE 8,002 11,430
Preferential tax rates BEMEK (642) (439)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT A 3,154 2,379
Income not subject to tax BARB B A (2,281) (1,251)
Deductible temporary differences not K 52 0] 15 & i = &
recognised (1,000) (1,261)
Effect of withholding tax on the 2N & B o B fff & 2~ A
distributed profits of the Group’s Al 53 /K F) B 78 40 ¢ A9
PRC subsidiaries TE - 291
Other HAth (482) (180)
Tax expense at the Group’s effective & N&E [E F B K
rate AAEHTIERX 6,751 10,969

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

11.

INCOME TAX (continued)

All subsidiaries of the Company established and operating
in the PRC are subject to the PRC CIT at an applicable rate
of 25%.

Pursuant to Notice on Implementation of Inclusive Tax
Relief Policy for Small Low-profit Enterprises Cai Shui
(2019) No. 13, Announcement on Implementing the
Preferential Income Tax Policies for Micro and Small
Enterprises and Individual Industrial and Commercial
Households (Announcement No. 12 [2021]) and
Announcement on Further Implementing the Preferential
Income Tax Policies for Micro and Small Enterprises
(Announcement No. 13 [2022]), Chengdu Everbright
Property Management Co., Ltd. and Chengdu Sing Kong
City Real Estate Co., Ltd. fall within the eligible industry
category and are eligible to enjoy the preferential income
tax rates of 2.5% (a reduced rate of 12.5% of the taxable
income amount, and be subject to corporate income
tax at a 20% tax rate when income does not exceed
RMB1,000,000) and 5% (a reduced rate of 25% of the
taxable income amount, and be subject to corporate
income tax at a 20% tax rate when income exceeds
RMB1,000,000 but does not exceed RMB3,000,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 2.5% when
income does not exceed RMB1,000,000 and 10% when
income exceeds RMB1,000,000 but does not exceed
RMB3,000,000).

Tax for other entities of the Group is charged at their
respective applicable income tax rates ruling in the relevant
jurisdictions.

1.

Fr & %t (&)

NN DS RE S VA E <R ol R = N}
& 1 7] 19 7B 1225% K i B B R 8
FEREERMAEHR -

BE(EARER DM EELTENER
WO %0 B SR R 3@ &0 (BF B (2019)13
SN (ARER NI EMEEZT
BEMEHERBRN RS ([2021]
FERFENDRCEARE— T E i/
TCEMESHRERERRNAE (2022
FEBR)) KBHXADEERSF
RARMKBTERELEERA
ABAENMMEXERN  BHiA
B & £ H B2022F12 8318 I &
EEX25% (ERMAMMBRBTE
B A K #1,000,0007 @ % W %
12.5% * 1£20% ) Bt K B0 4 1 % A
BRIKES% (EEMFMESHERB
A R #1,000,000;t BT BB AR
#3,000,0007T ' #% %8 Bl 225% © %
20% MR RN EBR)MATE
B E X o (20214F : 2.5% (& &
M TS BB B B A R #1,000,000
TL)R10% (EEMB S EBB A
R %1,000,0007t 1B T~ B A R #&
3,000,0007T) °

AEBEMEENRAREBADA
REAERESANERREHR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

12. DIVIDENDS 12. KRB
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Final dividend paid in respect of the H E=2021F12A31H 1k
year ended 31 December 2021 — FERMNAKRAPKE —
RMBO0.99 cents (2020: RMB1.92 BRERBKRARKO0.99
cents) per ordinary share 73 (20204 : 1.925) 4,370 8,475
Special dividend paid — Nil (2021: ENFRIRE — §KRE
RMB1.50 cents) per ordinary share BIEAREZS (2021
F :1.50%) - 6,621
4,370 15,096
Interim dividend — Nil (2021: FEIRE -BRTER
RMBO0.86 cents) per ordinary share AREZT S
(20214F : 0.869) - 3,796
Proposed final dividend — RMB1.90 E#Z K HR B — T
cents (2021: RMBO0.99 cents) per TR ARK1.009
ordinary share (20214 : AR #0.99
o) 8,387 4,370
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the FAREBAAREAFAATRRE
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming RENERITHR R BTN L4 & -
annual general meeting. The final dividend proposed after FRMEE - EHRENREZE K
the end of the reporting period has not been recognised as RETEAREHRERRBEE -
liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREF

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB22,053,000 (2021:
RMB32,673,000), and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 441,400,000 (2021: 441,400,000) in
issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

208  Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® ¢ A KEBRAT

FR BEREXZFNIDEARQG
BB REHFAFNBARE
22,053,0007T (20215 : A R #&
32,673,0007T) & 2 # 17 89 hn #E £33
37 S A% E441,400,0000% (20214 :
441,400,0000%) 5+ & -

H E2022F k2021512 A31H |F F
B AEBUWETMBEHEDZ
TEBA -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. REWE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1E M EEE 953,700 933,300
Additions, at cost WNE KA 277 2,851
Net gain from fair value adjustments A Jt {E{E 7 & % I 25 123 17,549
Carrying amount at end of year FARIEME 954,100 953,700

The Group’s investment properties consist of three
commercial properties in the PRC. The directors of the
Company have determined that the investment properties
were commercial properties based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s
investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2022 based on valuations performed by Landscope
Christie’s International Real Estate, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at RMB954,100,000 (2021:
RMB953,700,000). Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s management has discussions
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results twice a year when the valuation is performed for
interim and annual financial reporting.

Most of the investment properties of the Group are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further summary
details of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

At 31 December 2021, certain investment properties of the
Group with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB366,481,000 were pledged to a bank to secure a
banking facility granted to the Group.

AEBEREMERRURFRHD
THEHAEME - RARAESERB
AERNZEMENED FEER
B WEMEBREME - KR
& & & 1% F ¥ {4 13 Bl Landscope
Christie’s International Real Estate
ETNHE AEENKREYMER
2022F12AIHKE EFHEAAR
#054,100,0007C (20215 : A R #
958,700,0007T) - AEBEERESF
RELZEIINEGHEMBEENAEER
PIEEITIHIDGE BEZERRE
MEAHE BE BIEERRER
BHEXFE -RPHARFEHFB R
HFETHER AEEERESSE
B AR HMAEERR LEE
R o

AEEALORENFERELEH
ERTHF=77 AHEZFAML
BB 5 R M RE16 e

R2021F12A31H » A &£ B R | &
B %5 A RE366,481,000T 8 & T
HEMEREBTRITEALTEE
ERBITHEMNER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REWYHE(E)
Fair value hierarchy AREBEESE
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRFAAREERENMENRAEB
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: BEifENE:

2022

Fair value measurement using
MABEFERRA
Quoted prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

EETEN EATEE EAFUEE

5 2% 2%
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(£-FE) (£=F) (5=FE) @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR

Recurring fair value measurement for. ~ TEHARBEHE:
Commercial properties HENE - - 954,100 954,100

2021 20214

Fair value measurement using

RABEERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERTSE  BAUEE BATUER
HE 28 28
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(%-F) (£=F) (£=FE) @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRE  ARETT  AREBTR  ARETR

Recurring fair value measurement for. ~ EHAREEHE:

Commercial properties BENE - - 953,700 953,700

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RERN F—EBERF_B2HAILE

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no AREBEFEEY FE=-ETERQ

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil). AEEFTEE A KE (20214
) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REWYHE(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised F-EBRAREBEIESENAAE
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EFfEHER:
RMB’000

AR®ET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1HENEREE 933,300
Additions NE 2,851
Net gain from fair value adjustments recognised 18X R A B E A F WK H

in profit or loss 17,549
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 and M2021F12 4318 &

1 January 2022 00224118 MEEE & 953,700
Additions mE 277
Net gain from fair value adjustments recognised 1Bz R A L EBEFHE FUWKE

in profit or loss 123
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 R2022F12 A31A R BREE 954,100
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques

14. REWE(E)

ATHINFABEST ZMERKRE

used and the key inputs to the valuation of investment MEBBEETEH AE:
properties:
Relationship of
Range of unobservable inputs
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs  unobservable inputs to fair value
TTBRERAER
#t RE L% FABRGAE TOBRERAEEE MAEENEE
Investment Market comparison Adjustment of comparables -24% to 16% The higher the sales value
properties approach for difference of (2021: -45% to 4%)  of comparables, the
transaction time and higher the fair value
physical attributes
between the subject
property
RENZE 3% L BOE BHMENRZEREEY -24%%16% AL HERHS  RAE
BEMZEEMHL  (021F:-45%%4%) fEHR
ERE
Term and reversion Capitalisation rate 5.75% t0 6.5% The higher the
method (2021: 6.0% to 6.5%)  capitalisation rate, the
lower the fair value
FHRERE BA{x 575%%6.5% ERLEHE  RAEE

Certain investment properties located in the PRC are
partially owner-occupied and partially subject to existing
tenancies as at the date of valuation. In this connection,
for the property interests in vacant possession, the fair
value has been determined, assuming vacant possession
could be immediately available as at the date of valuation,
using the market comparison approach by reference to
recent sales price of comparable properties, adjusted to
the difference of transaction time and physical attributes
between the subject property. For the tenanted property
interests, the fair value has been determined on the
basis of capitalisation of the net income derived from the
existing tenancies with due allowance for reversionary
income potential of the respective properties and where
appropriate, also made reference to the comparable
market transactions.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

(2021 : 6.0%£6.5%) MK

ETURTENRENE  KEE
BH - BORFXIER MOERE
BEHAONKRR /it RN EE
EANYERED  HEAREERTE
FREXEZEEARRGEEANAL
BIEG - M B BEA2Z A
MEMNTCHETELRFTOYROR
FRERYIEBE c ZRELAE -
HRBEDEED 2AEEDN
BRIHAOEEZ FRENERR
AT TEEISDENER
WAED  AR(NEE)2EAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % BERRKR®HE

Buildings
held for own Equipment
use and others Total
BFFERAEF RERHM #
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTRT ARBTR AR®TxR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2021 R202141 818 243 4,584 4,827
Additions NE — 68 68
Disposals k= (122) (526) (648)
Exchange realignment bE X 3 & - (21) 21)
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12 A31H &

1 January 2022 202241 H1H 121 4,105 4,226
Additions NE — 62 62
Exchange realignment bE 5, 58 - 69 69
At 31 December 2022 7R2022%12 H31H 121 4,236 4,357
Accumulated depreciation EtFERRE:

and impairment:

At 1 January 2021 7202141 A1H 20 3,160 3,180
Charge during the year F R 8 140 148
Disposals A== (12) (473) (485)
Exchange realignment bE W 38 2 — 6) 6)
At 31 December 2021 and M2021F12 4318 &

1 January 2022 20224F1 A1H 16 2,821 2,837
Charge during the year FANME 6 152 158
Exchange realignment bE 0 38 2 - 26 26
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12 A31H 22 2,999 3,021
Net carrying amount: BREEE:

At 31 December 2022 R2022%12 A31H 99 1,237 1,336
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12 H31H 105 1,284 1,389

A B R EE RIEE R S
BRI R E -

All of the Group’s ownership interests in buildings held for
own use are located in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

16. LEASES 16.

The Group as a lessee

The Group has a lease contract for office premises in
Hong Kong used in its operations. The lease of the office
premises has a lease term of 3 years (2021: 3 years).
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased asset.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as

HE

XEBEEBEAEEA
AEBREEMAE BRG]
EHEAY - P Q5T A A 5
B=FQ02IF =F) - NEERE
TEEENSHEEEE -

(a) EFHEEE

AKEEAELAERTDERST
NEEENIAT -

follows:

RMB’000
AR® T
As at 1 January 2021 7R2021F1A1H 1,539
Modification E 3,239
Depreciation charge TEER (1,286)
Exchange realignment b 5 5 B (24)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2021612 318 & 2022F1/51H
1 January 2022 3,468
Depreciation charge TEER (1,151)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 38 B 276
As at 31 December 2022 72022512 A31H 2,593
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE (&)

note 30(d) to the financial statements.

Bt 5E30(dl) % B&

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAMEAGE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEESE
The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities AEEHEAGEREELRER
and the movements during the year are as follows: BT
RMB’000
AR¥B T
As at 1 January 2021 7K2021F1A1H 1,595
Modification 1B 3,239
Accretion of interest recognised FRRERAEE M
during the year 43
Payments NE-N (1,383)
Exchange realignment PE 5 5 B (24)
As at 31 December 2021 and 2021612 A318 k202241 A1H
1 January 2022 3,470
Accretion of interest recognised F AR T B8
during the year 62
Payments 3R (1,218)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B 275
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%12 H31H 2,589
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBTT
Analysed into: SaR) W=
Current portion BV ER & 5> 1,181 1,100
Non-current portion FEBNER & 1,408 2,370
2,589 3,470
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEAGEINHI MR B RwE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) rEBERAMEAGE)
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) BEEREBERIANESHEN
relation to leases are as follows: T
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREF T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEME 62 43
Depreciation charge of EREEENEER
right-of-use assets 1,151 1,286
Total amount recognised in RERERESSE
profit or loss 1,213 1,329
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed (d HENBRSREBAERBBER
in notes 25(c) to the financial statements. KK E25(c) W E -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

16. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of three commercial properties in the PRC under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases
generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB38,295,000 (2021:
RMB37,259,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

16. A& (&)

AEBEREAA

AEERBECLEHETHHEBEER
EMEM T4 EPBEZHEM
RABENEEYE - BB —REX
HAPYXNEREZEEBREERMR
RERBPHEAR - AEBFRE
R WA A RK38,2950007T
(20214 : A R ¥37,259,0007T) © #f
15 B 7 B 7% R R BT 55 o

MR2022F12A31H » A £ E R # B
HMEFYMTAMEEEREER X
REAR FEW A BIR A EM T

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AREF T

Within one year —F A 22,220 34,839
After one year but within two years —FREMENRN 19,234 23,098
After two years but within three years M EEEBE=F R 17,416 20,659
After three years but within four years =4 1& 18 Q4 A 16,587 17,776
After four years but within five years IFE#EEBERFER 15,666 17,184
After five years hE% 43,871 59,175
134,994 172,731
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

17. ESREMEBRURERBANRE

PREPAYMENTS

Notes 2022 2021
B E 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T NG R
Trade receivables 25 EIEIE 6,472 2,954
Impairment BAE (1,243) (529)
(@) 5,229 2,425

Other receivables and prepayments £ th & U 3018 K
B R IB (o) 2,784 1,462
8,013 3,887

(@) Trade receivables are due for payment pursuant to the

(@ WREBZEGER EHEKKA

terms of the agreements. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the payment

A -AEEBAETE W
MEPH TR

0N SR [ R M e 1B B R F
B BEHRNESEKIA

schedule and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

BB DM

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARETIT

Within 1 month 18 A A" 4,361 2,425
1 to 2 months 1£22M@ A 243 =
2 to 3 months 2%231E A 625 —
5,229 2,425
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

@)

(continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of trade receivables are as follows:

17.

B3
(#&)

(@

REMEBERRERBEMNKE

(&)

B 5 & WK I8 1) LB RS 98 R
ZEHmT:

2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

At beginning of year F 1) 529 202
Impairment losses, net (note 8) BB B B F R (M1 EE8) 714 327
At end of year FR 1,243 529

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure ECLs. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Trade
receivables are written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the customer does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

REREEHRBREBREEE
TRESN Ut ERBEE
BiE -BRARENELEE
BEEERIRXATRAEFE
MEBEERAEREZE B
Y EBRBEAEENRE PR
E—FEROSERBHKENE
BREE - R ERBAA RN
EER BEBEREER®ER
HOUSNEEEEZE B
I R R E R IRBI &
BERAISEER - WL EERA
W E BT R - B 5 R W R IR (B
DRER) GBS HA
SERASEPLEEEX WA
KRAELERHNRERIAE
BETHMIFHFIE 2 —RIBER °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 17. EShEMEWRRE R AN RIE
PREPAYMENTS (continued) (18)
(@ (continued) @ (#&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk ATHEHYE@EERBEEEREY
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a AEEESEWKEREERR
provision matrix: & #
As at 31 December 2022 7A2022F12H31H

Past due Past due
within over

Current 90 days 90 days
N8  AHM0AR BEEAWA

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 1.38% 435% 100% 19.2%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FHABEANRETT) 4422 1,536 514 6,472
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEBRARETT) 61 668 514 1,243
As at 31 December 2021 1K2021612 A31H
Past due Past due
within over
Current 90 days 90 days Total
M AmH0RA AEBBENAE @t
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 0.6% = 100% 17.9%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FHABEANRETT) 2,440 = 514 2,954
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEBR(ARET) 15 — 514 529
(b) The financial assets included in the balances relate by #HEANEMEERTHEE
to receivables for which there was no recent history VR kBTaHSENREIK
of default and past due amounts. As at 31 December RIAA B > 20224 K 20214
2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed to 12A31H  BEEEBEIEAE
be minimal. (I UNE
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31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

RERBITHER

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Deposits with banks RITFE R 214,885 203,723

Cash on hand EFRE 23 47

Cash and bank balances e KIRTT & 8 214,908 203,770
Less: Time deposits with original B W R R B HR R

maturity of more than three Hid=1E A
months when acquired E BT 3K (61,636) =
Cash and cash equivalents BHERBEEEEYD 153,272 203,770

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB95,425,000 (2021: RMB82,634,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits, of
which the original maturity was three months or less, are
made depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

RBEHR AEBUAREF
BERNRESABTEHKABARE
95,425,0007C (20214 : A R #&
82,634,0007L) - AR TR B A K
BEEMEE AWM BEFBER
o ONBE B FRAR I DA N 45 0B - BE K
NEEERAT AEBEERER
ERBNEEBZRITBARER
BMAEEMER -

FATHSIREARITE A R T
BHFEHEF S o REBE=E A
KT E BT BT R EAEE
MAEEAEE  LIREE TS
BHAKHE - BITEBTIEHR
Y R AR R
B3R 1T o
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19. ESREMENRE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARBT T

Trade payables 2 5 IR 621 1,439
Interest payable J& - A1 B - 22
Other taxes and charges payable HtENHBEREA 401 245
Deposits received B Wi & 3,777 5,204
Accrued payroll and other benefits FE 5t & & K A th 13 A 3,400 2,896
Rental receipt-in-advance B R & A 10,008 12,302
Other payables H A & 1~ ;B 968 1,689
19,175 23,797

EEERARTNEZERMNREARR
FHRERZHR A RRE D0

Included in the balance are trade payables with the
following ageing analysis based on the invoice date as at

the end of the reporting period: D
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR T T
Within 3 months 3fE AR 139 235
Over 3 months 3 A E 482 1,204
621 1,439
20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. EHNEE
KRNI T8 31 December 1 January
2022 2021 2021
2022%F 20214F 20214
12H31H 12H31H 1H1H8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREF T ARBFT
Short-term advances received B Y FF 52 B % 5%
from customers
Provision of property REMEEERD
management services 888 1,461 1,066

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to render property management services. The decrease
(2021: increase) in contract liabilities was mainly due to the
decrease (2021: increase) in billing in short-term advances
received from customers at the end of the years.

ERNEEEBREKRREHRYEEER
BRRHBBRR - EHAERD (2021
FRIDEFEHRFRDEBERET
F 58 5 BR BB 2 (20214 : 38 0) Y
o
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31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

21.

BANK LOAN BITER
2021
20214
Effective
interest rate
per annum
(%) Maturity RMB’'000
B R FF =X
(%) A=y = AR T T
Current BN H#A
Current portion of a long term R Hi R 17 B & &Y 5.05% 2022 7,000
bank loan — secured BNEAEf 5 — A& 37
2021
20214
RMB’000
AREFIT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loan repayable: ARUATHBEEERITER:
Within one year or on demand —FRHEEK 7,000

As at 31 December 2021, a bank loan with a carrying value
of RMB7,000,000 was secured by investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB366,481,000
owned by the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the bank loan
was fully repaid and the respective security was released.

R2021F12A831H EEEAAR
7,000,000t R ITE XA AREE
Fris R4 E A/ A R %366,481,000
TR EYEERR -

#H E2022F12A31H IEF E © R 1T

EREZBEERMBENFCDER
% o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

22. DEFERRED TAX 22, EIERBE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during FREERBEEREEMNE SN
the year are as follows: ™

Revaluation ~ Withholding

Provision of tax on

for interest Provision for  investment interest
payment Credit losses depreciation  properties  receivables Others Total
RERH Bt EKAS

BF  GEER  VERE  REVE s -4 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%Tr AR%Tr ARETT ARMTR AR%TR AR%TR  ARETx
At 1 January 2021 UALIGIE 1,298 8 00 (1774 91) YY) (16237)
Deferred tax credited/(charged o EAEHABER
the consolidated statement of  5tA /(3184

profit or loss during the year EtHE - 8 (1,996) (4,387) = 183 (6,118)
At 31 December 2021 and ROANERANER
1 January 2022 20021 B 1,398 19 (@700  (122.135) (391) g (188,490)

Deferred tax credited/(charged)to ERERABRR

the consolidated statementof ~ 5F A/ (318 &

profit or loss during the year ERfs (1,398) 179 (1,818) (31) 301 (44) (3,118)
At 31 December 2022 N202F128317 - 3 (68,904) (122,166) - (849) (191,608)

g
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31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

22. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

22, I fE B E (F)

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Deferred tax assets recognised in the R&R4& ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁu‘:&%
consolidated statement of financial BROELEHBEEE
position 311 1,530
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in RERE BBk &
the consolidated statement of BRNELCHIBEE
financial position (191,919) (190,020)
(191,608) (188,490)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect THIEERERECEHIBEE
of the following items:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBT T
Deductible temporary differences AT R E R 17,869 12,278

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the above items as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the above
items can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10% (2021: 5% or 10%). The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

HARB S TKAEEH ERB G A AT A
A EIBE - M B IR
BERRLEREEE °

BEFHECERSHRE RPER
MK MINEIRE R ERIBEINEE
EZFEIRR B BRI0%H TR & 78
M - 5% R F B2008F1818 #£ £
- @ A R2007F12A31B A M &
Ko MR BR R EEINGE EFTE
RIEERBRIIBEMEHZE (A ER
EEANREZEMHENR - AEE
mE " #AMREE%H10% (2021
F:5%10%)c Bt A& B H
BEEABE A KRB AR S
2008F1ATHRREEMNRBFFT IR
RIR% S8 B RL -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3

225



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

22,

23.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately RMB2,830,000 at
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB1,930,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021 represented the issued capital of the
Company and a summary of the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company is as follows:

22,

23.

i #E %08 ()

R2022F12A31H » AN & B I & i
T o B P B BR ST B9 B B R R B B
TE 0 &9 K B 5 & ) B FE A5 A T8 40
HERELERE EERE %5
By B A B R Al R A5 2R 1~ K 7] € 9 Ik
BB F - P2022F12A31H  #
FRERHBARMNIEER B M
BRI ERELEHREEENT R =
REBEX A A REE2,830,0007T (2021
& A R#%1,930,0007T) °

S
MR2022F12 A31H Kk2021F12 A31H

MR AEARARREBETRA AR
FUEERBETRABENT

2022 2021
20224 20214
US$’000 US$’000
FEx FET
Authorised: JETE
4,000,000,000 (2021: ERMmECIETH
4,000,000,000) ordinary 4,000,000,0000% (20214 :
shares of US$0.1 each 4,000,000,0000% ) I i % 400,000 400,000
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥B T AR T T
Issued and fully paid: BERITRAT:
441,400,000 (2021: 441,400,0008% (20214 :
441,400,000) ordinary 441,400,0000% ) & 38 A%
shares 345,042 345,042

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and each of
them is entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company’s residual assets.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

24. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial
statements.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account of
the Company are distributable to shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of the business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve consisted of (i) merger reserve of
RMB26,800,000 which was resulted from a business
combination involving entities under common control
in 2010; (ii) reserve of RMB44,685,000 due to share
repurchase of Chengdu Everbright International
Mansion Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in 2014; and (iii) a waiver of an amount due
to Capital Century Company Limited, an intermediate
holding company of the Company, of RMB10,311,000
in 2016.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of companies outside the PRC.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

24, f#1E

RAFERENBEFE  NEEMNRH
BeELMEBES RN HERROLER
BRDEHKRET -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

IR 10 5 B

@%%@%E%%ﬁ%ﬁ%@
AEEE RERASHEEAR

P NN/N T%ﬁmT%WMé
FRAIH DK TARA BRI
AREERZE YIRS BRI -
ARABNBRRAINRAEE
BEBERIHOER

EXfEE

ﬁ$%ﬁaﬁnmm¢xﬂ
THERBEBEHELENE
Bt % 5 A R #26,800,0007T :
(fEAXRE 2 E W B R R KE
HANBEBRRERRRQFRKR2014
FELOBROHERNHEBEARE
44685000ﬁ5'&4mnﬁ1¢ZK
AFREZERARBBEKESRR
A a B R IE A R #10,311,000
TCHR20164F 1 2 Bk o

S EE 1k 18

SMEE fE B B B B R B R S A
WW%%M@ %%tm%ﬁ
SNEE = B8 o ak i R TO AR 1B B A
WM E24H I AR
BE 3R e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

24. RESERVES (continued)

(iv) PRC statutory reserve

(v)

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group are required to transfer 10%
of their profit after taxation (after offsetting the losses
in the preceding years), as determined under the
PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their
registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to cover previous
years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders
in proportion to their existing shareholdings or by
increasing the par value of the shares currently held
by them, provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Fair value reserve

A certain portion of a property previously occupied
by the Group as owner-occupied property was
transferred to investment properties in 2020 and a
revaluation surplus was credited to fair value reserve
to account for the difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property at the date
of change in use, determined by using the market
comparison approach by independent firms of
valuers.

The fair value reserve of the Group was not
distributable as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

24, f#4& ()

(iv) PBEEE B

(v)

REPERBE  AEEHH
5 B 8 2 B 28 S EL AR AR DB (R
HEHEEFEREE)M10% (M
TEEHIEREBEE)BAEE
BHRFHE BEEuMEERE
EHFEMEAREE0% °

HzREENEALARRRR
DR B ZBIETT ©

EEATESARERBBRASF
EHMEEAE) LaERE
BRBEENFR LA R EET
TR EMERSFEZ RN
EEMNSNELARA ELE
MBETEMNEHRTERFME
R H)25% o

DREERE

R20204F S BT A AN & B {5 A
ERERMENYMESR TS
EBEZIREYE MEMR
BEIARDRBEBE  AAR
ERMERBZEEHAHMNE
HAEEALEBEEIHNEZE
ZEBRRBULGEMKABTS
LEEBEEE ©

MR20224 K 202112 A31H » A
SENAREBERETAIDIK



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

25. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

()  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group had non-cash modifications to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,239,000
and RMBS3,239,000, respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for the office premises.

25, GEBRERERWEE

(@) EEHFREXEH

(i) & =2021F128318 1k F
E BB/ SANEE
ZHEME AEEH®
AEEAERHEHEAEGEN
FREBEHRIMNABAR

#3,239,0007T & A R #&

3,239,0007T °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFTHELENEGEEH
activities
Listing Interest
expenses payable
included included
in trade in trade
and other  and other Lease
Bank loan payables payables liabilities
tABSR  GHABSR
At EAHE HttEEHE
RITER tHEE WERTES HELE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%®TR AR%TR AR¥Tx
At 1 January 2021 #202141 518 14,000 551 31 1,595
Modification Bk - - - 8,239
Reversal g - (551) - -
Changes from financing cash flows HERGREE (7,000) = (635) (1,383)
Finance costs HEKA - - 626 43
Foreign exchange movement HME # - - - (24)
At 31 December 2021 and R2021E12 4318 R
1 January 2022 2022%1A18 7,000 - 22 3,470
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREL (7,000) - (191) (1,218)
Finance costs HERK - - 169 62
Foreign exchange movement HNEZH - - - 275
At 31 December 2022 120225124318 - - - 2,589
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

25. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25. ERERERMZE(E)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESRHHAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the BeRearit ANEERESR
statement of cash flows is as follows: MR :
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within financing activities REEEEHN 1,218 1,383
26. COMMITMENTS 26. EIE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the AEERREPRAEATEREE:

end of the reporting period:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Contracted, but not provided for: BETABE R B -
Additions to investment properties REREMHE 728 771
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

@)

The Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year:

27. BBARS

@)

Related parties: 78 Bk
Property leasing income EBRERA
Property management income MEEERA
Placement of deposits 5 7 3K
Withdrawal of deposits IR EUF K

AEBRFENEFB T BEUT

RS

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T T
10,005 10,278
306 306
1,083,880 112,696
1,084,851 106,077

Other transactions with related parties:

The Group has entered into a loan service framework
agreement with China Everbright Group Limited dated
2 November 2020 (the “Agreement”) for a term of five
years commencing retrospectively from 1 January
2020 and ending on 31 December 2024, details of
which are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 2 November 2020. During the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021, the Group has not utilised
any facilities of the Agreement.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Cash and cash equivalents placed

7 DA B Bt R 17 Y

with a related bank RehBReEEY
Trade receivables 25 EMNRIE

Trade and other payables

B 5 N E b A 5OR

HEBTNEMBRS:

AEEERFABRALRKEEERA
AIR2020F 11 A2H % 51 E &R
BEEGHE(ZHED B
20201818 #£ Z=2024%F12
A31BIEAHATE  BEFB
7 R A RQ R B H A20205F 11
A2B ) A & o KRB 220224
%2021512 A318 It £ B » &
=B I K 5 PR A% 1 o A9 (X {7 B
ﬁ °

HR T R EE SR

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
24,588 25,559
1,590 795
7,294 7,099
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 27.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the

BBL X5 (&)

d AEEXTEZEEEABME:

Group:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Directors’ fees B0 780 752
Salaries, allowances and benefits in ¥ 4% « 85 &
kind B A = 3,103 2,896
Discretionary bonuses B 15 T8 4L 1,852 1,783
Pension scheme contributions BIREET B R 46 45
Total compensation paid to key TRFEEEEAEN
management personnel R e 5,781 5,476

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive
officer’s emoluments are included in note 9 to the
financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of property
leasing income from Everbright Securities Company
Limited, Everbright Xinglong Trust Co., Ltd. and China
Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. and deposits service from China
Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules are provided in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report.
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ERARBHRERODBRAR XK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Financial assets

28. REHEBSINEMTA

RBEERRS B TEMNER
(EROINE

EMEE

2022 2021

20224 20214
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised cost amortised cost
= # 85 B A< 12 8 S5 B AR
FTEMNEREE RHELEL Y

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARE T T
Financial assets included in trade and &t A2 5 & H ) fE IR
other receivables and prepayments SR M A RIAR
EREE 7,035 3,273
Cash and bank balances He RIRITHER 214,908 203,770
221,943 207,043
Financial liabilities cREE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
1% 8 8H BR AS 12 8 55 K R
FTENEREE EElTkAEEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Financial liabilities included in trade &t A B 5 & £ th fE +f

and other payables REHNERARE 5,366 8,354
Bank loan RITER - 7,000
5,366 15,354
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
0 # M AR &E (#8)

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

29. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
bank balances, financial assets included in trade and other
receivables and prepayments, financial liabilities included
in trade and other payables and a bank loan approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation
is reviewed and approved by the management of the
Company. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise a
bank loan, and cash and bank balances. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as financial assets included in
trade and other receivables and prepayments, financial
liabilities included in trade and other payables and lease
liabilities, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group monitors its interest rate exposure regularly
to ensure that the underlying risk is monitored within
an acceptable range. The Group’s interest rate risk
arises primarily from the Group’s cash and bank
balances and a bank loan. The Group is not exposed
to significant interest rate risk for cash and bank
balances because the interest rates of cash at banks
are not expected to change significantly.

30.

BERBEEEERREK

AEBENEIEZEMTABRRERITE
BARBERRITESR - ZFE R
TANTIEENERERASENEE
E5Er - ASKEEAZREMBER
BENBE WFAAEZRHME
WHREBERENRENESBEE &
ANBZLREMENREAMEBERE
MERBE NERKEEE -

AEESRTAMELANTIEAR
%ﬂTﬂ HNEREER - EERE
EnBEcRAR EF@mIR
Hwﬁ%ﬂﬁxﬁmﬁﬁﬁ B
B EH N T e

(@) FERmEMR

AEBEHEREN AR
FEORAERA R R B X R IR X 8B o

AEENNEEREIEELR
REBNRE NIRTTE LR
TER - AEERAZKER
ERRITERNE RN XA R
EHRBITREOHMNEREFD
SERAREERE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 30. ¥ EAKBEEEEZREE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (continued) (a) FI=p= B (&)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) F=EAHRR
The following table details the interest rate TRFERBMEHR - K
profile of the Group’s net interest-bearing SEEemBEG@EIF
financial liabilities (being interest-bearing financial EeRBERTEEE -
liabilities less interest-bearing assets, bank RITHERARRE RRIT
deposits, and cash and bank balances) at the HEER)FEMF RN AW
end of the reporting period. E1E o
2022 2021
20225 20215
Effective interest rate Effective interest rate
ERAE ERM=%
RMB’000 % RMB'000
ARETR % ARETE
Bank loan RITER - - 5.05 7,000
Less: deposits with banks W ROER 0.01-4.90 (214,885)  0.01-1.15 (203,723)
Total net interest-bearing liabilities % 3t 5 & & /%4 (214,885) (196,729)
Note: As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s borrowing MisE: & Z=2021F12A318 -
was arranged on a variable rate basis of Loan AEEBERHRTZE
Prime Rate+0.395% and was denominated in RMB. M=(E R EBEF X
+0.395%) % BE - 0 BA
ARBEEHE -

236 Everbright Grand China Assets Limited o % Ak k& HR A H



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Interest rate risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s
profit before tax by approximately RMB2,149,000
(2021: increase/decrease the Group’s profit
before tax by approximately RMB1,967,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
before tax that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to
floating rate non-derivative instruments which
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest
rates.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China
with most of the transactions settled in RMB. The
Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk primarily
stems from holdings of cash and bank balances
denominated in HK$. The Group does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposures regularly and considers no significant
exposure to foreign exchange risk.

30. EEKEREBSERBEK(E)

(a) FEmEb(HE)
(i) BREDSH

2022512 A31H + 8 &t
M= IR T 100
EE2 mMAAEME
ERETE Al
&= @ & B oaT A M
B & A R 2,149,000
T (20214F : AN & B Ay B Bl
FEE I, RN R
1,967,0007T) °

ERGERESMELAE
BRI A BAIREELZ
BiAs &8 BRI RE
FRBERRDELELE
I RN FB A KR IENTE
TEHAKEMELEZR
ERAMERR  HHAE
% 7% A M B O 52 R A R
EPHHMNETHBWAE
ERF(CF EIEMET -

(b) SM%RE B

AEEETZETEAMEER
B RBAIRGUAAREEE -
AREBAZHINER R EBK
BRFFABTENRE LR
THS - AEBELEFERITE
TR TAHPEIIERR - K
5 1B E B AT H SN i O 3 R
A E|EARINEE B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the HK$ exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before
tax and retained profits.

Hong Kong dollars & TT

30. KEKEEEERBE(E)

(b)

S B (4D

TRIITNRBEEHR AEHE
758 A I B K 4R R R B 4 B T RE
FHAAEAREEFMAA H

e
2022 2021
2022F 2021

Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) profit before (decrease)  profit before
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange retained exchange retained
rate profits rate profits
HHEANER 5 A ME R
EXt#/ REAEY QS VNI [
(TR e (FR) 2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFT
5% 4,410 5% 4,470
(5)% (4,410) (5)% (4,470)

The above analysis assumes the change in foreign
exchange rate had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to each of the
group entities’ exposure to currency risk in existence
at that date while all other variables remain constant.
The stated changes also represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rate until the next annual reporting period.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
I # AR & (#8)

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 30. ¥ EAKEEEEZREE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (c) EERK

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables and cash and bank
balances. Trade and other receivables mainly arise
from the Group’s revenue from the rental and property
management business.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate, and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 19%

AEENEERRIEZFREARN
B REMEBRKIEARRE K
RITHER - EH K E MK
REIZELAAAKENEE R
MEEBERBMES

AEENEERBETESS

FPRERFHEMIETAESE Fﬁ)&’i
TESIBERNTE AREK
FESETRRBREITERAEEY
R EFEEERNRREEE
PN =l 19%(2021¢
20%) &57% (2021¢ 52%) &

(2021: 20%) and 57% (2021: 52%) of the trade and 2 K E A FE W FKIE 5 Rl B FE K
other receivables were due from the Group’s largest $§%lﬂij§%}5&£ﬁ%)§ ¢
customer and the five largest customers, respectively. KIE °

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract such as a default or past
due event;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

To manage credit risk arising from debtors, the
credit quality of the debtors is assessed, taking into
account their financial position, historical settlement
records, past experience and other factors. The
Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use
of lifetime expected loss provision for all debtors. The
ECLs also incorporate forward-looking information.

ERL-HARZHHAETREE
B ARKREREETHNEE
MEMR eRMEELREE
BE - 2MEEFEERENSE

BEEBEATEHNR BREE:

—BEBAHRERMHREE:

—ERAK MENZEBE
ox

— EBARAEKESETH
B EE e

AEEBKAEENEERE -
E%F%%Am%%%ﬁ\@

THELE  BELBRRHEA
I%%Hﬁ%AWEQE%O
AEBRBBERBEEH
7 i 45 ZE Al ) B o5 28 TE A 78 B
EEEBBELRE  EFYEM
EEBAFERE B EIEE
H- FEHEEBSERKEESH
EMEER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

The Group has established a policy to perform an
assessment of whether a financial instrument’s
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, by considering the change in the risk
of default occurring over the remaining life of the
financial instrument. The Group classifies its other
receivables into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as
described below:

Stage 1 When other receivables are first
recognised, the Group recognised an
allowance based on 12-month ECLs.

Stage 2 When other receivables have shown
a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the Group records an
allowance for the lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 When other receivables are considered
credit-impaired, the Group records an
allowance for the lifetime ECLs.

Management also makes periodic collective
assessments for other receivables as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience and other factors.

All deposits with banks with a maturity period over
three months and cash and cash equivalents were
deposited with creditworthy financial institutions
without significant credit risk.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 30. ¥ EAKEEEEZREE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued) (c) EERMK(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BAEBRERKER
The tables below show the credit quality and the TREINEREAEBFEEBXR
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the (EDEZEERBHER B
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past FEMERBENETILER
due information unless other information is available KAXGHEI A MF)HNEE
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging BEREEEANRRE  UAER
classification as at 31 December. The amounts 12A3BMERBEEE - 2
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial JIMER I AEMEENKRE
assets. ®iE o
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12831H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

12BR%H
EEER 2HRBEERS

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

E-KE8 E-KEg E-K& LA @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR%Tn ARETn AR¥Tn ARETx

Trade receivables* EHRINIE - - - 6,472 6,472
Financial assets included in other 51 A £ 4 & Ui 38 R

recelvables and prepayments ~ ENFENLBEE

- Normal** - EF™ 1,806 - - - 1,806

Cash and bank balances BeRBTkEH
- Not yet past due - HABH 214,908 - - - 214,908
216,714 - - 6,472 223,186
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

30. KEKEEEERBE(E)

(c) FERRE)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging BABEBRFEREEER(E)
(continued)
At 31 December 2021 7K2021%F12 H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12EARH
FEBE FHRBEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-B& FRER E-B& BiE @i
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARETT  ARET:R
Trade receivables* B AR E - - - 2,954 2,954
Financial assets included in other A Eft U FA Kk 78 i 20
receivables and prepayments ~ EHIEREE
- Normal** - " 848 - - - 848
Cash and bank balances ReRRTES
- Not yet past due - WRBH 203,770 - - - 203,770
204618 - - 2,954 207,572

>k

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 17 to the
financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
other receivables and prepayments is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the respective parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

For subsidiaries with statutory liquidity requirements,
the Group monitors closely their liquidity position.
To ensure strict compliance, the Group maintains
adequate cash reserves to prepare for immediate fund
injection if required. If there is a medium-to-long term
operation need, management would also consider
adjusting those subsidiaries’ capital structure.
Subsidiaries with external equity stakeholders
are generally responsible for their own liquidity
management.

30.

(d)

BHEBEERRERBEE)

REBESERE

il
ft

/

AEEANBLEEERARS
BEEMALEE BRAESA
HEEHIRE RBERENEY
Be®f HEERBEBESE
BREKRFE - AIBAEERRRE
FeHE AEENERR/TE
HERERPESFTREER
RaEMaRE  AEREFT
RHREREEANIZSRHEE
RERANAZEERE - A
mEEEHERENNRSE

EHEK -

BREBEERDE S BERN
MEBRR  AEBESEYER
HRBE S MM - R EAE
B AEERFBERREH
B UNEEFTERILAEE -
WEFROGEFE EHE
NEERRAEZEZHE LR
BARGRE - RBINEBIAER =&
HEENHRBARBEARER
BEFNRPHESER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3

243



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 30. ¥ EAKBEEEEZREE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) RBESRERGE)

2022
2022%
Total
contractual More than More than
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year 1yearbut  2years but

amount  cash flows orondemand within 2 years within 5 years
AEREH  MERT 154 2K

REfE REREER REX EPET {B5% i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR®Tr AR%TR  ARETn  ARET:n

Financial liabilities included in trade ~ sFAZ 3R E (3B H

and other payables SREE 5,366 5,366 5,366 = =
Lease liabilities HERE 2,589 2,648 1,222 1,222 204
7,955 8,014 6,588 1,222 204
2021
2015
Total
contractual More than More than

Carrying  undiscounted ~ Within 1 year 1 year but 2 years hut
amount cashflows  orondemand  within 2 years  within 5 years
RAERAN  MERY 5% 25k

RAE HEn2ER BEX B2 {55 R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTT  ARETR ARETn ARETR  AR%Tx

Financial liabilities included intrade 3 AZ 3R E Mt E( 3EH

and other payables $BER 8,354 8,354 8,354 = =
Bank loan ROER 7,000 7175 7175 - -
Lease liahilties HEER 3470 3,582 1,159 1118 1,305
18,824 19,111 16,688 1,118 1,305
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
I # AR & (#8)

31 December 2022 2022512 H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

30. EEKEREBSERBEK(E)

EXER

(e) Capital management (e)

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital
are to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis and considers the cost of capital
and the associated risks. The Group will balance its
overall capital structure through payment of dividends,
new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debts. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its
debt position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain
the Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total
liabilities over its total assets. The gearing ratio as at
31 December 2022 was 18% (2021: 19%).

The Company was not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

AEBEREANIEENR
RS TR 2 B A A LE A S35
AU RARAEEFAELLEN

INa
AE °

AEBRELBERANESHE
BEAEBWELFAE - K&
ErHmgEr Bt EgE
KA K AR B R B o AN & B G
BRABREIMN RBEITUAR
FEBROHIEBEREEESK TG
HEREKRERE - HE2022F
N2021F12A831H IE F € B
2 BERIEFREED -

AEBREZHBEHBMRRNERE
Ko REEMNKRBEERIZTAE
BEEAGBELXEIAERR
BEBRANBEE) - RN2022%F
12A31EMEARBEL X R18%
(20214 : 19%) °

NN T B B20224F 20214512

B318 L 4 [ 15 4% 5 55 56 10
EARBL -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 3

245



246

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 e B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

31. RAT M BHAMR &K

COMPANY
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y 472 502
Right-of-use assets EREEE 2,593 3,468
Interests in subsidiaries SN £ 635,752 111,461
638,817 115,431
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W B B A B 3R 113,840 122,890
Other receivables and prepayments  H ftb /& U 5118 |
TE 3R IE 814 683
Cash and bank balances e K& IRTT & &k 119,374 120,956
234,028 244,529
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Amount due to a subsidiary JE 1< Bt B A B 5K 18 163 179
Other payables H Ath FE T 5RIR 2,618 2,303
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,181 1,100
3,962 3,582
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 230,066 240,947
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT (¥ E#ZEBERBABER
LIABILITIES 868,883 356,378
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Lease liabilities HERE 1,408 2,370
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE - 134
1,408 2,504
NET ASSETS EEFH 867,475 353,874
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARAREHE
Share capital fi% 2 345,042 345,042
Reserves (note) &8 8 (B 53) 522,433 8,832
TOTAL EQUITY ERARHE 867,475 353,874
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R 2 b B ()

31 December 2022 2022412 531 H

31.

32.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

31.

AT B RO & (&)

Note: B 5
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AABHFEEREZNT
Retained
profits/
Share Capital Exchange (accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses) Total
RExA/
RHEE EXRfE Eifie  (RTEB) @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  AR®Tr  ARETz  AR%Tn  ARETx
At 1 January 2021 Ro021%1A1R 45,063 10311 (58,306) 39,649 36,717
Profit for the year ERFE - - - 1,519 1,519
Other comprehensive expense for the year: EREMZERY:
Exchange differences on translation of financial BERBRENELZE
statements - - (10,512) - (10,512)
Special dividend paid kD - - - (6,621) 6,621)
Final 2020 dividend 20K HRE - - - 8475 8475)
Interim 2021 dividend 15 BRE - - - (3.796) (3.79)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 20215124318 k20221 A1R 45,063 10,311 (68,818) 22,276 8,832
Loss for the year FREE - - - (28,458) (28,458)
Qther comprehensive income for the year: FREMZENE:
Exchange differences on translation of financial BERBRENELZE
statements - - 17,349 - 17,349
Final 2021 dividend NNERBRE - = = (4,370) (4,370)
Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control Y ER — 24 T&K BAE - 529,080 - - 529,080
At 31 December 2022 R202212 A31H 45,063 539,391 (51,469) (10,552) 522,433
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 32. MAEMKHRRE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2023.

EE2 e N2023FE3A28H H o M IR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 — (Expressed in RMB) & £2022412 A31H

EFE — (AAREIITR)

A summary of the result and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
published audited financial statements is set out below:

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

AEEEERLBAMBRFENREARE
ENBBEIHMEE R MEKEZITE®
RV RRHERLT

RERE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
VOO RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
INL- B\ R T ARETT ARBTT ARETIT
Revenue o 2= 52,297 52,678 51,734 71,274 61,742
Profit before tax IR D 28,804 43,642 45,699 54,049 53,269
Income tax expense B BR % (6,751) (10,969) (11,717) (16,768) (16,715)
Profit for the year AEEFE 22,053 32,673 33,982 37,281 36,554
Attributable to: IATALRES:

Owners of the Company ARAEBA 22,053 32,673 33,982 37,281 36,554

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES REEEREE

At 31 December

M12A318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022F 20214 20204 20194 20184
VOGN RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
INGL- Bl A\ KT ARETT ARBTLT AR®TIT
Total assets BEE 1,181,261 1,167,744 1,163,761 1,145401 1,109,498
Total liabilities rafm (215,973)  (227,013)  (229,118)  (225,455)  (230,443)
Net assets FEE 965,288 940,731 934,643 919,946 879,055

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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